NEW [SSUE—BOOK-ENTRY ONLY RATING: S&P: “AA” (Insured)
Moody’s: A3 (Stable Outlook) (Underlying)
(See Rating Herein)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing starutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, interest on the Bonds will not be includible in the gross income of
the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes, assuming continuing compliance by the Authority and College with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended. Interest on the Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes of computing the federal aliernative minimum tax on individuals. Under
laws of the Commomyealth of Pennsylvania, as enacted and construed on the date hereof, interest on the Bonds is exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and
Pennsylvania corporate net income tax, and the Bonds are exempt from personal property taxes in Pennsylvania. See “TAX MATTERS" herein.

$18,920,000
STATE PUBLIC SCHOOL BUILDING AUTHORITY
(Commonwealth of Pennsylvania)
College Revenue Bonds (Community College of Allegheny County Project), Series of 2020

Dated: Date of Delivery Principal Due: March 1, as shown on inside cover
Interest Due: March 1 and September 1 First Interest Payment: September 1, 2020

The $18,920,000 College Revenue Bonds (Community College of Allegheny County Project), Series of 2020 (the “Bonds™) will be fully registered bonds and,
when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC™), which will act as securities
deposilory for the Bonds. Purchasers of the Bonds will not receive certificates representing their ownership interest in the Bonds. So long as Cede & Co. is the registered
owner, as nominee of DTC, references herein to “Owner,” “Registered Owner,” or “Bondholders” shall mean Cede & Co_, as aforesaid and shall not mean beneficial
owners of the Bonds. Beneficial ownership in the Bonds may be acquired in denominations of $5,000 or multiples thereof, only under the book-entry-only system
maintained by DTC, as more fully described herein.

Principal of, premium, if any and interest on the Bonds will be paid by U.S. Bank National Association, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, as trustee (the “Trustee™). So long
as DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the registered owner, such payments will be made directly to Cede & Co. Disbursements of such payments to the DTC Participants
Is the responsibility of DTC and disbursements of such payments to the beneficial owners is the respousibility of DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more
fully described herein. Interest on the Bonds will be payable commencing on September 1, 2020, and semiannually thereafter on March 1 and September 1 of each year
{each, an “Interest Payment Date”) by check mailed to the registered Bondholders as of the ¢close of business on the applicable record date preceding each Interest Payment
Date until the principal sum thereof is paid.

The Bonds will be issued by the State Public School Building Authority (the “Authority”) and will be secured by a Trust Indenture dated as of the date of delivery
of the Bonds (the “Indenture”) between the Authority and the Trustee. The Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, payable solely from the payments to be made
by the Community College of Allegheny County (the “College”} under a Loan Agreement dated as of the date of delivery of the Bonds {the “Loan Agreement”) between
the Authority and the College.

Proceeds of the Bonds will be used for: (1) providing funds for the acquisition, design, construction and furnishing and any other expenses related to the building of
the new Allegheny Workforce Training Center, Phase Two and (2) to pay the costs of issuing and insuring the Bonds.

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY. NEITHER THE PRINCIPAL
OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF THE BONDS, NORTHE INTEREST THEREON, SHALL CONSTITUTE
A GENERAL INDEBTEDNESS OF THE AUTHORITY OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF WITHIN
THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION WHATSOEVER;
CONSTITUTE A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDIT OF THE AUTHORITY OR THE
GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA OR
ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF; OR BE DEEMED TO BE A GENERAL OBLIGATION
OF THE AUTHORITY OR OBLIGATION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA OR ANY
POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER.

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be guaranteed under an insurance policy to be issued concurrently with the delivery
of the Bonds by Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM™).
oY
.2 BAM

MATURITIES, AMOUNTS, RATES AND PRICES/YIELDS
See Inside Front Cover

The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued by the Authority and recerved by the Underwriter and subject to the approving legal opinion of Eckert
Seamans Cherin & Mellott, LLC of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, Bond Counsel, appointed by the Office of General Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for
the Authority by its counsel, Barley Snyder LLP, Lancaster, Pennsylvania, for the College by its eounsel, Andrew F. Szefl, Esquire, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and for the
Underwriter by its counsel Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. PFM Financial Advisors LL.C, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, serves as Financial Advisor to
the Authority. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through DTC, on or about June 29, 2020.
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Official Statement Dated: June 2, 2020



$18,920,000
STATE PUBLIC SCHOOL BUILDING AUTHORITY

(Commonwealth of Pennsylvania)
College Revenue Bonds (Community College of Allegheny County Project)

Series of 2020
Dated: Date of Delivery Principal Due: March 1, as shown on below
Interest Due: March 1 and September 1 First Interest Payment; September 1, 2020
Maturity Date Principal Interest CUSIP

(March 1) Amount Rate Yield Price Numbers!)
2021 $910.000 3.000% 0.700% 101.539% 85732M483
2022 655,000 4.000 0.740 105.407 85732M4T1
2023 680,000 4.000 0.810 108.415 85732M4U8
2024 710,000 5.000 0.910 114.736 85732M4Vé
2025 745,000 5.000 1.010 118.162 85732M4W4
2026 785,000 5.000 1.150 121.080 85732M4X2
2027 820,000 5.000 1.290 123.643 85732M4Y0
2028 865,000 5.000 1.400 126.099 85732M427
2029 905,000 5.000 1.500 128.359 85732M5A1
2030 950,000 5.000 1.630 130.040 85732M5B9
2031 995,000 5.000 1,720 129.109 85732M5C7
2032 1,050,000 5.000 1.820 128.083 85732M5D5
2033 1,100,000 5.000 1.920 127.067 85732M5E3
2034 1,155,000 5.000 1.980 126.461 85732M5F0
2035 1,215,000 4.000 2250 115.132 85732M5G8
2036 1,265,000 4.000 2.290 114.757 85732M5H6
2037 1,320,000 4.000 2.340 114.291 85732M5]2
2038 1,370,000 4.000 2.380 113.920 85732M5K9
2039 1,425,000 4.000 2.420 113.549 85732M5L7

The above CUSIP (Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures) numbers have been assigned by an organization not affiliated with
the Authority or the Underwriter, and such parties are not responsible for the selection or use of the CUSIP numbers. The CUSIP numbers are
included solely for the convenience of bondholders and no representation is made as to the correctness of such CUSIP numbers. CUSIP numbers
assigned to securities may be changed during the term of such securities based on a number of factors including, but not limited to, the refunding or
defeasance of such issue or the use of secondary market financial products. Neither the Authority nor the Underwriter has agreed to, and there is no
duty or obligation to, update this Official Statement to reflect any change or correction in the CUSIP numbers set forth above.



No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Authority, the College or the Underwriter to give any information
or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement and if given or made, such other information or representations
must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of any offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of, the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to
make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein has been obtained from the College and other sources which are believed to be
reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation of, the Underwriter or the Authority
or, as to information from other sources, by the College. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been
no change in the affairs of the Authority or the College or with respect to other matters sets forth herein since the date hereof.

The Bonds are not and will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under any state securities laws, and the
Indenture has not been and will not be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 because of available exemptions therefrom. Neither the
Securities and Exchange Commission nor any federal, state, municipal or other governmental agency will pass upon the accuracy, completeness or

adequacy of this Official Statement.

Build America Mutual (“BAM”) makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds. In addition,
BAM has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding. and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of
this Official Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the
information regarding BAM, supplied by BAM and presented under the heading “Bond Insurance” and “Appendix C Specimen Bond Insurance
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$18,920,000
STATE PUBLIC SCHOOL BUILDING AUTHORITY

(Commonwealth of Pennsylvania)
College Revenue Bonds (Community College of Allegheny County Project), Series of 2020

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement which includes the cover page hereof and the Appendices hereto, provides certain information relating to the
$18,920,000 aggregate principal amount of the State Public School Building Authority College Revenue Bonds (Community College of
Allegheny County Project), Series of 2020 (the “Bonds™). The Bonds are being issued by the State Public School Building Authority (the
“Authority™) pursuant to the State Public School Building Authority Act of 1947, P.L. 1217, as supplemented and amended (the “Act™) and a
resolution duly adopted by the Authority on March 5, 2020 (the “Resolution™), and are secured by a Trust Indenture dated as of the date of
delivery of the Bonds (the “Indenture”), entered into by the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (the “Trustee™).

The Autherity is a body corporate and politic created in 1947 by the Act. Under the Act, the Authority is constituted a public
corporation and governmental instrumentality, having perpetual existence, for the purpose of acquiring, financing, refinancing, constructing,
improving, maintaining and operating public school and educational broadcasting facilities, and furnishing and equipping the same for use as
part of the public school system of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commonwealth™) under the jurisdiction of the Pennsylvania
Department of Education (the “Department of Education™). Under the Act and Article XIX-A of the Public School Code, Act of July 1, 1985,
P.L. 103, No. 31, Section 1 et seq., as amended (the “Community College Act”) the Authority also has for its purpose the acquiring, financing,
refinancing, construction, improvement, furnishing, equipping, maintenance and operation of community college buildings.

The Community College of Allegheny County (the “College™) is a communily college offering more than 170 programs. See

“Community College of Allegheny County’ herein for certain additional information concerning the College.

PURPOSE OF THE BOND ISSUE

Proceeds of the Bonds will be used for: (1) providing funds for the acquisition, design, construction and furnishing and any other
expenses related to the building of the new Allegheny Workforce Training Center, Phase Two (the “Training Center Project™) and (2) to pay the
costs of issuing and insuring the Bonds (the “Project™). See “COMMUNITY COLLEGE FUNDING STRUCTURE — Pennsylvania Department
of Education Approval™ herein for a more detailed description of the Training Center Project.

Additional Information. To assist investors with complying with the Federal Home Loan Bank collateral regulations, the College
presently contemplates that approximately 100% of the proceeds of the Series of 2020 Bonds will be used to finance or refinance the
acquisition, development, and/or improvement of real property.

Sources and Uses of Bond Proceeds

The following is a summary of the sources and uses of the proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds.

SOURCE OF FUNDS Total

PAT ATIOUNE 1.\ ovoevveinse e s e s st snsss s sensssssassasseras s ensscsesssnsanssnsssnsns $18,920,000.00

Original 18SUe PIEMIUM .......ocovivieiiceeeeeeceeee et ee e ee et ee e evenaees 3,604,527.05
Total Sources of FUNAS ...t e $22,524,527.05

USE OF FUNDS

Deposit 10 Project FUNG .......c.o.ovoouieieeeceeececeeecee et $22,201,486.30

Cost OF ISSUANCEM.....viiiieiiier ettt 323,040.75
Total TSes OF FUNAS .....oveiveviereeceeee et et iee s st see s snassssaanaran $22,524,527.05

MIncludes legal, financial advisor, printing, rating, total bond discount, municipal bond insurance premium, trustee and miscellaneous costs.



THE AUTHORITY

The Authority and the Pennsylvania Higher Educational Facilities Authority (PHEFA), (together, the “Authorities™) share an
executive, fiscal and administrative staff, and operate under a joint administrative budget. The Authority serves as a conduit issuer for school
districts, community colleges and technical schools and intermediate units in the Commonwealth and has issued, and will continue to issue,
multiple series of bonds to finance various projects. Each such series of bonds is or will be secured by instruments and collateral separate and
apart from other series, including the Bonds.

Under the Act, the Authority Board consists of the Governor of the Commonwealth, the State Treasurer, the Auditor General, the
Secretary of Education, the Secretary of the Department of General Services, the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, the Speaker of the House
of Representatives, the Minority Leader of the Senate and the Minority Leader of the House of Representatives. The President Pro Tempore of
the Senate, the Minority Leader of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the Minority Leader of the House of
Representatives may designate any member of his or her legislative body to act as a member of the Authority in his or her stead. The members
of the Authority serve without compensation but are entitled to reimbursement for all necessary expenses incurred in connection with the
performance of their duties as members. The powers of the Authority are exercised by a governing body consisting of the members of the
Authority acting as a board.

The Bonds are being issued by the Authority on behalf of the College pursuant to the Act, the Indenture and the Resolution. The
Authority has and will continue to issue bonds/notes for other eligible institutions and projects in the Commonwealth. None of the revenues of
the Authority pledged to payment of the Bonds will be pledged to the payment of any other of its bonds/notes.

The following are key staff members of the Authority who are involved in the administration of the financing and projects:

Eric Gutshall
Executive Director

Mr. Gutshall was appointed by Governor Wolf as Executive Director of the Authority and PHEFA on December 9, 2019. He
previously served as Governor Wolf’s Secrctary of Intergovernmental Affairs and as Director of Constituent Services. He obtained his
Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration from Central Pennsylvania College and his Master of Public Administration from the
University of Pennsylvania.

Beverly M. Nawa
Director of Operations

Ms. Nawa serves as the Director of Operations of both the Authority and PHEFA. She has been with the Authorities since 2004. She
served as Acting Executive Director from October 2018 to December 2019. Ms. Nawa is a graduate of Alvernia University with a bachelor’s
degree in business administration.

David Player
Comptroller and Director of Financial Management

Mr. Player serves as the Comptroller and Director of Financial Management of both the Authority and PHEFA. He has been with the
Authorities since 1999. Mr. Player is a graduate of The Pennsylvania State University and a Certified Public Accountant.

THE BONDS
Description of the Bonds

The Bonds are being issued by the Authority on behalf of the College.

The Bonds will be dated the date of delivery thereof, and will bear interest from such date at the rates set forth on the inside front
cover page hereof, payable semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year (each, an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing September
1, 2020 (until maturity or prior redemption), and will mature on the dates and in the amounts set forth on the inside front cover page hereof.
The Bonds when issued will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as a nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
(“DTC™). DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. While the Bonds are in the Book-Entry-Only System, references to the “owner”
or the “registered owner™ as described herein are to Cede & Co., as registered owner for DTC. Each beneficial owner of a Bond may desire to
make arrangements with a DTC Participant to receive notices or communications with respect to matters described herein. See “Book-Entry-
Only System” herein.



The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in denominations of 85,000 or any multiple thereof. While all of the Bonds are held
in Book-Entry-Only form, payments thereon shall be made to Cede & Co., as holder thereof. See “Book-Entry-Only System” herein. At all
other times, the principal of the Bonds, and the premium, if any, payable upon redemption, are payable at the designated corporate trust office of
the Trustee, and the interest thereon is payable by c¢heck mailed by the Trustee on each Interest Payment Date to the persons who were the
registered owners of the Bonds on the registration books maintained by the Trustee, at the close of business on the fifteenth (15%) day (whether
or not a business day) next preceding each Interest Payment Date (a “Record Date™), irrespective of any transfer or exchange of any Bond
subsequent to such regular record date and prior to such interest payment date, unless the Authority defaults in the payment of interest due on
such Interest Payment Date. In the event of any such default, any defaulted interest will be payable to the person in whose name such Bond is
registered at the close of business on a special record date for the payment of such defaulted interest established by notice mailed by the Trustee
to the registered owners of the Bonds not fewer than fifteen (135) business days preceding such special record date.

The Bonds may be transferred or exchanged by the registered owner thereof only upon presentation thereof to the Trustee,
accompanied by a duly executed instrument of transfer by the registered owner thereof or his authorized representative, and, in the case of a
transfer, containing written instructions as to the details of such transfer. Neither the Authority nor the Trustee will be required to issue,
exchange or transfer any of the Bonds during the fifteen (15) days preceding the mailing of any notice of redemption of Bonds or to transfer any
of the Bonds selected for redemption in whole or in part. The person in whose name any Bond is registered shall be deemed the owner thercof
by the Authority and the Trustee, and any notice 1o the contrary shall not be binding upon the Authority or the Trustee.

No service charge will be made 1o the Bondholders of the Bonds for any exchange or transfer, but the Authority may require payment
of a sum sufficient to pay any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto. In the event any Bond is mutilated,
lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority may execute and the Trustee may authenticate a new Bond of like tenor and denomination in accordance
with the provisions of the Indenture, and the Authority and the Trustee may charge the registered owner of such Bond with its reasonable fees
and expenses and require indemnity in connection therewith.

Use of Proceeds

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (as hereinafter defined), the Authority will lend the proceeds of the bonds to the College, which will
use such proceeds as more fully described herein under “PURPOSE OF THE BOND ISSUE™.

Transfer, Exchange and Registration of Bonds

Each Bond is transferable by the registered owner thereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing or legal
representative at the office of the Trustee in Piftsburgh, Pennsylvania, or such other offices as may be designated by the Trustee, but only in the
manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of charges provided by the Indenture, and upon surrender and cancellation of such Bond
accompanied by a duly executed instrument of transfer in form and with guarantee of signature satistactory to the Trustee. Upon such transfer, a
new Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and of authorized denomination or denominations, for the same aggregate principal amount and
bearing the same rate of interest, will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor at the earliest practicable time. In like manner each Bond
may be exchanged by the registered owner or by his duly authorized attorney or other Jegal representative for Bonds of the same maturity and of
authorized denomination or denominations in the same aggregate principal amount and bearing the same rate of interest. Any such transfer or
exchange as described herein shall be made without charge, except for the payment of any taxes or other governmental charges relating thereto.
No exchange or transfer shall be required to be made (i) between the Record Date and the related Interest Payment Date, (i) during a period
beginning at the opening of business (15) days before the date of the mailing notice of redemption of Bonds selected for redemption and ending
at the close of business on the day of such mailing, or (iii) for any Bonds so selected for redemption in whole or in part. The Authority, the
Trustee and any paying agent of the Authority may treat and consider the person in whose name a Bond is registered as the absolute owner
thereof for the purpose for receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or redemption price thereof and the interest due thereon and for
all other purposes whatsoever.

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

Portions of the following information concerning The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and DTC's book-entry-only system have
been obtained from DTC. The Authority (sometimes herein referred to as the “Issuer™), the College, the Financial Advisor, and the Underwriter
make no representation as to the accuracy of such information.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds (the "Securities"). The Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC. One fully-registered Sccurity certificate will be issued for the Securities, in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be
deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
"banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System. a "clearing corporation”
within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants™)
deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in
deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates
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the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers,
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust &
Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system
is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that
clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has a
Standard & Poor's rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the
Securities on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Security ("Beneficial Owner™) is in turn to be recorded on
the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial
Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership
interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Securities, except in the event that use of the
book-entry system for the Securities is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities
with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC
has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Securities: DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose
accounts such Securities arc credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain
responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and
by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to take certain steps to augment the
transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed
amendments to the Security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the
Sccurities for their benefit bas agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to
provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Securities unless authorized by a
Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as
possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose
accounts Securities are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal, interest and redemption payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by
an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding
detail information from Issuer or Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the
accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or
Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, interest and redemption
payments on the Bonds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility
of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments
to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Securities purchased or tendered, through its Participant, to Trustee, and shall
effect delivery of such Securities by causing the Direct Participant to transfer the Participant's interest in the Securities, on DTC's records, to
Trustee. The requirement for physical delivery of Securities in connection with an optional tender or a mandatory purchase will be deemed
satisfied when the ownership rights in the Securities are transferred by Direct Participants on DTC's records and followed by a book-entry credit
of tendered Securities to Trustee's DTC account.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by giving reasonable notice to
Issuer or Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be
printed and delivered.

Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository).
In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that Issuer believes to
be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

NEITHER THE AUTHORITY NOR THE TRUSTEE SHALL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO ANY
DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OR ANY OTHER PERSON NOT SHOWN ON THE REGISTRATION BOOKS OF
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THE TRUSTEE AS BEING A BONDHOLDER WITH RESPECT TO EITHER: (1) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED
BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (2) THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY
BENEFICIAL OWNER IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS; (3) THE
DELIVERY OR THE TIMELINESS OF ANY NOTICE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED
UNDER THE TERMS OT THE INDENTURE TO BE GIVEN TO THE OWNER OF THE BONDS:; OR (4) ANY CONSENT GIVEN OR
OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS BONDHOLDER.

Neither the Authority nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant with
respect to:

(i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, its nominee or any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant with respect to any beneficial
ownership interest in any Bonds;

(ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant or any other Person, other than the registered owner of a Bond, as
shown in the Bond Register, of any notice with respect to any Bond, including, without limitation, any notice of redemption;

(i) the selection by DTC or any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant of any person to receive payment in the event of a
partial redemption of Bonds;

(iv) the payment to any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant or any other Person other than the registered owner of a Bond, as
shown in the Bond Register, of any amount with respect to the principal of, redemption price, or interest on, any Bond; or

(v) any consent given by DTC as registered owner.

Prior 1o the discontinuation of the book-entry only system as described herein, the Authority and the Trustee may treat DTC and any
successor scourities depository to be the absolute owner of the Bonds for all purposes, including, without limitation:

(1) the payment of principal of redemption price or interest on the Bonds;
(ii) giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to the Bonds;
(i11) registering transfers with respect to the Bonds; and

(iv) the selection of Bonds for redemption.

The Beneficial Owners of the Bonds have no right to a securities depository for the Bonds. DTC or any successor securities
depository may resign as depository for the Bonds by giving notice to the Trustee and the Authority and discharging its responsibilities under
applicable law. In addition, the Authority, or the Authority at the request of the College, may remove DTC or a successor securities depository
for any reason at any time. In such event, the Authority shall: (i} appoint a securities depository qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, notify the prior securities depository of the appointment of such successor depository and transfer separate
bond certificates to such successor securities depository; or (ii) notify the securities depository of the availability through the securities
depository of bond certificates and transfer one or more separate bond certificates to Depository Participants having Bonds credited to their
accounts at the securities depository. In such event, such Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the registration books of the
Authority in the name of the securities depository or its nominee, but may be registered in the name of the successor securities depository or its
nominee, or in whatever name or names the Depository Participants receiving such Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of
the Indenture.

Discontinuance of Book-Entry Only System

The book-entry only system for registration of the ownership of the Bonds may be discontinued at any time if: (i) DTC determines to
resign as securities depository for the Bonds; or (ii) the Authority determines that continuation of the system of book-entry transfers through
DTC (or through a successor securities depository) is not in the best interests of the Beneficial Owners. In either such event (unless the
Authority appoints a successor securities depository), Bonds will then be delivered in registered certificate form to such persons, and in such
maturities and principal amounts, as may be designated by DTC, but without any liability on the part of the Authority or the Trustee for the
accuracy of such designation. Whenever DTC requests the Authority or the Trustee to do so, the Authority or the Trustee shall cooperate with
DTC in taking appropriate action after reasonable notice to arrange for another securities depository to maintain custody of certificates
evidencing the Bonds.

THE AUTHORITY, THE COLLEGE AND THE TRUSTEE CANNOT AND DO NOT GIVE ANY ASSURANCES THAT DTC,
THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS WILL DISTRIBUTE TO THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE
BONDS (I) PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS, (II) CERTIFICATES
REPRESENTING AN OWNERSHIP INTEREST OR OTHER CONFIRMATION OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE
BONDS, OR (III) REDEMPTION OR OTHER NOTICES SENT TO DTC OR CEDE & CO., ITS PARTNERSHIP NOMINEE, AS THE
REGISTERED OWNER OF THE BONDS, OR THAT THEY WILL DO SO ON A TIMELY BASIS OR THAT DTC, DIRECT
PARTICIPANTS OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS WILL SERVE AND ACT IN THE MANNER DESCRIBED IN THIS OFFICIAL
STATEMENT.



BOND INSURANCE

Bond Insurance Policy

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM™) will issue its Bond Insurance Policy
for the Bonds (the “Policy™). The Policy guarantees the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in
the form of the Policy included as Appendix C to this Official Statement.

The Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New York, California, Connecticut or Florida
insurance law.

Build America Mutual Assurance Company

BAM is a New York domiciled mutual insurance corporation and is licensed to conduct financial guaranty insurance business in all fifty
states of the United States and the District of Columbia. BAM provides credit enhancement products solely to issuers in the U.S. public finance
markets. BAM will only insure obligations of states, political subdivisions, integral parts of states or political subdivisions or entities otherwise
eligible for the exclusion of income under section 115 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. No member of BAM is liable
for the obligations of BAM. The address of the principal executive offices of BAM is: 200 Liberty Street, 27® Floor, New York, New York
10281, its telephone number is: 212-235-2500, and its website is located at: www.buildamerjca.com.

BAM is licensed and subject to regulation as a financial guaranty insurance corporation under the laws of the State of New York and in
particular Articles 41 and 69 of the New York Insurance Law.

BAM’s financial strength is rated “AA/Stable” by S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC
(“S&P”). An explanation of the significance of the rating and current reports may be obtained from S&P at www.standardandpoors.com. The
rating of BAM should be evaluated independently. The rating reflects the S&P’s current assessment of the creditworthiness of BAM and its
ability to pay claims on its policies of insurance. The above rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and such rating is
subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by S&P, including withdrawal initiated at the request of BAM in its sole discretion. Any
downward revision or withdrawal of the above rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. BAM only guarantees
scheduled principal and scheduled interest payments payable by the issuer of the Bonds on the date(s) when such amounts were initially
scheduled to become due and payable (subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Policy), and BAM does not guarantee the market price
or liquidity of the Bonds, nor does it guarantee that the rating on the Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn.

Capitalization of BAM

BAM’s total admitted assets, total liabilities, and total capital and surplus, as of March 31, 2020 and as prepared in accordance with
statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the New York State Department of Financial Services were $459.6 million, $126.1
million and $333.5 million, respectively.

BAM is party to a first loss reinsurance treaty that provides first loss protection up to a maximum of 15% of the par amount outstanding for
each policy issued by BAM, subject to certain limitations and restrictions.

BAM’s most recent Statutory Annual Statement, which has been filed with the New York State Insurance Department and posted on
BAM’s website at www.buildamerica.com, is incorporated herein by reference and may be obtained, without charge, upon request to BAM at
its address provided above (Attention: Finance Department), Future financial statements will similarly be made available when published.

BAM makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds. In addition, BAM has not independently
verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement
or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding
BAM, supplied by BAM and presented under the heading “MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE”.

Additional Information Available from BAM

Credit Insights Videos. For certain BAM-insured issues, BAM produces and posts a brief Credit Insights video that provides a discussion
of the obligor and some of the key factors BAM’s analysts and credit commitlee considered when approving the credit for insurance. The
Credit Insights videos are easily accessible on BAM's website at buildamerica.com/creditinsights/. (The preceding website address is provided
for convenience of reference only. Information available at such address is not incorporated herein by reference.)

Credit Profiles. Prior to the pricing of bonds that BAM has been selected to insure, BAM may prepare a pre-sale Credit Profile for those
bonds. These pre-sale Credit Profiles provide information about the sector designation (e.g. general obligation, sales tax); a preliminary
summary of financial information and key ratios; and demographic and economic data relevant to the obligor, if available. Subsequent to
closing, for any offering that includes bonds insured by BAM, any pre-sale Credit Profile will be updated and superseded by a final Credit
Profile to include information about the gross par insured by CUSIP, maturity and coupon. BAM pre-sale and final Credit Profiles are casily
accessible on BAM's website at buildamerica.com/obligor/. BAM will produce a Credit Profile for all bonds insured by BAM, whether or not a
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pre-sale Credit Profile has been prepared for such bonds. (The preceding website address is provided for convenience of reference only.
Information available at such address is not incorporated herein by reference.)

Disclaimers. The Credit Profiles and the Credit Insights videos and the information contained therein are not recommendations to
purchase, hold or sell securities or to make any investment decisions. Credit-related and other analyses and statements in the Credit Profiles and
the Credit Insights videos are statements of opinion as of the date expressed, and BAM assumes no responsibility to update the content of such
material. The Credit Profiles and Credit Insight videos are prepared by BAM; they have not been reviewed or approved by the issuer of or the
underwriter for the Bonds, and the issuer and underwriter assume no responsibility for their content.

BAM receives compensation (an insurance premium) for the insurance that it is providing with respect to the Bonds. Neither BAM nor any
affiliate of BAM has purchased, or committed to purchase, any of the Bonds, whether at the initial offering or otherwise.

REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS

Optional Redemption

The Bonds stated to mature on or after March 1, 2031, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the Authority at the
direction of the College, as a whole or, from time to time, in part, (and if in part, in such maturity or maturities as the College shall select for
redemption and within a maturity by lot), on March 1, 2030, or on any date thereafter, upon payment of a redemption price of 100% of the
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. If less than all Bonds of any maturity are to be redeemed, the
Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot by the Trustee.

Extraordinary Optional Redemption

The Bonds are subject to extraordinary redemption prior to maturity, in whole or from time to time in part, in any order of maturity
and in any principal amount within a maturity designated by the College and drawn by lot, on any date, upon payment of a redemption price
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, but only in the event
that all or a portion of the College Facilities (as defined in the Indenture) financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds are condemned
or sold under threat of condemnation, damaged or destroyed and it is determined by the College that repair or reconstruction is not desirable,
practical or financially feasible, from and to the extent of insurance proceeds, condemnation awards, or proceeds of sale in lieu of condemnation
payable to the College and deposited for such purposes with the Trustee.

Notice of Redemption

Notice of any redemption shall be given by depositing a copy of the redemption notice by first class mail not more than sixty (60)
days and not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption addressed to each of the registered owners of Bonds to be
redeemed, in whole or in part at the addresses shown on the registration books; provided, however, that failure to give such notice by mailing, or
any defect therein or in the mailing thereof shall not affect the validity of any proceeding for redemption of other Bonds called for redemption
as to which proper notice has been given.

On the date designated for redemption, notice having been provided as aforesaid, and money for payment of the principal and accrued
interest being held by the Trustee, interest on the Bonds and portions thercof so called for redemption shall cease to accrue and such Bonds or
portions thereof shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Indenture, and registered owners of such Bonds or portions thereof
so called for redemption shall have no rights with respect to such Bonds, except to receive payment of the principal of and accrued interest on
such Bonds to the date fixed for redemption.

No further interest shall accrue on any Bond called for redemption after the redemption date if payment of the redemption price has
been duly provided for and the Owners of such Bonds shall have no rights except payment of the redemption price and the unpaid interest
accrued on such Bonds to the date fixed for redemption.

If at the time of mailing of any notice of redemption the Authority shall not have deposited with the Trustee monies sufficient to
redeem all the Bonds called for redemption, such notice shall state that it is subject to the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Trustee not
later than the opening of business on the redemption date and shall be of no effect unless such monies are so deposited. If such monies are not
deposited by such date and time, the Trustee shall promptly notify the Owners of all Bonds called for redemption of such fact.

Manner of Redemption

If 2 Bond is of a denomination larger than $5,000, a portion of such Bond may be redeemed. For the purposes of redemption, a Bond
shall be treated as representing that number of Bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount thereof by $5,000, each $5,000 portion
of such Bonds being subject to redemption. In the case of partial redemption of a Bond, payment of the redemption price shall be made only



upon surrender of such Bond in exchange for Bonds of authorized denominations in aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed
portion of the principal amount thereof.

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ON
THE COLLEGE’S DEBT

Security and Source of Payment

The Authority will enter into a Loan Agreement dated as of the date of delivery of the Bonds (the “Delivery Date™) (the “Loan
Agreement”) with the College pursuant to which the Authority will lend the proceeds of the Bonds to the College for the purpose of paying
costs of the Project. Under the Loan Agreement the College will agree to repay such loan in such amounts and at such times as will provide
sufficient funds to meet the debt service requirements on the Bonds. The College will deliver its general obligation note dated as of the Delivery
Date (the “Note”) to the Authority evidencing its payment obligations under the Loan Agreement.

The Bonds will be secured under the Indenture by the assignment and pledge to the Trusiee of the payments under the Note and the
Loan Agreement. The full faith and credit of the College has been pledged for the timely payment of all amounts due under the Note. The
payments due under the Note are payable from the College’s general revenues from whatever source derived, including local sponsor
contributions. {(See “Community College Funding Structure™). The College has no taxing power.

The Authority, at the time of settlement for the Bonds, will assign all its right (except the right to indemnification, the right to
payment of certain fees and expenses, if any, and the right to receive notices), title and interest in the Note and Loan Agreement and the
payments thereunder to the Trustee. The Bonds will be secured by and payable under the Indenture from the funds held by the Trustee and
payments made pursvant to the Note and Loan Agreement.

THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. NEITHER THE GENERAL CREDIT OF THE AUTHORITY NOR THE
CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA OR
ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IS PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL OF, OR THE INTEREST ON,
THE BONDS; NOR SHALL ANY OF THE BONDS BE DEEMED GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY OR
OBLIGATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA OR ANY
POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF.

Additional Bonds

The Authority may issue Additional Bonds (as defined and in accordance with the Indenture) on parity with the Bonds (other than
with respect to certain funds under the Indenture). In connection with the issuance of Additional Bonds, additional funds may be established
under the Indenture for the benefit of such additional series of bonds. In such event, the holders of the Bonds will have no claims or right to any
such funds. For a description of the conditions under which such Additional Bonds may be issued, sece “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE INDENTURE- The Indenture” herein.

COMMUNITY COLLEGE FUNDING STRUCTURE

The College’s annuval operating and capital budget is set by the College Board of Trustees and approved by the County of Allegheny
(the “County™), as the local sponsor {the “Local Sponsor™). Management of the College’s approved budget, as set forth by the College Board of
Trustees is the responsibility of the College administration. The President and the other staff members assume responsibility for fiscal control
in their respective areas of responsibility.

Community colleges in the Commonwealth are organized pursuant to the Community College Act, and supported by local sponsors in
accordance with a community college plan approved by the Department of Education. The Community College Act provides for funding for
community colleges from three sources: the Commonwealth, the Local Sponsor, and student tuition and fees charges, in each case subject to
certain formulas and limits. For the College during the 2019-20 fiscal vear, the budgeted shares of each funding source are as follows: the
Commonwealth (Base Funding 22.2% , Economic Development Stipend 5.1% and capital contribution 3.6% ), 30.9%, the Local Sponsor,
20.0%, and tuition and other revenues of the College, 49,1%.

Taxing Power of Local Sponsors Regarding Community Colleges

The Community College Act authorizes, but does not require, the governing body of each school district or municipality comprising a
local sponsor of a community college to levy annual taxes on subjects of taxation as prescribed by law in such school district or municipality for
the purpose of establishing, operating and maintaining a community college. The tax levy authorized is in excess of and beyond the millage
fixed or limited by law, subject to certain limiting provisions of the Community College Act. The Local Sponsor has not levied such a tax with
respect to the College.

Local Sponsor Obligation

Operating Costs. The Community College Act stipulates that the Local Sponsor shall appropriate or provide to the community college
an amount at least equal to the community college’s annual operating costs, less the student tuition and less the Commonwealth’s payment for
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operating costs. Of the College’s total annual operating costs, up to one-third may be collected from students in the form of tuition and the
balance is to be provided by the local sponsor and the Commonwealth. The Local Sponsor paid to the College in fiscal year ending June 30,
2019 a total of $26,159,339 of which $21,909,339 was used toward the College’s annual operating expenses.

Capital Expenses. The Local Sponsor is obligated under the Community College Act to pay up to one-half of the College’s annual
approved capital expenses (including debt service). For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 the Local Sponsor contributed a total of
$4,250,000 towards the College’s annual capital expenses. Remaining capital expenditures are funded through the capital fees which are
assessed to non-sponsored students on a per credit basis. The Commonwealth is also responsible for one-half the annual capital expenses. See
“Commonwealth Obligation™ below.

Commonwealth Obligation

Act 46 has revised the Commonwealth funding formula for the community colleges, and the issue of capital funding continues to be
addressed. Under the terms of Act 46, each community college receives at least the base amount that it received the year before. No college can
lose this base funding. In addition, each college will be eligible for a share of an “Economic Development Stipend” pool of funds. The College
received operating funding from the State during fiscal year 2019 in the amount of $35,685,413 for its “base” and “Economic Development
Stipend” funding. A special Community College Capital Fund has also been established. The Act 46 funding formula assures that the College
will know its State operating appropriation for each fiscal year before the year begins, and this amount will not be subject to audit disallowances
as in years prior to fiscal 2006. However, the amount of operating reimbursement is no longer a set amount per full-time equivalent student,
Instead, the College’s share of the State’s total operating appropriation for all the State community colleges is determined by how its (CCAC’s)
rate of enrollment growth, particularly in areas of study targeted by the State as high priority, compares to the rate of enrollment growth of the
other community colleges.

The Community College Act provides that the Commonwealth will pay to a community college on behalf of the local sponsor on
account of its capital expenses (including debt service) an amount equal to one-half of such college’s annual capital expenses from funds
appropriated for that purpose to the extent that said capital expenses have been approved for such reimbursement by the Department of
Education.

The Note is a general obligation of the College and payable from any general revenues including Local Sponsor and Commonwealth
appropriations.

Provisions of the Community College Act require that, should any community college fail to make its required debt service payment
with respect to a general obligation note such as the Note, the Secretary of Education is required to withhold from such community college out
of any subsidy payment of any type due such community college from the Commonwealth, an amount equal to the debt service payment owed
by such community college. Any amounts that may be necessary to be withheld with respect to the Note or the Loan Agreement would be
payable to the Trustee under the Indenture. Based on the College’s maximum annual debt service after issuance of the Bonds and the amount of
Commonwealth operating and capital expense appropriations presently budgeted by the College, the Commonwealth coverage of the College’s
maximum anticipated debt service would currently be approximately 5 times.

All community college subsidies in the Commonwealth are subject to appropriation by the Pennsylvania General Assembly. Although
the Constitution of the Commonwealth provides that “the General Assembly shall provide for the maintenance and support of a thorough and
efficient system of public education to serve the needs of the Commonwealth”, the General Assembly is not legally obligated to appropriate
such subsidies and there can be no assurance that it will do so in the future. The allocation formula pursuant to which the Commonwealth
distributes such subsidies to the various community colleges throughout the Commonwealth may be amended at any time by the Pennsylvania
General Assembly. Moreover, the Commonwealth’s ability to make such disbursements will be dependent upon its own financial condition. At
various times in the past, the enactment of budget and appropriation laws by the Commonwealth has been delayed, resulting in interim
borrowing by certain community colleges pending the authorization and payment of Commonwealth aid. Consequently, there can be no
assurance that financial support from the Commonwealth of community colleges, either for capital projects or education programs in general,
will continue at present levels or that moneys will be payable to a community college if indebtedness of such community college is not paid.

Pennsylvania Department of Education Project Approval

As discussed under the heading “Commonwealth Obligation” section above, the Community College Act provides that the
Commonwealth will reimburse a community college up to one-half (1/2) of the annual cost on certain capital projects assuming that said capital
projects have been approved by the Department.

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, a portion of the proceeds will be used to fund a portion of the costs of the development,
construction, improvement, furnishing, equipping and outfitting of the Training Center Project and other miscellaneous capital improvements thereto.
The Department has already approved the project and will provide 50% reimbursement of the annual debt service costs on borrowing of up to
$20 million, which includes the Bonds. Therefore, the College will be responsible for 100% of the debt service of the amount of borrowing
(including the Bonds) that exceeds $20 million, if applicable.



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Overview and Philosophy

The College was founded in 1965, and classes began in 1966. It is the second largest community college in Pennsylvania, serving
metropolitan Pittsburgh and the Allegheny County region. The College strives to prepare members of its community with the knowledge and
critical skills they need to adapt to challenges in life and employment. To this end, the College helps its students develop the following abilities:
to learn throughout their lives; to change and grow; to develop a depth of knowledge on the job and in life; to understand and value diversity; to
be sensitive to the needs and feelings of others and to be contributing members of their communities. The College does all this as an affordable
open admissions institution committed to providing students with support services to assist them in achieving their goals.

Accreditation

The College is fully accredited by the Middle States Commission on Higher Education and its health programs by the Commission on
Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs (CAAHEP) of the American Medical Association and the National League for Nursing
Accrediting Commission (NLNAC). Tt is also approved and registered by the Department of Education.

Campuses, Curriculum and Programs

In 2018-19, the College’s four campuses and more than four off-campus centers enrolled full time equivalent students of
approximately 26,165 in 157 credit degree programs and approximately 1,601 in non-credit, continuing education courses. The College offers
classes in the fall and spring semesters, during the summer, both day and evening, and on the weekends. College credit enrollments decreased
1% between 2017-18 and 2018-19. With 4 campuses and 4 off-campus centers, the College is Pennsylvania’s second largest community
college and ranks among the largest in the United States. The College offers associate degree programs in the arts, humanities, education,
business, secretarial studies, computer science, engineering and engineering technologies. It also offers health service degree programs which
include histology, nuclear medicine and radiation therapy technology.

Approximately 43% of the College’s credit students are between ages 18 and 22. The mean student age is 26 years. The College’s
classrooms include large numbers of both recent high school graduates and returning adult learners. Approximately 33% of the College’s
students attend classes on a full-time basis while 69% of the degree students attend at least one daytime class. Approximately 12% of the
College’s students are enrolled in courses that develop the skills for college learning. Over 50% of the College’s students return from one fall to
the next.

Over 157 programs prepare approximately 22% of the College’s students through university-parallel education for transfer to four-
year colleges and universitics. In 2018-2019 the College graduated 2,480 students. Over 80% of the graduates who sought employment found
it, while 390, or 16%, of the graduates transferred to other institutions. The College’s programs are divided into eight areas. including
university-parallel, business career, computer technologies, health career, social services, applied arts, applied trade, and engineering science.
The College graduates the largest number of health technicians in Pennsylvania and operates one of the largest nursing schools in the nation.

Governance

The College is governed by a Board of Trustees comprised of 15 members. Pursuant to the Community College Act, the County, as
the Local Sponsor of the College, is responsible for appointing the Board of Trustees. Presently, Frederick Thieman, JD serves as Chairman of
the Board and Senator Jay Costa, Ir. serves as Treasurer. Dr. Quintin B. Bullock is the President of the College and Mrs. Joyce Breckenridge
serves as Vice President for Finance.

The College has employed the following number of employvees in each of the fiscal years as set forth below:

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Faculty (Full-Time)....covvvveviivrreecrerreenne 243 244 240 238 228
Faculty (Part-Time)*.......... 1,599 1,516 1,534 1,498 1,539
Administrators (Full-Time)... 181 188 197 202 201
Support Staff (Full-Time) ..... 277 273 272 265 2606
Technical/Para-Professionals................... 41 41 40 45 45

*Includes credit and non-credit adjunct faculty.
Source: The College.

Employee Contracts

The College’s various employee groups are represented by three separate and distinct collective bargaining agreements. The full time
faculty are represented by the American Federation of Teachers Local 2067, AFL-CIO, under a contract which expires August 31, 2020. The
adjunct credit faculty are represented by the American Federation of Teachers Local 2067, AFL-CIO, under a contract which expires June 30,
2022, The clerical, technical, maintenance and custodial staff are represented by the Service Employees International Union Local 668; AFL-
CIO under a contract which expires August 31, 2021,
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Enrollment

The College’s full time equivalent enrollment for each of the fiscal years set forth below was as follows:

Fiscal Year Credit Non-Credit Total FTE
2015, 28,012 1,459 29,471
2016, 26,948 1,245 28,193
2007 i 26,673 1,470 28,143
20018 e 27,027 1,709 28,736
2009 26,165 1,601 27,766

Source: The College.
Revenue and Expense Summary

The following table sets forth a summary of the College’s unrestricted current fund revenues, expenditures and transfers for each of
the fiscal years set forth. Fiscal years 2015-2019 are derived from audited financial statements. For further information regarding 2019 and
2018 see Appendix A- Financial Statements as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and Independent Auditors’ Report.

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

015 2016 201 2018 2019
OPERATING REVENUES:
Student tuition and fees--net of

scholarship allowances $31,609,017 531,625,956 $35,194,775 $32,517.434 $34. 410,011
Federal grants and contracts 5,190,153 5,117,237 6,098,970 7,372,836 7,016,528
State and local grants and contracts 2,082,878 2,335,134 2,529,615 2,315,306 2,909,017
Nongovernmental grants and contracts 3,749 8358 2,894,706 2,664,692 2,792,113 2,962,832
Auxiliary enterprises:

Bookstore 774,649 728,754 688,777 649 850 667,338

Total Operating Revenues $43 406,555 $42 701,787 $47.176,829 $45.647 559 $47.965,726
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Instruction 44,830,872 44,890,768 49,384,496 50,676,203 51,440,504
Academic support 8,982,317 8,791,211 9,448,345 9,279,813 8,807,490
Student services and activities 12,959,793 12,802 417 13,949,442 14,791,796 15,183,269
Institutional support 21,243,157 22,925,587 23,804,008 24,160,250 25,725,723
Plant operations and maintenance 15,473,708 14,688,471 15,239,455 15,980,545 16,573,675
Scholarships and fellowships (financial aid) 7,960,590 6,026,214 7,115,021 5,779,581 7,904,952
Depreciation 7,229,642 7,670,353 7,891,663 8,598,627 8,965,261
Auxiliary enterprises:

Bookstore 74,796 71,236 68,172 63,654 78,452

Other auxiliary services 0
Total Operating Expenses $118,754,875 $117,866,257 $126,900,602 $129,330,469 $134,679,326
Operating Loss ($75,348.320) ($75,164,470) ($79,723.773) ($83,682.910) ($86,713,600)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Government appropriations

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania $35,805,102 $37,738,154 $38,580,004 $39,049 249 $40.324 950

Allegheny County 23,705,264 24,179,369 24,662,956 25,156,215 26,159,339

U.S. Government 26,557,983 22,730,629 21,763,266 22,727,959 21,036,660
Investment income 15,438 26,892 60,098 198 444 686,161
Foundation and other income 720,589 447 615 800,750 771299 771,328
Interest expenses and capital asset-related debt (2,481,793) (2,409,748) (2,225,851) (2,490,166) (3,068,841)
Other nonoperating (expenses) reventes 647,141 222,551 303.833 70,389 203,990
Total nonoperating revenues $84 969 724 $82.935 462 $83.,945.056 $85.483,389 $86,113,587
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS $9,621,404 $7,770,992 $4,221,283 $1,800,479 ($600,013)
NET ASSETS - Beginning of year $98.,902,375* $108,523,779 $116,294771 $120,516,054 $122,316,533
NET ASSETS - End of year $108,523,779 $116,294,771 $120,516,054 $122.316,533 $121.716,520

*Restatement.
Source: The College.
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Budgetary Procedures

The College’s annual budget preparation is coordinated by the Vice President for Finance in consultation with the President and
certain other officers of the College, and then approved by the Board of Trustees. Revenues to support the budget come from the County,
student tuition, grants and contracts and the Commonwealth.

Student tuition is set by the College’s Board of Trustees.

Management of the College’s approved budget, as set forth by the College’s Board of Trustees, is the responsibility of the Vice
President for Finance as delegated by the President.

The County appropriated $26,972,526 in the County fiscal year 2019 (the County fiscal year coincides with the calendar vear). The
County appropriation for its fiscal year 2020 (calendar 2020) is $27,495,977 (826,695,977 operating budget appropriation and $800,000 capital
budget appropriation). The Commonwealth is responsible for funding one-third of the operating expenses and one-half of the capital budget. As
Local Sponsor, the County is responsible for the remaining operating expenditures less student tuition and fees, interest income and reserves and
one-half of the capital budget. The following table sets forth a summary of the College’s fund revenues and expenditures budgeted for 2019-20.

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
2019-20 BUDGET

BUDGET

Sources of Funds 2019-29
Student Revenue

Credit Tuition and Fees.......oocooiiii e $59,105,840

Non-Credit Tuition and Fees (other than ad vocational/recreational) ......... 1,400,565

Avocational/Recreational... ......coooviir e e 1,099.931

Subtotal $61,606,336

State Contribution

Base FUNGIIE ...voveovevieeee ettt e e et st e st et e e e e aes $29,040,870

Economic Development Stipend... 6,644,543

Debt Service & Leases............e.... 4,671,963

SUDLOTAL ..ot ete st et st es sets s ens s ersnesarssnsaeanes 40,357,376

County ContribDULION c.....eccviiviiiecieecrecce et e e et e saestessn et 26,172,526
Business & Industry INCOME .....ovvrirvireeeeerieireres e ete st estreeesreseseeressasenseessenen 1,499,504
Transfer from Capital and Compelling Needs Reserve 615,652
Misc, Fees & Other INCOME ..o 506,758
TOTAL SOURCES OF FUNDS ..ot ercnenn s raeve e e $130,758.152
USE OF FUNDS
Credit INSIIUCTION . .c.vii e ceee e ee st ettt eeae s et ve e erbeeeaea saneeanean $47,427.136
Continuing EAUCAHON ......ovoiviiiiei i et 5,643,084
AcAAEINIC SUPPOIT. .ttt ettt et et e e e e e aneene 7,012,109
Student Services 11,792,250
Institutional SUPPOLT ... e 27,558,052
Plant OPerations.....oveeeeieeriererarirsiersenrenressesereenessmesceanneessessonassessensessesseseenes 18,125,471
Equity Contribution to Capital Projects .. 3,366,505
) B ) o AT T SRR SRRURRUROOt 8,340,272
SPACE LLBASES .. vttt ettt et e e 251,832
Furniture & Equipment Leases. 1,241,441
TOTAL EXPENSES .......ooiiieiieeiei e $130,758.152

Source: College officials.
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Debt Statement
The table below shows the outstanding debt of the College as of June 2, 2020, including the issuance of the Bonds.
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY

DEBT STATEMENT*
(as of June 2, 2020)

Gross
Outstanding
College Revenue Bonds, Series of 2020 $18,920,000
College Revenue Bonds, Series A of 2019 7.525,000
College Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2019 2,115,000
College Revenue Bonds, Series of 2018 19,310,000
College Revenue Bonds, Series of 2016 7,870,000
College Revenue Bonds, Series of 2015 3,230,000
College Revenue Bonds, Series of 2012 34,870,000
TOTAL DEBT $93,840,000

*Includes the principal amount of the Bonds described in this Official Statement.

Debt Service Requirements

The table below presents the debt service requirements on the College’s outstanding revenue bonds, including debt service on the

Bonds.
Series of :
Fiscal Total Other 2020 Total
Year Debt Principal Interest Subtotal Requirements
2020 $6,948,298 $o0 $0 30 $6,948,298
2021 6,872,910 910,000 570,381 1,480,381 8,353,291
2022 7,109,025 655,000 821,200 1,476,200 8,585,225
2023 7,113,225 680,000 795,000 1,475,000 8,588,225
2024 7,116,131 710,000 767,800 1,477,800 8,593,931
2025 7,119,519 745,000 732,300 1,477,300 8,596,819
2026 7,114,831 785,000 695,050 1,480,050 8,594,881
2027 6,168,406 820,000 655,800 1,475,800 7,644,206
2028 5,608,431 865,000 614,800 1,479,800 7,088,231
2029 5,599,988 905,000 571,550 1,476,550 7,076,538
2030 5,596,588 950,000 526,300 1,476,300 7,072,888
2031 5,603,656 995,000 478,800 1,473,800 7,077,456
2032 53,605,906 1,050,000 429,050 1,479,050 7,084,956
2033 5,606,569 1,100,000 376,550 1,476,550 7,083,119
2034 5,603,681 1,155,000 321,550 1,476,550 7,080,231
2035 5,602,881 1,215,000 263,800 1,478,800 7,081,681
2036 1,508,688 1,265,000 215,200 1,480,200 2,988,888
2037 1,511,100 1,320,000 164,600 1,484,600 2,995,700
2038 0 1,370,000 111,800 1,481,800 1,481,800
2039 0 1,425,000 57,000 1,482,000 1,482,000
Total $103,409,833 $18,920,000 $9,168,531  $28,088,531 $131,498.363

Future Financing

The College does not anticipate issuing additional long term debt in the next 2 years.
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Financial Aid

Students of the College received the following grants, aid. loans and other financial aid in the fiscal years set forth below:

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Grants and Scholarships:
Pell oo e $26,566,568 $22,731,638 $21,811,029 $22,728,386 $21,003,830
PHEA Lot 1,734,325 1,895,501 2,178,622 1,970,029 2,069,251
SEOG .. 281,250 510,145 485,517 455,392 580,925
Private Grants, Loans & Scholarships... 1,542,983 1,690,483 2,167,730 1,969,122 2,181,159
Loans:
Stafford Loans/PLUS ... 18,919,103 22,524,429 19,588,648 23,230,488 17,221,641
Employment:
College Work Study ..o 384,622 345,745 378,536 320,911 236,295
Student Employment ..o 24,236 25,809 34,054 25,889 16,016
Total of Students Receiving
Financial Aid (estimate)...................... 14,000* 14,386* 12,986% 12,086* 10,293*

* Unduplicated Students Receiving Financial Aid (estimated).
Source: The College; Director, Financial Aid.

Student Fees and Charges

The following table sets forth the fees, costs and charges paid by students per semester, per credit hour, in each of the fiscal years set

forth:
(fiscal 14-15) (fiscal 15-16) (fiscal 16-17) (fiscal 17-18) (fiscal 18-19) (fiscal 19-20)
2015 ** 2016 ** 2017 ** 2018 ** 2019 ** 2020%*

In County Tuition - no cap 104.75 104.75 107.75 110.00 113.00 116.00
Out of County Tuition— no cap 209.50 209.50 215.50 220.00 226.00 232,00
(per credit)
Qut-of —State - no cap 31425 314.25 32325 330.00 339.00 348.00
Technology Fee per Credit — no cap 19.25 2225 2225 2225 23.25 23.25
Student Service Fee — no cap 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.25 725
Out of County Capital Fee

Fulltime (per semester) 78.00 78.00 78.00 78.00 78.00 78.00

Part time (per credit hour) 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50
Out of State Capital Fee

Full time * (per semester) 78.00 78.00 78.00 78.00 78.00 78.00

Part time * {per credit hour) 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50
Activity Fee

Full time (per semester) 50.40 50.40 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00

Part time (per credit hour) 4.20 4.20 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00

*Qut of state students are assessed both an out of county capital fee and out of state capital fee for a total of $6.50/credit. The College considers
a student full time at 12 credits when assessing fees.

**Effective spring 2012 the College instituted a flat tuition rate (12 credits to 18 credits), tuition is based on 15 credits.

Source: The College.

SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE INDENTURE

The following pages contain descriptions of certain provisions of the Loan Agreement and the Indenture. The Bonds are secured by
the Indenture and are payable from payments due under the Loan Agreement. These descriptions are brief summaries and do not purport to be
and should not be regarded as complete statements of the terms of either the Loan Agreement or the Indenture or as complete synopses thereof.
Reference is made to the documents in their entirety, copies of which may be obtained from the Trustee, for a complete statement of the terms
and conditions therein. .

THE LOAN AGREEMENT

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the Authority will enter into the Loan Agreement with the College, pursuant to which
the Authority will loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the College for the purpose of funding the College’s capital projects and to pay the costs of
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issuing and insuring the Bonds. The Loan Agreement requires the College to make loan repayments to the Authority in amounts sufficient to
pay the required debt service on the Bonds. The obligation of the College under the .oan Agreement is evidenced by the Note.

Representations, Warranties and Covenants. The College makes certain representations, warranties and covenants under the Loan
Agreement, including without limitation, with respect to the existence and authority of the College, the enforceability of the Loan Agreement
and Note and the absence of material litigation.

Source of Debt Service Payments. The debt service payments are payable by the College from its revenues from whatever source
derived. The College covenants to budget for each fiscal year during the term of the L.oan Agreement the loan payments required to be paid to
the Authority with respect to the Note and the Loan Agreement.

Assignment of Loan Agreement. The loan payments shall be paid by the College directly to the Trustee under an assignment by the
Authority to the Trustee of such payments for the benefit and security of the Bondholders under the Indenture.

Uncondifional Obligation. The obligation of the College to make the payments required by the Loan Agreement are absolute and
unconditional. The payments are required to be made in full directly to the Trustee, as assignee, when due without delay or diminution for any
cause whatsoever and without right of set-off for default on the part of the Authority under the Loan Agreement.

Events of Default. Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under the Loan Agreement:
(a) the College fails to make any payment required under the Note;
(b) the College shall fail to comply with its tax covenants set forth in the Loan Agreement;

(c) the College shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants and agreements contained
in the Loan Agreement and such default shall continue for 30 days afier written notice specifying such default and
requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to the College by the Authority; or

(d) if an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Indenture and as a result of such Event of
Default the Bonds shall have been declared due and payable by acceleration in accordance with the indenture; or

(e) an order shall be entered appointing a receiver for the College’s facilities or revenues.
Remedies. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing:

(a) The Authority (or the Trustee as its assignee) may, in addition to its other rights and remedies as may be provided in the
Loan Agreement or may exist at the time at law or in equity, exercise any one or more of the following remedies:

(i) upon notice to the College, declare all sums due or 1o become due under the Loan Agreement and under the Note to
be immediately due and payable;

(iiy by suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all rights of the Authority, and require the College to carry
out any agreements with or for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds and to perform its duties under the Act, the
Loan Agreement and the Note.

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in paragraph (a) under “Events of Default” above, the Authority
shall, in addition to the exercise of any other remedy hereunder, notify the Secretary of the Department of Education of
such Event of Default and request the Secretary, in accordance with the appropriate provisions of Pennsylvania law, to
notify the College of its obligations under the Loan Agreement and to withhold out of any appropriation due the College
under the Community College Act an amount equal to the sum or sums owing by the College to the Authority under the
Loan Agreement and under the Note, and to pay over the amount so withheld to the Trustee, as sinking fund depository for
the Bonds, on behalf of the Authority.

THE INDENTURE

Limited Obligations of the Authority. The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Authority and are secured by a pledge and
assignhment to the Trustee of the loan payments and other revenues or income derived by or for the Authority from or with respect to the Loan
Agreement and all moneys to be paid over to the Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture. The Authority has no taxing power. Neither the
general credit of the Authority nor the general credit or taxing power of the United States of America, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or
any political subdivision thereof is pledged for the payment of the principal of, or interest on the Bonds; nor shall the Bonds be deemed to be
general obligations of the Authority or obligations of the United States of America, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any political
subdivision thereof.
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Pledge of Certain Revenues. The Authority has pledged to the Trustee, in the Indenture, a security interest in all loan payments, and
other sums payable under the Loan Agreement, for the benefit and security of the registered owners of the Bonds issued under the Indenture.

Revenue Fund. All loan payments are required to be deposited in the Revenue Fund established with the Trustee at the times set forth
in the Indenture. All moneys in the Revenue Fund are required to be transferred by the Trustee at the times set forth in the Indenture to the
various other funds established under the Indenture.

Project Fund. Moneys in the Project Fund shall be held by the Trustee pending the application to costs of the Project and will be
disbursed by the Trustee only upon receipt by the Trustee of a requisition signed by the College identifying the specific costs of the Project to be
paid.

Debt Service Fund. There is established under the Indenture a Debt Service Fund into which the Trustee shall make deposits in such
amounts sufficient to make payments of interest and principal (including mandatory redemption) on the Bonds as hereinafter stated. The
monies on deposit in the Debt Service Fund shall be applied, on each March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2020, to make the
interest payments due on the Bonds on such March 1 and September 1 of each year, and on September 1, commencing September 1, 2020, to
make the principal payments (including payments in respect of mandatory sinking fund redemption) due on the Bonds on such March 1.

Rebate Fund. The Authority will periodically determine the sum required to be deposited in the Rebate Fund (if any) and direct the
Trustee to transfer such sum from the other funds and accounts established under the Indenture. The Authority will direct the Trustee to pay to
the United States Government the sums on deposit in the Rebate Fund at the times and in the amounts (if any) required by the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended.

Investment of Funds. Moneys held in the Revenue Fund and the Debt Service Fund may and, upon instructions of the College, shall
be wholly or partially deposited and redeposited in interest-bearing deposit accounts or time certificates of deposit with the commercial
department of the Trustee or any other authorized depository, which deposits, to the extent not insured, shall be secured as provided by the
Indenture, or invested or reinvested by the Trustee at the direction of the College solely in obligations which meet the requirements set forth in
the Indenture, subject to limitations provided in the Indenture.

Additional Bonds. The Indenture permits under certain circumstances and conditions the issuance of additional bonds for the
purposes of refunding any series of outstanding bonds of the Authority issued on behalf of the College or any other obligation of the College,
completing a project of the College and tinancing additional projects of the College.

Events of Default. The following, among others, shall constitute events of default under the Indenture: (a) principal of or interest on
the Bonds shall not be paid when due, (b) there shall be a default under the Loan Agreement or Note or other agreements related to the
Indenture, (¢} if the Authority shall fail or refuse to comply with any provisions of the Act relating to the Bonds, or shall be rendered incapable
of fulfilling its obligations under the Indenture, or (d) the Authority defaults in the performance of other covenants under the Indenture which
continues for 60 days after notice from the Trustee.

Remedies. The Act which govems the Authority provides certain remedies to the Bondholders in the event of default or failure on the
part of the Authority to fulfill its covenants.

Under the Indenture, in the event of any default therein, the Trustee may enforce and upon written request of the holders of 25% in
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding accompanied by indemnity for the Trustee, as provided in the Indenture shall enforce, for the
benefit of all Bondholders all their rights of entry, of bringing suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity and of having a receiver appointed.
For a more complete statement of rights and remedies of the Bondholders and for limitations thereon, reference is made to the Indenture.

Modifications and Amendments. Amendments to the Indentute are permitted without consent of Bondholders for certain purposes,
including the imposition of additional restrictions and conditions respecting the issuance of the Bonds, the addition of covenants and agreements
by the Authority, the modification of the Indenture to conform the same to governmental regulations (so long as the rights of the Bondholders
are not adversely affected thereby), the curing of any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency in the Indenture, and the making of provision for
matters which are necessary or desirable and which do not adversely affect the interests of the Bondholders. Certain other modifications may be
made to the Indenture, but only with the consent of the Bond Insurer (if any) and the consent of Bondholders as more specifically provided in
the Indenture.

Insurance Provisions. Certain rights are granted to the Bond Insurer under the Indenture should Bond Insurance be obtained for the

Bonds. These rights include, among others, the approval of amendments, consents in addition to bondholder consents, control and direction of
remedies, receipt and copies of notices, and third-party beneficiary status.
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ABSENCE OF LITIGATION

There is no litigation of any nature now pending or, to the Authority’s knowledge, threatened against it restraining or enjoining the
issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Bonds or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Bonds, the Indenture, or any
proceedings of the Authority taken in connection with the issuance or sale of the Bonds, the pledge or application of any moneys or security
provided for the payment of the Bonds, or the existence or powers of the Authority.

There is no litigation, individually or in the aggregate, currently pending or to the knowledge of the College threatened against it,
which will have a material adverse affect on its financial condition or which will affect the validity or enforceability of the Loan Agreement or
the Note, or which in any way contests the existence or powers of the College.

LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENTS

Under the Act, the Bonds are securities in which all officers of the Commonwealth and its political subdivisions and municipal
officers and administrative departments, boards and commissions of the Commonwealth, all banks, savings banks, trust companies, savings and
loan associations, investment companies and other persons carrying on a banking business, all insurance companies, insurance associations and
other persons carrying on an insurance business, and all administrators, executors, guardians, trustees and other fiduciaries, and all other persons
who are authorized to invest in bonds or other financial obligations of the Commonwealth may properly and legally invest any funds, including
capital belonging lo them or within their control, and the Bonds are securities which may properly and legally be deposited with and received by
any Commonwealth and municipal officers or agency of the Commonwealth for any purpose for which the deposit of other bonds or other
obligations of the Commonwealth is authorized by law.

TAX EXEMPTION
Federal

Exclusion of Interest from Gross Income

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, interest on the Bonds will not be
includible in gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes assuming continuing compliance by the Authority and College
with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™). Interest on the Bonds will not be a specific preference
item for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax on individuals.

In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel has assumed compliance by the Authority and College with its covenants contained in the
Resolution and its representations in the Tax Certificate executed by the Authority and College on the date of issuance of the Bonds (the *Tax
Compliance Certificate™) relating to actions to be taken by the Authority and College after issuance of the Bonds necessary to effect or maintain
the exclusion from gross income of interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. These covenants and representations relate to, inter
alia, the use and investment of proceeds of the Bonds, and the rebate to the United States Department of Treasury of specified arbitrage
earnings, if any. Failure to comply with such covenants could result in interest on the Bonds becoming includible in gross income for federal
mcome tax purposes from the date of issuance of the Bonds.

Other Federal Tax Matters

Ownership or disposition of the Bonds may result in other federal tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation,
certain S corporations, foreign corporations with branches in the United States, holders of an interest in a financial asset securitization
investment trust property and casualty insurance companies, individuals who otherwise qualify for the earned income credit and taxpayers who
have an initial basis in the Bonds greater or less than the principal amount thereof, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad
Retirement benefits and taxpayers, including banks, thrift institutions and other financial institutions, subject to Code Section 265, who may be
deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or to carry the Bonds.

Bond Counsel is pot rendering any opinion regarding any federal tax matters other than as described under the caption
“Exclusion of Interest from Gross Income” above and expressly stated in the form of Bond Counsel opinion included as Appendix B.
Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their independent tax advisors with regard to all federal tax matters.

Pennsylvania

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under the laws of the Commonwealth as enacted and construed on the date hereof, interest on the
Bonds is exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and Pennsylvania corporate net income tax, and the Bonds are exempt from personal
property taxes in Pennsylvania; however, under the laws of the Commonwealth, as enacted and construed on the date hereof, any profits, gains
or income derived from the sale, exchange or other disposition of the Bonds will be subject to Pennsylvania taxes and local taxes within the
Commonwealth.
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Other

The Bonds and the interest thereon may be subject to state and local taxes in jurisdictions other than the Commonwealth under
applicable state or local tax laws.

Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their independent tax advisors with regard to all state and local tax matters that may
affect them.

INFECTIOUS DISEASE OUTBREAK —- COVID-19

The outbreak of COVID-19, a respiratory discase caused by a new strain of coronavirus, has been characterized as a pandemic (the
“Pandemic™) by the World Health Organization and is currently affecting many parts of the world, including the United States and the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. On March 13, 2020, the President of the United States declared the outbreak of COVID-19 in the United
States a national emergency. Pennsylvania Governor Tom Wolf ordered all non-life-sustaining businesses in Pennsylvania to close their
physical locations as of 8:00 p.m. March 19, 2020 to slow the spread of COVID-19. On April 1, 2020, the Governor issued a Stay-at-Home
order for all Pennsylvania Counties, which remains in effect through June 4, 2020 for all counties in the state-declared “red phase” of reopening,
Approximately 13 Pennsylvania Counties, including Allegheny County where the College is located, transitioned to a “yellow phase” effective
May 15, 2020, easing restrictions on business and social interaction.

The Pandemic has negatively affected travel, commerce, and financial markets globally, and is widely expected to continue negatively
affecting economic growth and financial markets worldwide. All on-campus instruction and activities have been cancelled at the College for the
remainder of the semester, as part of the College’s commitment to safeguarding the health and well-being of the College, students, and wider
communities. Yet the College seeks to ensure that students have the information and resources they need to achieve their academic goals as the
College continues the transition to online or alternative forms of remote delivery of instruction. To that end, the College has benefited from
$7,987,479 in direct emergency aid under The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act signed into law by the President
of the United States on March 27, 2020, $3,993,740 of which is being directly awarded to students as emergency financial aid. The remaining
portion of the CARES Act Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund received by the College is being applied to a number of eligible
institutional costs, including transitioning to distance learning.

The College cannot predict how the Pandemic will impact the financial condition or operations of the College, as it tracks expenses in
order to get an accurate accounting of potential losses and monitors any impact in state and local aid. The financial and operating data
contained herein are the latest available, but are as of the dates and for periods prior to the economic impact of the Pandemic. Accordingly, they
may not be indicative of the current financial condition or future prospects of the College.

The College continues to monitor the spread of COVID-19 and is working with federal, state, and local agencies to address the
potential impact of the Pandemic upon the College and its operations. While the potential impact of the Pandemic on the College cannot be
quantified at this time, the continued outbreak of COVID-19 could have an adverse effect on the College’s operations and financial condition,
and the effect could be material.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12 (the “Rule™), the College will agree pursuant to a
Continuing Disclosure Agreement between the College and the Trustee as dissemination agent (the “Dissemination Agent”) to be delivered on
the date of issuance of the Bonds, to cause the following information to be provided:

(A) Annually, not later than 270 days following the end of each fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020, the
tollowing financial information and operating information for the College:

(1) A copy of the College’s annual report which contains its financial statements for the most recent fiscal year, prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local government units,

(B) Ifnot submitted as part of the annual report, then when and if available, audited financial statements for the College;

(C) In a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, notice of the occurrence of any of the
following events with respect to the Bonds:

(1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(2) non-payment related defaults, if material;

(3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
(4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
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(6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of
Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax-exempt status of the
Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds;

(7) modifications to rights of holders of the Bonds, if material;

(8) bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

(9) defeasances;,

(10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;

(11) rating changes;

{12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the College;

(13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the College or the sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of the College, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an
action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and

(14) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material; and

(15) incurrence of a financial obligation of the College or other obligated person, if any, if material, or agreement to covenants,
events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial obligation of the College or other obligated
person, if any, any of which affect security holders, if material; and

(16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of the
financial obligation of the College or other obligated person, if any, any of which reflect financial difficulties; and

(D) ina timely manner, notice of a failure of the College to provide the required annual financial information specified above, on or before
the date specified above.

With respect to the filing of annual financial and operating information, the College reserves the right to modify from time to time the
specific types of information provided or the format of the presentation of such information to the extent necessary or appropriate as a result of a
change in legal requirements or a change in the nature of the College or its operations or financial reporting, but the College will agree that any such
modification will be done in a manner consistent with the Rule,

The events listed in (C) above are those specified in the Rule, not all of which may be relevant to the Bonds. The College may from time to
time choose to file notice of the occurrence of other events, in addition to the events listed in (C) above, but the College does not commit to provide
notice of the occurrence of any events except those specifically listed in (C) above.

The College acknowledges that its undertaking pursvant to the Rule described herein is intended to be for the benefit of the holders and
beneficial owners of the Bonds and shall be enforceable by the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds, but the right of the holders and beneficial
owners of the Bonds to enforce the provisions of the College’s continuing disclosure undertaking shall be limited to a right to obtain specific
enforcement, and any failure by the College to comply with the provisions of the undertaking shall not be an event of default with respect to the
Bonds.

The College’s obligations with respect to continuing disclosure described herein shall terminate upon the prior redemption or payment in
full of all of the Bonds or if and when the College is no longer an “obligated person™ with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule.

The MSRB has been designated by the SEC to be the central and sole repository for continuing disclosure information filed by issuers of
municipal securities since July 1, 2009. Information and notices filed by municipal issuers (and other “obligated persons” with respect to municipal
securities issues) are made available through the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA™) System, which may be accessed on the
internet at http://www.emma.msrb.org.

Certain operating data of the College may be included in the annual filings of financial statements, the summary of the budget, contents of
Official Statements of future bond issues as well as publicly available information.

Existing Continuing Disclosure Filing History

The College has previously entered into Continuing Disclosure Agreements with respect to each of its previously issued bond issues
that are currently outstanding. The College’s filing history of its annual financial and operating information during the past five (5) years is
outlined in the table below.

Fiscal Year Financial Statements Operating Data
" Ending [ Deadiine® [ Filing Date EMMA ID @ Filing Date EMMA ID !
6/30/2015 12/2722015 121232015 V! Archived 121232015 B Archived
6/30/2016 12/27/2016 12/23/2016 ER790929 12/23/2016 ER790929
6/30/2017 12/27/2017 12/27/2017 ES843471 N/AM
6/30/2018 12/27/2018 12/24/2018 ER916174 N/AL
6/30/2019 12/27/2019 12/18/2019 ER9%0750 N/AE
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Notes
I For these purposes, assumes the shortest filing deadline of the College’s previous Continuing Disclosure Agreements

1 Submission ID is the EMMA Submission 11 for each filing. To access a filing, insert the Submission ID) to the end of the web address below:
htip:emma msrh. ore ContimungDisclosure View/ContinuingDisclosureDetails. aspx? submissionid =

A1 Original filing of the audit report apd operating data on 12/23°2015. The report was refiled on 8:2/2016 under EMMA ID ER74035 7and the previous filing and report was archived.

B Opepating data was contained within the Audit Report, however the College voluntarily filed additional operating data.

Based on the information above, the College’s annual financial and operating filing history over the past five (3) years can be
summarized as follows:

For fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 through and including fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, the College filed the annual financial and
operating information in a timely fashion.

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS

Purchase of the Bonds by the Underwriter is subject to the receipt of the approving legal opinion of Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott,
LLC, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, who have been appointed Bond Counsel to the Authority by the Commonwealth Office of General Counsel.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by its counsel, Barley Snyder LLP, Lancaster, Pennsylvania, for the College by its
counsel, Andrew F. Szefi, Esquire, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania.

UNDERWRITING

The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds {rom the Authority, subject to certain conditions precedent, and will purchase all of
the Bonds if any of such Bonds are purchased. The Bonds will be purchased at a purchase price of $22,445,384.69 equal to the par value of the
Bonds less an underwriter’s discount of $79,142.36 and plus an original issue premium of $3,604,527.05 as set forth on the inside cover page
hereof.

THE TRUSTEE

The Issuer has appointed U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association organized under the laws of the United
States, to serve as Trustee. The Trustee is to carry out those duties assignable to it under the Indenture. Except for the contents of this section,
the Trustee has not reviewed or participated in the preparation of this Official Statement and assumes no responsibility for the nature, contents,
accuracy or completeness of the information set forth in this Official Statement or for the recitals contained in the Indenture or the Bonds, or for
the validity, sufficiency, or legal eftect of any of such documents.

Furthermore, the Trustee has no oversight responsibility, and is not accountable, for the use or application of the proceeds of such
Bonds by the Authority or College. The Trustee has not evaluated the risks, benefits, or propriety of any investment in the Bonds and makes no
representation, and has reached no conclusions, regarding the value or condition of any assets or revennes pledged or assigned as security for
the Bonds, the technical or financial feasibility of the Project, or the investment quality of the Bonds, about all of which the Trustee expresses
no opinion and expressly disclaims the expertise to evaluate.

BOND RATING

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group is expected to assign its municipal bond rating of “AA” to the Bonds and will do so with the
understanding that upon delivery of the Bonds, a municipal bond insurance policy with respect to the Bonds will be issued by BAM.

Moody’s Investors Service has assigned its municipal bond rating of “A3” (Stable Outlook) to this issue of Bonds. Such rating reflects
only the view of such organization and any desired explanation of the significance of such rating should be obtained from the rating agency
furnishing the same, at the following address: 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Streef, New York, New York 10007. Generally, a rating
agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There is no
assurance that any such rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the
rating agency, if circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse cffect on the market
price of the Bonds.

MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS

Disclosure Language
A Siebert Williams Shank & Co. LLC affiliate (“Affiliate™), which 1s a registered investment advisor, has three sub-advisory agreements with PFM

Asset Management LLC, which is an investment advisor affiliate of PFM Financial Advisors LILC. The sub-advisory agreements do not relate to Issuer.
Affiliate’s business is separate from SWS3’ business and the employees of SWS who cover Issuer are not involved in the activities of Affiliate.
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The Authority has no responsibility for the College’s compliance with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement or for the contents of, or
any omissions from, the financial information, operating data, or notices provided thereunder.

The references herein to the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Bonds, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Act, the
Community College Act and other materials are only brief outlines of certain provisions thereof and do not purport to summarize or describe all
the provisions thereof, copies of which will be furnished by the Authority upon request.

The references herein to the Community College of Allegheny County Financial Statements are only brief outlines of certain
provisions thereof and do not purport to summarize or describe all the provisions thereof. The Financial Statements have been audited, copies
of which can be obtained upon request from the College.

The information contained in this Official Statement has been compiled or prepared from official and other sources deemed to be
reliable and, although not guaranteed as to their completeness or accuracy, is believed to be correct as of this date. Statements involving matters
of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact.

The information contained in this Official Statement should not be construed as representing all the conditions affecting the Authority,
the College or the Bonds,

The Authority has not assisted in the preparation of this Official Statement, except for the statements concerning the Authority under
the sections captioned “THE AUTHORITY™” and “ABSENCE OF LITIGATION” herein and, except for those sections, the Authority is not
responsible for any statements made in this Official Statement. Except for the authorization, execution and delivery of documents required to
effect the issuance of the Bonds. the Authority has not otherwise assisted in the public offer, sale or distribution of the Bonds. Accordingly,
except as foresaid, the Authority assumes no responsibility for the disclosures set forth in this Official Statement.

STATE PUBLIC SCHOOL BUILDING AUTHORITY
By: /s/Eric Gutshall

Title: ERIC GUTSHALL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The College hereby approves the use and distribution of this Official Statement in connection with the issuance and the sale of the
Bonds and hereby certifies that, as of the date hereof, the statements contained in this Official Statement relating to the College do not contain
an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements herein, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading.

APPROVED:

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
By: /s/ Dr. Quintin B. Bullock

Title: DR. QUINTIN B. BULLOCK

PRESIDENT,
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
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APPENDIX A

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF AND FOR THE
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 and 2018
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE

The first choice for faster results, OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY

Qitce of College Services

800 Allegheny Avenur

Pitisbyrgh, PA 15233-1B95

Ph:412.323.2323

Fax; 412.237.3037

ceac.edu

The information contained herein is being filed by the Community College of
Allegheny County for the purposes of complying with its responsibifities wnder SEC Ruic
15c2-12. The information contained herein is as of the date set forth below. Neither the
Dissemination Agent nor the State Public School Building Authority has participated in the
presentation of this report or examined its contents, and neither makes any represeniations
concerning the accuracy and completeness of the information contained herein,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Trustees
Community College of Allegheny County
Pittsburgh, Pennsyivania

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Community College of
Allegheny Country (College) and its discretely presented component umnit, collectively a component unit of Allegheny
County, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the College’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal confrol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial
statements of the Community College of Allegheny County Educational Foundation (a component unit of the College),
which represent approximately 8%, 15% and 18%, respectively, of the assets, net position, and operating revenues of the
College for June 30, 2019, and 5%, 9% and 7%, respectively, of the assets, net position and operating revenues of the
College for June 30, 2018. The financial statements of the Community College of Allegheny County Educational
Foundation were prepared in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards as issued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been firnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Community College of Allegheny Country Educational
Foundation, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement. The financial statements of the Community College of Allegheny County Education Foundation were not
audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’® judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the College’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the College’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An aundit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Schneider Downs & Co., Inc. One PPG Flace, Suite 1700 65 E, State Street, Suite 2000
wuauschneiderdowns.com Pitshurgh, PA 15222 Columbus, OH 43215
{f_j;: P!‘imeGIOba! vel 412,261,364 el 614.621.4060

[ et avh b enx 4122614876 FAx 614,821.4062
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Opinions

In our opinion, based on owr audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of the College and its
discretely presented component unit, as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and,
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Other Matfers

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and
analysis on Pages 3-16 and schedules of the College’s proportionate share of the net pension liabilities and pension
contributions on Pages 67-69 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governinental Accomting Standards Board, which considers it to
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for comsistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assvrance.

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
December 9, 2019



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Community College of Allegheny County’s (College or CCAC)
financial performance provides an overall review of the College’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2019 and 2018 and is based upon facts, decisions and conditions known as of the date of the audit report. Also included is
a comparison of 2019 fiscal year’s information with the 2018 and 2017 fiscal years® information, with the primary focus
on fiscal year 2019. The intent of this discussion and analysis is to look at the College’s financial performance as a
whole. Comments do not pertain to the College’s discretely presented component unit, the Community College of
Allegheny County Foundation (Foundation). The Foundation’s financial results are presented in a columnar format on the
basic financial statements with further information found in the notes to the financial statements. Readers should also

review the basic financial statements and the notes to the basic financial statements to enhance their understanding of the
College’s financial performance.

RESULTS IN BRIEF

» Total net position decreased $0.6 million in 2019.
¢ Restricted net position decreased by $2.6 million to $3.8 million.
o  Unrestricted net position was $22.8 million at June 30, 2019 and reflected a decrease of $6.5 million.
- Unrestricted net position includes designations by the Board of Trustees and other reserves. These
designations and reserves decreased by $3.8 million to $8.6 million.
- The unassigned net position decreased $2.7 million (16 %) to $14.1 million in 2019.
« Net investment in capital assets increased $8.5 million.
» The College had $81.6 million in bond debt outstanding. This represents a decrease of $4.3 million from 2018.
s The College’s investment bond rating from Moody’s Investor Service is A3 and inclhides a stable outlook.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The College continues fo position itself for the challenging economic enviromment in which it operates. Full-time
equivalent (FTE) enrollment decreased 3% from 28,100 in 2018 to 27,200 in 2019, The College increased credit tuition
by $3.00 per credit hour, where rates for Allegheny County residents increased from $110.00 to $113.00 per credit hour,
and a proportional increase was made for out-of-county and out-of-state residents. From an expense management
perspective, the College continues to monitor and control discretionary spending,

CCAC remains committed to enhancing services to its students that will contribute to their overall success. The College
budgeted $1.8 million in its 2019 fiscal year operating budget for programnmatic, facility and IT strategic initiatives. The
College budgeted $0.2 million for a theater system upgrade and $0.3 million to upgrade software to assist in student
success and recrwitment. In addition, College IT strategic initiatives include campus digital signage projects, an
emergency mass communication alert system for students and staff, enbanced and upgraded website, and continued
investment in IT infrastructure and security solutions.

Operating revenues increased $2.3 million (5%) from $45.7 million in 2018 to $48.0 million in 2019.  Student tuition
and fees net of scholarship allowances increased by $1.9 million (6%). The increase was primarily due to decreased
scholarship allowances of $3.4 million. The increase in tuition and fees net of allowances was also attributable to an
increase of $3.00 per credit hour of tuition, which was partially offset by a 3% decrease in FTE enrollment. Federal, state,

local, and nongavernmental prants and contracts revenues increased by $0.4 million (3%), as the result of new grants and
additional funding on existing grants.

Operating expenses increased $5.4 million (4%) from $129.3 millicn in 2018 to $134.7 million in 2019. Note 14 details
total operating expenses by both natural and functional classification. Functionally, instruction expenses increased $0.8
million {2%), academic support decreased $0.5 million (5%), student services increased $0.4 million (3%), institutional
support increased $1.6 million (6%), plant operations increased $0.6 million {4%), student aid increased $2.1 million (37%)
and depreciation increased $0.4 million (4%). By expense category type, salaries and wages decreased $0.9 million (1%),
benefits increased $2.5 million (13%), supplies and services increased $1.4 million (7%0), utilities decreased $0.1 million
(3%0), scholarships and fellowships increased $2.1 million (37%), and depreciation increased $0.4 million (4%).
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

The increase is primarity due to expenses related to instruction, student and instifutional support, and student aid for
increases in benefits and healthcare costs, supplies and other services, and student aid related to the various classes and
programs that are offered.

Total assets decreased by $5.5 million (2%) from $236.6 million to $231.1 million at June 30, 2019. The decrease is
mainly due to a $7.8 million (22%) decrease in current cash and cash equivalents, a $3.9 million (13%) decrease
restricted cash and cash equivalents related to payments on capital projects, and a $0.5 million (20%) decrease in amounts
due from the Foundation, federal government and other governmental entities. The decreases were partially offset by a
$5.5 million (3%) increase in net capital assets for completed capital projects, a $0.9 million (22%) increase in prepaid
expenses and other assets, and a $0.3 million (4%) increase in net student and third-party sponsor receivables due to
increased credit tuition fees of $3.00 per credit hour.

Total liabilities decreased $3.6 million (3%) from $117.2 million to $113.6 million at June 30, 2019. The decrease is
primarily due to a $4.7 million (5%) decrease in long-term obligations, a $0.9 million {100%) decrease in the retirement
incentive plan, a $0.8 million (8%) decrease in other miscellaneous liabilities and a $0.2 million (8%) decrease in
unearned revenue due to the decrease in FTEs and the variability of course starf dates. The decrease was partially offset
by a $2.1 million (30%) increase in the College’s allocation of the pet pension and other post-employment benefits
liability and a $0.9 (20%) increase in accounts payable.

During fiscal year 2019, the College received $4.7 million from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (State) for debt
service and capital projects. The College also received approval from the State to fund 50%, or $2.7 million, of the §5.4
million West Hall Backfill - Phase II Renovation project. The College must provide a 50% match for this project.

During fiscal 2019, the College expended $4.2 million on construction projects for improvements fo academic buildings,
physical plant and the College’s infrastructure. The projects included $0.1 million for the KLI Science Center, $1.2
million for construction of the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1, $0.3 million on College-wide parking lots and roads,
$2.5 million for the HVAC and electrical upgrades, and $0.1 million on other deferred maintenance projects.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The College’s 2019 fiscal year financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual

basis of accounting. The College follows accounting principles issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB).

The statements are prepared on the accrual basis and present all assets, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of
resources and liabilities of the College, both financial and capital and classified between short- and long-term. They also
present all revenues and expenses of the Coliege during the year, regardless of when cash was received or paid.
Collectively, the statements provide information regarding the College’s financial position as of June 30, 2019 and 2018
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the years then ended. Although the Foundation is considered a
component unit of the College, the Management’s Discussion and Analysis will focus on the activities of the College
only. See the Foundation’s separately issued audited financial statements for further information.

The financial statements incorporate three basic financial statements and the notes thereto. The statements are:
« Statements of Net Position
s Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

e Statements of Cash Flows
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COLLEGE AS A WHOLE
Statements of Net Position
The statements of net position presents the financial position of the College at the end of each year. It displays all of the

College’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows. The difference between assets, deferred outflows,
liabilities and deferred inflows is net position.

NET POSITION
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Deferred outflows and deferred inflows that relate to the refunding of debt, net pension liability, and net other post-
employment benefit (OPEB) liability were excluded from the above chart, as they only represent a small portion of the net
position. Amounts of approximately $4.4 million, $3.3 million and $2.9 million for the years ended 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, were recorded for deferred outtlows. Amounts of approximately $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million
for the years ended 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were recorded for deferred inflows.

Assets

Total 2019 assets decreased by $5.5 million (2%) from $236.6 million to $231.1 million at June 306, 2019, principally due
to the following factors:

s Restricted cash and cash equivalents (current and noncurrent) decreased $3.9 million (13%) related to payments
on capital projects.

+ Net capital assets increased $5.5 million (3%) mainly due to construction projects for improvements to academic
buildings, physical plant and the College’s infrastructure. The projects included $0.1 million for the KLI Science
Center, $1.2 miilion for construction of the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1, $5.0 million to upgrade the IT
network and infrastructure $0.3 million on College-wide parking lots and roads, $2.5 million for the HVAC and
electrical upgrades. In addition, spending for computer equipment, other equipment and A.V. equipment
increased by $2.1 million. Other miscellaneous capital assets increased by $1.5 million. These increases were
partially offset by an increase in accumulated depreciation net of retirements of $7.2 million.

o Net student and third-party sponsor receivables increased $0.3 million (4%) due to increased credit tuition fees of
$3.00 per credit hour which was partially offset by a 3% decrease of FTE enroliment.
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e Prepaid expenses and other assets increased by $0.9 million (22%) due to prepayments of maintenance
agreements related to the computer network upgrade project.

» Current cash and cash equivalents decreased $7.8 million (22%).

+  Due from the Foundation and other governmental entities decreased $0.5 million (20%).

Total 2018 assets increased by $21.0 million (10%) from $215.6 million to $236.6 million at June 30, 2018, principally
due to the following factors:

» Restricted cash and cash equivalents (current and noncurrent) increased $20.0 million (217%) primarily due to the
Series 2018 bond issue for the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1 project.

» Net capital assets increased $3.3 million (2%) mainly due to construction projects for improvements to academic
buildings, physical plant and the College’s infrastructure. The projects included $0.1 million for the KLI Science
Center, $1.3 million for construction of the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1, $0.1 million to improve campus
labs, $0.5 million on the Allegheny backfill renovation project (renovation of the space vacated as a result of the
compleied Science Center Building), $0.1 million on College-wide parking lots and roads, $1.8 million on roofs
and decks, $1.6 million for the HVAC and electrical upgrades, $0.4 million on safety and security upgrades and
$1.0 million on other deferred maintenance projects. In addition, spending for computer equipment, other
equipment and AV equipment increased by $2.0 million. Other miscellaneous capital assets increased by $2.0

million. These increases were partially offset by an increase in accumulated depreciation net of retirements of
$7.6 million.

e Net student and third-party sponsor receivables increased $1.3 million (23%) due to increased credit tuition fees
of $2.25 per credit hour and a 2% increase of FTE enroliment,

s Prepaid expenses and other assets increased by $1.0 million (26%) due to an increase in the healthcare premiums
paid to the Allegheny County Schools Health Insurance Consortium in excess of plan expenditures.

s  Current cash and cash equivalents decreased $4.4 million (11%).

s Due from the Foundation and other governmental entities decreased $0.2 million (8%5).

Deferred Quiflows of Resources

The deferred charges on refunding debt, in the amount of $1.0 million, $1.1 mitlon and $1.2 million for fiscal years 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively, relate to the refunding of the College’s Series 2016 Bonds, the Second Series of 2004 Siate
Public School Building Authority (SPSBA) Bonds and Series of 2005 SPSBA Bonds, as discussed in the notes to the
financial statements. The deferred charges on refunding of debt are spent on fture capital items.

The deferred charges on net pension liability, in the amount of $3.4 million, $2.2 million and $1.7 million for the fiscal
vears 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, represent differences between expected and actual experience, net differences
between projected and actual investment earnings and contributions subsequent to the measurement date.

The deferred charges on net OPEB liability, in the amount of $0.08 million: and $0.04 million for the fiscal years 2019 and
2018, respectively, represent differences between expected and actual experience, net differences between projected and
actual investment earnings and contributions subsequent to the measurement date.

Deferred outflows of resources have a positive effect on net position similar to assets.
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Liabilities

Total 2019 liabilities decreased $3.6 million (3%) from $117.2 million to $113.6 million at June 30, 2019, primarily due
to the following reasons:

« Long-term obligations decreased $4.7 million (5%:), as scheduled payments were made and an additional debt of
$1.6 million was incurred for the new computer replacement cycle.

e Net pension and OPEB hability increased $2.1 million (30%) due mainly to market factors and actuarial
assumptions.

¢ Unearned revenue decreased $0.2 million (8%) due to a decrease in FTEs and the variability of course start dates.
o  Other miscellaneous liabilities decreased $0.8 million (8%).

» Accounts payable increased $0.9 million (20%), mainly due to timing differences.

e Early retirement incentive plan decreased $0.9 mitlion (100%) due to making the final required payment.

Total 2018 liabilities increased $19.5 million (20%) from $97.6 million to $117.2 million at June 30, 2018, primarily due
to the following reasons:

» Long-term obligations increased $18.4 million (25%) related to the series 2018 bond issue for the Workforce
Training Center - Phase 1 project.

s Net pension and OPEB liability increased $1.0 million (16%) due mainly to market factors, assumptions and the
implementation of GASB 75.

e Unearned revepue increased $1.0 million (71%) due to an increase in FTEs and the variability of course start
dates.

e  Other miscellaneous Habilities increased $0.6 million (6%).

¢ Accounts payable decreased $0.6 million (12%), mainly due to timing differences.

¢ Barly retirement incentive plan decreased $0.9 million (50%) due to making the required payment.
Deferred Inflows of Resources

The deferred inflows related to the net pension liability, in the amount of $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million for
the fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, represent net differences between projected and actual investment

earnings, changes in proportions and differences between employer contributions and proportionate share of total
contributions.

The deferred inflows related to the net OPEB lability, in the amount of $0.008 million for each of the fiscal years 2019
and 2018, respectively, represent net differences between projected and actual investment earnings, changes in
proportions and differences between employer contributions and proportionate share of total contributions.

The deferred inflows have a negative effect to net position similar to Habilities.
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Net Position

Total net position decreased $0.6 million (0.5%) from $122.3 million to $121.7 million during fiscal year 2019, as
compared to an increase in total net position of $1.8 million from $120.5 million to $122.3 million during fiscal 2018.

Net Investment in Capital Assefs

During fiscal year 2019, capital assets, net of refated debt increased $8.5 million (10%) from $86.7 mitlion to $95.2
million at June 30, 2019. This increase is due to the change in long-term debt and issue costs of $3.0 million and a §5.5
million increase in capital assets net of depreciation due to construction projects for improvements to academic buildings,
physical plant and the College’s infrastructure. The projects inciuded land improvements to the KI.I Science Center,
construction of the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1, improvements to College-wide parking lots and roads, HVAC
and electrical upgrades, safety and security upgrades and deferred maintenance projects. In addition, the College acquired
computer equipment, updated the technology infrastructure, and other equipment and A.V equipment.

During fiscal year 2018, capital assets, net of related debt increased $5.0 million (6%) from $81.7 million to $86.7 miilion
at June 30, 2018. This increase is due to the change in long-term debt and issue costs of $1.7 million and a $3.3 million
increase n capital assets net of depreciation due to consfruction projects for improvements to academic buildings,
physical plant and the College’s infrastructure. The projects included mechanical improvements to the KLI Science
Center, constraciion of the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1, improvements to campus labs, the Allegheny backfill
renovation project (renovation of the space vacated as a result of the completed Science Center Building), improvements
to College-wide parking lots and roads, the replacement of roofs and decks, HVAC and electrical upgrades, safety and

security upprades and deferred maintenance projects.  In addition, the College acquired computer equipment, other
equipment and A.V equipment.

Restricted Net Position

During fiscal year 2019, restricted net position decreased $2.6 million (41%) from $6.4 million to $3.8 million at June 30,
2019. This decrease was mainly due to the expenditure of bond proceeds for capital outlay projects including techiology

infrastructure upgrades, phone system replacement, electrical upgrades, replacement of backup power systems, and other
miscellaneous capital outlay projects.

During fiscal year 2018, restricted net position decreased $3.4 million (35%) from §9.8 million to $6.4 million at June 30,
2018. This decrease was mainfy due to the expenditure of bond proceeds for capital outlay projects including the backfill
renovation preject, roofs and decks, electrical upgrades, replacement of backup power systems, and College-wide building
security upgrades and other miscellaneous capital outlay projects.

Unrestricted Position

Board-Designated Campus Building Projects

For the fiscal year 2013, the reserve was increased $0.05 million from the state capital framework funding of the South
Campus Egress Road project and decreased for expenses incurred of $5.8 million for the Science Center and $0.005
million for the Science Lab-West Hills, reducing the reserve to $2.1 million as of June 30, 2013. For the fiscal year 2014,
expenses of $0.5 miltion were incurred for the Science Center, reducing the reserve to $1.6 million as of June 30, 2014.
For the fiscal year 2015, $0.7 million in net operating funds were board-designated to increase the campus building
projects reserve, resulting in a balance of $2.3 million. The reserves are used fo fund various capital projects. For the
fiscal year 2016, board-designated operating transfers-in and revenues exceeded expenses by $1.0 million, increasing the
reserve to $3.3 million as of June 30, 2016. For the fiscal year 2017, board-designated operating transfers-in, the receipt of
a legal settlement of $0.5 million related to the construction of the Science Center, and revenues exceeded expenses by
$1.1 million, increasing the reserve to $4.9 million as of June 30, 2017, For the fiscal year 2018, board-designated
operating transfers and revenue exceeded expenses by $0.8 million.
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This increase was offset by the College Board of Trustees® (Board) removal of $1.2 million of the designation related to
the Science Center project due to project completion and subsequent transfer to the Reserves for Future Capital Projects.
This resulted in a decrease of the reserve to $4.5 million as of June 30, 2018. For the fiscal yvear 2019, expenses for the
Science Center and Technology Infrastracture Upgrade projects exceeded board-designated operating transfers and
revenues by $1.9 million, reducing the reserve to $2.6 million as of June 30, 2019.

Reserve for Facilities, Emergency and Other Compelling Needs

At the November 2008 mecting of the Board, annual operating budget policy was revised to call for an administrative
process that annually sefs aside a portion of projected revenues and existing unrestricted net position to create a reserve
for future years for ongoing facilities maintenance, renovations, construction and other emergencies or compelling needs.
During fiscal year 2008, a $4.0 million reserve was established and increased by an additional $2.0 million in fiscal year
2009 and again by $0.3 million in fiscal year 201G. As of June 30, 2010, $6.3 million had been set aside in this reserve.
For fiscal 2011, the reserve was decreased by $3.1 millien for maintenance projects, resulting in a total of $3.2 million
now set aside in this reserve. For fiscal 2012, expenses of $0.03 million were incurred for maintenance projects and $1.0
million was transferred to the reserve for future operations, reducing the reserve to $2.2 million as of June 30, 2012. For
fiscal 2013, the reserve remained unchanged at $2.2 million as of June 30, 2013, For fiscal 2014, expenses of $0.2 million
were incurred for maintenance projects, reducing the reserve to $2.0 million as of June 30, 2014. For fiscal year 2015, IT
infrastructure and operating transfers increased the capital outlay for compelling needs and Allegheny Campus parking lot
upgrades by $0.6 million, bringing the balance to $2.5 million. For fiscal 2016, the Board designated $1.0 million from
the reserve for future operations to the reserve for facilities, emergency and other compelling needs. That, plus transfers-
in plus miscellaneous revenues exceed expenses by $0.7 million, thereby increasing the reserve to $3.2 million as of
June 30, 2016. For fiscal 2017, expenses and board-designated transfers-out to fund deferred maintenance projects and the
State match required for the electrical power upgrades loan exceeded revenues by $0.3 million. In addition, the College
transferred $0.3 million from this reserve to the reserve for Future Capital Projects. This resulted in a decrease of the
reserve to $2.6 million as of June 30, 2017. For fiscal 2018, board-designated transfers-in from Future Capital Projects
and miscellaneous revenues to fund network upgrades and the State match for the hot site and HVAC upgrades projecis
exceeded transfers-out and expenses by $1.6 million, resulting in an increase of the reserve to $4.2 million as of June 30,
2018. For fiscal 2019, board-designated transfers-out and expenses to fund network infrastructure upgrades, deferred
maintenance, and the State match required for the electrical power and HVAC wupgrade project loans exceeded
miscellaneous revenues by $1.9 miflion, resulting in a decrease of the reserve to $2.3 million as of June 30, 2019,

Reserves for Future Operations

In 2017, the increase in the reserve for Future Operations was generated by a strong fiscal performance during the year
and management’s focus of expense containment and also reflects an increase in the College’s investment held in an
insurance consortinm, where the annual premivms paid by the College exceed the amount of ¢laims paid on the College’s
behalf during the year. The reserve totaled $7.4 million as of June 30, 2017. For fiscal 2018, the reserve decreased by
$0.78 million due to recording the net penmsion liability amount of $0.8 million, which was partially offset by
miscellaneous revenues of $0.2 million. In addition, as of July 1, 2017, the College adopted GASB Statement 75 and
recorded an adjustment to reduce net position by $0.16 miilion to record the beginning balance of the net OPEB liability
and recognized an additional reduction of $0.02 million for the current year impact. This resulted in a decrease of the
reserve to $6.6 million as of June 30, 2018. For fiscal 2019, the reserve decreased by $3.6 million, primarily due to
* recording the net pension and other post-employment benefit liability amount of $2.1 million, resulting in 2 decrease of
the reserve to $3.0 million as of June 30, 2019.

At the Jamuary 2019 meeting of the Board, the annual operating budget policy was revised to call for an administrative
process that annually sets aside a portion of the actval current fund operating revenues and existing unrestricted net
position to maintain an Unrestricted Reserve Fund for future years for either Undesignated reserves or for Designated
reserves for ongoing facilities maintenance, renovations, construction and other emergencies or compelling needs,
including, but not limited to, legal, technological, safety/risk management, academic or other financial imperatives,
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After actual current fund operating revenues used to fund current operating needs and strategic goals for the current fiscal
year have been identified, it is the goal to generate excess revenues to provide for an ongoing unrestricted reserve balance
at a level equal to at least 15% of the annual actual current fund operating revenues.

Reserves for Future Capital Projects

In 2017, the College established a reserve for Future Capital Projects that will be used to fund future capital projects. The
reserve balance was $3.8 million as of June 30, 2017. For fiscal 2018, board-designated transfers out to fund network
infrastructure upgrades and the required State match for the hot site and HVAC upgrades projects exceeded revenues by
$2.5 million. This decrease was partially offset by the Board’s removal of $1.2 million of the designation related to the
Science Center project and subsequent transfer to the Reserves for Future Capital Projects, resulting in a decrease of the
reserve to $2.5 million as of June 30, 2018. For fiscal 2019, board-designated transfers in and a gain on the sale of surplus
assets exceeded expenses by $0.4 million, resulting in an increase to the reserve to $2.9 million as of June 30, 2019.

Condensed information from the College’s statements of net position follows:

Fiscal Year ended June 30

2019 2018 2017
Assets:
Current assets 46,916,873 53,363,504 52,328,603
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net 163,541,602 158,071,496 154,729,254
Other 20,618,814 25,131,947 8,559,412
Total Noncurrent assets 184,160,416 183,203,443 163,288,666
Total Assets 231,077,289 236,567,037 215,617,269
Deferred Outflow of Resources:
Total Deferred Qutflow of Resources 4,426,161 3,328,297 2,900,883
Liabilities:
Current liabilities 23,797,543 24,549,886 22,053,906
Noncwrrent Labilities 89,763,572 92,686,147 75,605,673
Total Liabilities 113,561,115 117,236,033 97,659,579
Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred charge on net pension liability 225,815 342,768 342,519
Net Pesition:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 95,183,084 36,665,038 81,639,074
Restricted:
Expendable 3,772,270 6,380,672 9,844,819
Nonexpendable - - -
Total restricted 3,772,270 6,380,672 9,844,819
Unrestricted 22,761,166 29,270,823 29,032,161
Total Net Position 121,716,520 122,316,533 120,516,054
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position is very similar to an operating statement, with the
exception that State and County appropriations, investment income and capital gifts and grants are not classified as
operating income. Another important difference is the manner in which tuition and fee revenues are reported. Tuition and
fees are reported net of student aid. Other federal and state financial aid and nongovernmental financial aid sources are
reported as operating revenues, except for Federal Pell grants, which are reporfed as nonoperating, based upon guidance
from the GASB. For the College, this required presentation as nonoperating revenue results in 2 large net operating loss,
which is offset by nonoperating revennes. The below chart illusirates the change in net position, which incorporates the
impact of nonoperating revenues on the College’s {inancial outcomes {or the year.

REVENUES and EXPENSES
{In Miilions)

B®2017

|/2018 |
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: A ¥

Operating Revenues
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Operating Fxpenses  Net Non-operating Revenues
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Revenues

The College has several streams of operating revenues that supplement its student tuition and fees. As detailed in the
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, this includes federal grants and contracts, state and local
grants and contracts, nongovernmental grants and contracts and auxiliary enterprises. The College continues to seek
funding from all possible sources to supplement student tuition and to responsibly manage financial resources used to
fund operating activities.

Operating Revenues

Total 2019 operating reverues increased $2.3 million (5%) from $45.7 million in 2018 to $48.0 million in 2019, mainly
due to the following factors:

e Student tuition and fees net of scholarship allowances increased $1.9 million (6%); the increase was primarily due
to a $3.4 million decrease of scholarship allowances. The overall decrease was partially offset by an increase of
$3.00 per credit hour of tuition the impact of which was reduced by a 3% decrease in FTE enrollment.

s Federal, state, local, and nongovernmental grants and contracts revenues increased by $0.4 million (3%), as the

result of new grants and additional funding on existing grants. The increase was partially offset by the decrease in
FTE enrollment.
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Total 2018 operating revenues decreased $1.5 million (3%) froin $47.2 million in 2017 to $45.7 million in 2018, mainly
due to the following factors:

¢ Student tuition and fees net of scholarship allowances decreased $2.7 million (8%0); the decrease was primarily
due to a $2.9 million increase of scholarship allowances. The overall decrease was partially offset by an increase
of $2.25 per credit hour of tuition and a 2% increase in FTE enrollment.

= Federal grants and contracts increased by $1.3 million (21%) as the result of new grants and additional funding on
existing grants.

«  Other miscellaneous revenues decreased by $0.1 million.
Operating Expenses

Total 2019 operating expenses increased $5.4 million (4%) from $129.3 million in 2018 to $134.7 million in 2019, due to
the following:

» Salaries and wages decreased $0.9 million (1%} as a result of the decrease in FTE that was partially offset by
salaries and wages increases.

* Benefit expense increased $2.5 million (13%) primarily related to increases in healthcare, retirement and other
benefits.

» Supplies and other services increased $1.4 miltion (7%), primarily due to increased spending in student services
for various grants, plant operations and maintenance, and other miscellaneous spending.

a  Scholarships and fellowships increased $2.1 million (37%), due to mix of the eligibility of students.
s Utilities decreased $0.1 million (3%).
s Depreciation and amortization increased $0.4 million (4%).

Total 2018 operating expenses increased $2.4 million (2%) from $126.9 million in 2017 to $129.3 million in 2018, due to
the following:

s Salaries and wages increased $1.7 million (2%) and benefit expense rervained level, due to salaries and wages
increases.

» Supplies and other services increased $1.2 million (7%), primarily due to increased spending in instruction and
student services for various grants and other miscellaneous spending.

= Scholarships and fellowships decreased $1.3 million (19%), due to mix of the eligibility of students.
»  Utilities increased $0.1 million (4%).
« Depreciation and amortization increased $0.7 million (9%).

Nonoperating Revennes (Expenses)

Total 2019 nonoperating revenues increased $0.6 million (1%) from $85.5 million in 2018 to $86.1 million in 2019,
largely due to the following factors:
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o State revenues increased by $1.3 million (3%), mainly due to a $0.9 million increase in state operating funding
and a $0.4 million increase related to capital projects.

+ County appropriations increased $1.0 million (4%), due to the County’s legislation requiring a 2% increase in
appropriations each year and $0.5 million in capital funding for the Workforce Training Center - Phase 1 project.

= U.S. government revenues decreased by $1.7 million (7%), due to a decrease in the fiscal year 2019 Federal Pell
grants, as a result of the FTE enrollment decreasing and the eligibility of students.

» Foundation, investment income and other nonoperating revenues remained level.

Total 2018 nonoperating revenues increased $1.6 million (2%) from $83.9 million ix 2017 to $85.5 million in 2018,
largely due to the following factors:

= State revenues increased by $0.5 million (1%), mainly due to an increase in state funding related to capital
projects of $0.5 million.

s County appropriations increased $0.5 million (2%), due to the County’s legislation requiring a 2% increase in
appropriations each year.

¢ U.S. government revenues increased by $1.0 million (4%), due to an increase in the fiscal year 2018 federal Pell
grants, as a result of the FTE enrollment increasing and the eligibility of students.

e Foundation, investment income and other nonoperating revenues decreased $0.4 million (37%).

Condensed information from the Collepe’s statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position follows:

Fiscal Year ended June 30

2019 2018 2017
Operating revenues:
Student tuition and fees, net 34,410,011 b 32,517,434 35,194,775
Federal, state and local grants and contracts 9,925,545 9,688,162 8,628,585
Nongovernmental grants and contracts 2,962,832 2,792,113 2,664,692
Auxiliary enterprises 667,338 649,850 688,777
Total Operating Revenues 47,965,726 45,647,559 47,176,829
Operating expenses:
Academic and student support and services 101,156,986 98,908,062 96,586,291
Scholarships and fellowships (financial aid) 7,904,952 5,779,581 7,115,021
Plant operations 25,538,936 24,579,172 23,131,118
Auxiliary operations 78,452 63,654 68,172
Total Operating Expenses 134,679,326 129,330,469 126,900,602
Net Operating Loss {86,713,600) $  (83,682,910) (79,723,773)
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Yiscal Year ended June 30

2019 2018 2017
Nonoperating revenues:

Government appropriations 87,520,949 b} 86,933,423 h 85,006,226

Investment, Foundation and other income 1,457,489 969,743 860,848

Other nonoperating revenues - net 203,990 70,389 303,833
Total Nonoperating Revenues 89,182,428 87,973,555 86,170,907

Nongoperating expenses:

Interest expense 3,068,841 2,490,166 2,225,851
Total Nonoperating Expenses 3,068,841 2,490,166 2,225,851
Net Nonoperating Revenues 86,113,587 85,483,380 83,045,036

{Decrease) increase in net position {600,013) 1,800,479 4,221,283
Net Position - beginning of vear 122,316,533 120,516,054 116,294,771
Net Position - end of year 121,716,520 $ 122,316,533 $ 120,516,054
TOTAL REVENUES 137,148,154 $ 133,621,114 $  133.347,736
TOTAL EXPENSES 137,748,167 $ 131,820,635 $ 129,126,453
State Appropriations

The State funding for fiscal years prior to 2006 was subject to audit disallowances, and funding for prior fiscal years has
- been resolved and to the extent that liabilities due the State are explained as follows;

+ TFiscal year 2003: Final settlement for this fiscal year was reached with the State during fiscal 2011.
Disallowances totaled $1,145,088, of which $553,005 was waived with final the amount of $592,083 due to the
Commonwealth. Thirty quarterly payments of $19,736 started in fiscal year 2011 with the second, third and
fourth quarterly payment. The remaining liability at June 30, 2013 was $374.984. The remaining liability at June
30, 2014 was $296,040. The remaining liability at June 30, 2015 was $217,096. The remaining liability at June
30, 2016 was $138,152. The remaining liability at June 30, 2017 was $59,208. The final payments for this
settlement were made in 2018. There is no remaining liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018.

Unlike years prior to fiscal 2006, the State funding that the College received for 2007 and subsequent fiscal years is final,
not subject to future audit disallowances.

s The College received $32,039,833 from the State for fiscal years 2014, 2013 and 2012. In fiscal year 2015, the
College received $32,568,377 from the State, an increase of $528,544 from 2014. In fiscal year 2016, the College
received $33,988.454 from the State, an increase of $1,420,077 from 2015. In fiscal year 2017, the College
received $34,749,234 from the State, an increase of $760,780 from 2016. In fiscal year 2018, the College received
$34,749,234 in operating appropriations from the State, which was the same amount as 2017. In fiscal year 2019,
the College received $35,685,413 from the State, an increase of $936,179 from the 2018 appropriation.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

State Capital Appropriations

Mandated capital contributions for existing debt service and existing lease obligations have continned, During fiscal years
2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the College received approval from the State for funding of $10.0 million for the
$20.0 million Workforce training Center - Phase 1 project, $1.2 million for the $2.3 million HVAC Upgrades project, $0.5
million for the $1.0 million Create Hot Site for Business continuity project, $7.5 million for the $15.0 million capital
project Ridge Avenue Revitalization-Allegheny Campus project, $1.8 million for the $3.5 million Upgrade Electrical
Power System project, $0.4 million for the $0.8 million Repair/Replace Roofs-Allegheny Campus project, $0.4 million
for $0.8 million project for security upgrades, lab renovations, and other deferred maintenance, $0.5 million for the $0.9
million deferred maintenance project to upgrade the fire alarm system at Office of College Services, $0.4 million for
capital projects that was used to fund deferred maintenance projects at Allegheny and South Campuses, $1.6 million for
the $3.2 million South Campus Egress Road project, $6.7 million for the $13.3 million IT infrastructure upgrades project
and $1.6 million for the $3.1 deferred snaintenance projects at North, South, Allegheny and West Hills. The State funding
is provided for the debt service on these projects and will be received over the amortized life of the debt.

During fiscal year 2019, the College received $4.7 million from the State for debt service and capital projects. The
College also received approval from the State to fund 50% of a capital project for $2.7 million for the $5.4 million West
Hall Backfill - Phase II Renovation project. The College must provide a 50% match for these projects.

County Appropriations
The following is a summary of funding received from the County;

o Fiscal year 2015: The County has appropriated operating funds of $23,705,264 in its calendar year 2014 budget
for the College’s 2015 fiscal year. This appropriation does include the 2% annual increase adopted by County

ordinance. However, the County discontinued the $1.5 million support for capital projects in a separate
appropriation. '

» Fiscal year 2016: The County has appropriated operating funds of $24,179,369 in its calendar year 2015 budget
for the College’s 2016 fiscal year. This appropriation includes the 2% annual increase adopted by County
ordinance.

¢ Fiscal year 2017: The County has appropriated operating funds of $24,662,956 in its calendar year 2016 budget
for the College’s 2017 fiscal year. This appropriation includes the 2% annual increase adopted by County
ordinance.

¢ TFiscal year 2018: The County has appropriated operating funds of $25,156,215 in its calendar year 2017 budget
for the College’s 2018 fiscal year. This appropriation includes the 2% annual increase adopted by County
ordinance.

s Fiscal year 2019: The County has appropriated operating fumds of $25,659,339 in its calendar year 2018 budget
for the College’s 2019 fiscal year. This appropriation includes the 2% annual increase adopted by County
ordinance.

s Fiscal year 2020: The County has appropriated operating funds of $26,172,526 in its calendar year 2019 budget
for the College’s 2020 fiscal year, This appropriation includes the 2% annual increase adopted by County
ordinance. In addition, the County appropriated $800,000 of capital for the College.

Debt and Capital Activity

In March 2019, the College entered into a loan agreement for $1,620,726. The loan proceeds were designated for the
replacement of microcomputer systems, taptops and workstations.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

In April 2018, the College entered into a loan agreement for $2,315,000. The loan proceeds were designated to renovate
and upgrade the College’s HVAC infrastructure to mitigate life safety risk, improve energy efficiency and meet code
compliance.

In May 2018, the College, issued a new $20,000,000 bond issue {Series of 2018), Bond proceeds were designated to
finance the construction of the new Workforce Training Center - Phase 1.

In September 2016, the College refunded its Series of 2008 Bond. The $9,250,000 issue became the Series of 2016
Bonds. The issuance totaled $10,198,333 and included the $9,805,000 retirement of the Series 2008 Bonds. The
refunding resulted in $1,089,779 in savings to be recognized.

In November 2016 and March 2017, the College entered into two loan agreements totaling $3,500,000. The loan proceeds
were designated to upgrade the College’s electrical infrastructure to mitigate life safety risk and electrical oufages,
improve energy efficiency and meet code compliance.

In June 2015, the College issued a new $4,000,000 bond issue (Series of 2015). Bond proceeds were designated to
finance the acquisition and installation of energy-saving facilities, equipment, retro-cominissioning and other enpergy
related upgrades at South Campus.

In June 2012, the College issued a new $40,000,000 bond issue (Series of 2012). Bond proceeds were designated to
finance renovation and improvement projects and ITS infrastructure improvernents,

In August 2011, the College refunded its Series of 2005 Bonds. The $4,445,000 issue became the Series of 2011 Bonds.
The issvance totaled $4,505,112 and included the $4,330,000 retirement of the 2005 bonds. The refunding resulted in
$182,226 in savings to be recognized.

In September 2011, the College refunded its second Series of 2004 Bonds. The $15,800,000 issue became the Series A of
2011 Bonds. The issuance totaled $16,382,827 and included the $15,515,000 retirement of the second Series of 2004
Bonds. The refunding resutied in $936,014 in savings to be recognized.

The $22,000,000 million bond issuance during fiscal 2008 provided the funding for a new 65,000-square-foot Science
Center, plus other renovation projects, including academie infrastructure upgrades, infrastructure modifications to comply
with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), building exterior infrastructure repairs and elevator and escalator
upgrades. Construction of the Science Center project was completed in 2013.

Economic Outiook

State appropriations, County appropriations, student tuition and fees, and federal grants and confracts compose the
College’s principal revenue sources and support the College’s operational needs and its abilities to expand programs
and pursue other initiatives. The viability of each of these four critical revenue components is highly dependent on
variables external to the College such as enrollment trends, local and state economic conditions, federal, state and local
legislative actions and others. The College’s ability to manage fluctuations within these revenue sources, as well asg
potential increases in employee related costs, will be vital to its continued success. The College continues a number of
budgetary measures, including expanding operational efficiencies and energy-saving initiatives and moving forward
with the College’s Facilities Master Plan. During 2018, the College completed a multi-year update of the Facilities
Master Plan, which will be used as a tool 1o assess CCAC’s current condition and needs, to create a vision, and to
prepare for the future.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Statements of Net Position
As of June 30, 2019 and 201 8

2019 2018
CCAC CCAC
Educational Educational
CCAC Foundation CCAC Foundation
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,808,417 5 35,593,376
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,986,433 4,447,396
Investments - -
Due from federal govermment 301,267 887.380
Due from foundation and other 497,009 362,311
Due from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 791,256 746,086
Due from student and third-party sponsors - net of allowances
of $11,021,826 and $10,266,674, respectively 7,455,285 7,174,514
Unconditional promises to give - net of allowance
of $30,000 - -
Prepaid expenses and other assets 5,077,206 < 4,152 531
Total Current Assets 46,916,873 18,449 336 53,363,594 11,810,638
Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20,231,311 24,712 223
Prepaid debt insurance 387,503 419,724
Capital assets - net 163,541,602 ; 158,071,496
Total Noncurrent Assets 184,160,416 - 183,203,443 -
Total Assets 231,077,289 18,449.336 236,567,037 11,810,638
Deferred Outflow of Resources:
Deferred charges on refunding debt 970,914 1,096,032
Deferred charges on net pension liability 3,380,102 2,190,272
Deferred charges on other post-employment benefit liabality 75,145 : 41,993
Total Deferred Qutflow Of Resources 4,426,161 - 3,328,297 -
Total Assets And Deferred Outflow Of Resources $ 235,503,450 $ 18,449 336 $239,895,334 $11,810,638

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 5328840 $ 44457352
Accrued salaries and wages 3,675,950 3,760,369
Compensaied absences 3,057,477 3,065,628
Retirement incentive plan - 873,802
Other accrred labilities 3,051,675 3,838,932
Due to Community College of Allegheny County - -
Uncamned revenue 2,186,081 2,380,318
Long-term obligations - current portion 6,497,520 . S 6,185,485 T
Total Current Liabilities 23,797,543 205,130 24,549,886 214,752
Noncurrent I iabilities:
Long-term obligations 80,716,133 85,735,699
Net pension liability 8,824,439 6,769,448
Net other post-employment benefit liability 223,000 = 181,000
Total Nopcurrent Liabilities 89,763,572 - 92,686,147 -
Total Liabilities 113,561,115 205,130 117,236,033 214,752
Deferred Inflow of Resources:
Deferred amounts on net pension liability 217,815 334,768
Deferred amounts on net post-employment benefit Lability 8,000 8,000
Total Deferred Inflow Of Resources 225,815 342,768
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 95,183,084 86,665,038
Restricted:
Expendable 3,772,270 9,422,585 6,380,672
Nonexpendable - TR T 48,] [ - y
Total Restricted 3,772,270 13,970,686 6,380,672 7,593,097
Unrestricted 22,761,166 4,273,520 29,270,823 4,002,789
Total Net Position 121,716 520 18,244,206 122,316,533 11,595,886
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflow Of Resources And Net Position $ 235,503,450 $ 18,449,336 $ 239,895,334 $11,810,638

See notes to financial statements.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the vears ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
CCAC CCAC
Educational Educational
CCAC Foundation CCAC Foundation

Operating Revenues:
Student tuition and fees - net of scholarships
allowances of $20,520,830 and

$23,965,035, respectively $ 34,410,011 $ 32,517,434
Federal grants and contracts 7,016,528 7,372,856
State and local grants and contracts 2,909,017 2,315,306
Nongovernmental grants and contracts 2,962,832 2,792,113
Contributed services - -
Special events - -
Sponsorship income - -
Auxiliary services 667,338 ‘ : 649,850 .
Total Operating Revenues 47,065,726 8,557,241 45,647,559 3,511,293
Operating Expenses:
Instroction 51,440,504 50,676,203
Academic support 8,807,450 9,279,813
Student services and activities 15,183,269 14,791,796
Institutional support 25,725,723 24,160,250
Plant operations and mainienavce 16,573,675 15,980,545
Scholarships and fellowships (financial aid) 7,904,952 5,779,581
Depreciation and amortization 8,965,261 8,598,627
Program services - -
Management and general - -
Fundraising, - -
Auxiliary enterprises:
Bookstore 78,452 63,654
Total Operating Expenses 134,679,326 2,372,334 129,330,469 2,503,068
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME (86,713,600) 6,184,907 {83,682,910) 1,008,225
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Government appropriations;
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 40,324,950 39,049,249
Allegheny County 26,159,339 25,156,215
U.S. Governoment 21,036,660 22,727,959
Investment income 686,161 198,444
Foundation and other income 771,328 771,299
Interest expense (3,068,841) (2,490,166)
Other nonoperating revenues - net 203,990 AR 70,389 : SRR
Total Net Nonoperating Revenues 86,113,587 463,413 85,483,389 728,826
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN NET POSITION (600,013) 6,648,320 1,800,479 1,737,051
NET POSITION - Beginning of year 122,316,533 11,595,886 120,516,054 9,858,835
NET POSITION - End of year $ 121,716,520 $ 18,244,206 $ 122,316,533 $11,595,886

See notes to financial statements.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

CCAC
2019 2018
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Tuition and fees $ 27,333,409 § 35,250,627

Grants and contracts 13,429,320 11,927,358

Payments to suppliers {39,001,329) (32,336,201)

Payments to employees (80,959,533) (92,426,069)

Bookstore receipts 667,338 649,850

Auxiliary payments (78,452) (63.654)

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities {78,669,247) (76,998,089)
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:

State appropriations 40,324,950 39,049,249

County appropriations 26,159,339 25,156,215

Federal appropriations v 21,036,660 22,727,959

Foundation and other receipts/payments - net 711,366 1,702,413

et Cash Flows Provided By Noncapital Financing Activities 88,232,315 88,635,836
Cash Flows From Capital And Related Financing Activities:

Proceeds of loans and bond issnance 1,745,844 23,619,539

Purchases of capital assets (14,410,390) (12,135,320)

Principal paid on capital debt and leases (6,058,600) (4.850,181)

Interest paid on capital debt and leases (3,357,194) (2,737,965)

Other recetpts/payments - net 104,277 (204,844)

Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Capital And Related Financing Activities (21,976,063) 3,691,229
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Interest on investments 686,161 170,570
{(Decrease) Increase In Cash And Cash Equivalents (11,726,834) 15,499,546
Cash And Cash Hquivalents (Including Restricted Cash) - Beginning of year 64,752,995 49,253,449
Cash And Cash Equivalents (Including Restricted Cash) - End of year $ 53,026,161 $ 64,752,995
Reconciliation Of Operating Loss To Net Cash Used In Operating Activities:

Operating loss $ (86,713,600) $ (83,682,910)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating ILoss to Net Cash Used In Operating Activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 8,965,261 8,598,627

Bad debt expense 2,496,900 2,539,031

Loss on disposal of capital assets - 226,671

Change in assets and liabilities:

Receivables (2,236,728) (4,425,250)
Prepaid expenscs and other assets (924,674) {973,375)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (82,884) (1,290,742}
Uneamned tuition and student deposits (194,237 990,593
Other accrued (736,341) 467,479
Deferred outflows (1,222,982) (427.414)
Deferred inflows (116,953) 249
Net pension Hability 2,054,951 797,992
Net other post-employment benefit liability 42,000 181,600

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities:

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Activities:
Dopated fixed assets

See notes to financial statements.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

CCAC
Education Foundation
2019 2018

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Unrealized gain on investments

Change in:
Unconditional promises to give
Contributions restricted for long-term purposes
Due to Community College of Allegheny County
Deferred revenue

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities Sy 3,696,658

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Contributions restricted for long-term purposes

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Net Cash (Used In} Provided By Investing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash

Cash And Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year

3

Cash And Cash Equivalents - End of year S§E3 011,830

See notes to financial statements.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2219 and 2018

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Community College of Allegheny County {College or CCAC) is an institution of higher education. General
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (State or Commonwealth) legislation “The Community College Act of 19637 (Act 1963),
as amended, provides for the establishment of community colleges and for the reimbursement of certain community
college expenditures from State funds appropriated for this purpose. In addition, the State shall reimburse the College for
one-half of all approved capital expenditures, including debt service and net rental costs (gross rentals less amounts
included therein for maintenance). The remaining operating expenses must be provided by the sponsor of the College or
by private sources, non-state public sources and from student tuition. The remaining capitai expenditures must be
provided by the sponsor. Allegheny County (County) is the sponsor of the College. The College is a component unit of
the County, since it is a legally separate organization for which the nature and significance of the relationship with the
County is such that exclusion from the audited financials of the County would cause the financials of the County to be
misleading or incomplete. As a result, the College’s financial statements will be included in the County’s December 31,
2019 comprehensive annual financial report.

The College is exempt from income taxes, except for unrelated business income, as a political subdivision under federal
income tax laws and regulations of the Internal Revenue Service.

The Allegheny County Community College Educational Foundation (Foundation) is a component unit of the College. It
is a legally separate organization for which the nature and significance of the relationship with the College is such that
exclusion would cause the College’s audited financials to be misleading or incomplete. The Foundation’s financial
staternents identify the financial data of the College’s component unit, which is a legally separate, not-for-profit
organization incorporated and operated exclusively for the benefit of the College and is presented as a discrete component
unit in the accompanying financial statements in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 39, Defermining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units - an amendment of GASB Statement
No. I4. 1t is reported separately to emphasize that it is legally separate from the College. The Foundation is a private
nonprofit organization that reports under Financial Accounting Standards Board standards. As such, certain revenue-
recognition criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue-recognition criteria and presentation
features. No modifications have been made to the Foundation’s audited financial information as it is presented herein.
Complete financial statements for the Foundation can be obtained from Mr. James R. McMahon, Executive Director of
the Foundation, 808 Ridge Avenue, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15212-6097. (See also Note 12.)

The College applies GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Ommibus - an amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 34. The objective of this statement is to modify certain requirements for inclusion of
component units in the financial reporting entity.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (U.S. GAAP), using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
The College follows accounting principles issued by the GASB. The financial statements of its component unit are also
presented under the accrual basis of accounting.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to periodically make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenues - Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded
on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the College receives value
without directly giving equal value in retum, include grants, entitlements and donations. Revenue from granfs,
entitlements and donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility
requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the year
when use is first permitted; matching requirements, in which the College must provide local resources to be used for a
specified purpose; and expenditure requirements, in. which the resources are provided to the College on a reimbursement
basis. Reimbursements for operating expenditures from the County and the State are recorded as revenue when eamed.

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue arises when cash is received before revenue recognition criteria has been satisfied. Unearned revenues
are composed of deferred grant revenue and student tuition revenue and deposits, Unearned grant revenue represents
monies received on approved grants in advance of incurring the corresponding expenses. Student deposits and tuition
received at June 30 and applicable to the subsequent summer and fall terms have been deferred and are included in
revenue in the succeeding year. In addition, certain grant proceeds that do not meet the revenue recognition criteria under
GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting amd Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions and GASB Statement No.

36, Recipient Reporting for Certain Sharing Nonexchange Reverues (an amendment of GASB Statement No. 33)
are deferred.

Expenses
On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized when they are incurred.
Cash and Cash Equivalents (including restricted)

The College considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents
and are stated at fair value, Restricied cash and cash equivalents are the unspent bond proceeds held 1o trust related to
various campus capital outlay projects.

Student and Third-Party Sponsors Receivables

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due for tuition and fees and grants and contracts form the federal, state and local
governments, or private sources, made in accordance with agreements. Uncollectible amounts have been reserved on a
percentage basis of accounts receivable balance by aging category.

Capital Assets
Land, Butldings and Equnipment

Land, buildings and equipment are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition, or fair value at the date of donation in the
case of gifts. Building improvements and improvements other than buildings are recorded at the aggregate cost of the
construction of the improvement. Expenditures for construction in progress are capitalized as incurred. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred; renovations and improvements, which extend the physical or economic life of
an asset, are capitalized. Library books are purchased and recorded as a composite group of similar assets according to
the limits within the depreciation and amortization note. When property is sold or otherwise disposed of, the carrying
value of such assets is removed from the accounts.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of leased and owned assets are computed on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the leased and owned property and equipment and are presented as a separate functional expense category
in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

The College’s estimated useful lives used to compute depreciation and capitalization limits are as follows:

Assets Estimated Useful Lives
Buildings 50 years
Leasehold improvements and infrastructures 25 years
Land improvements 15 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years
Library books 10 years
Vehicles and equipment (other than computer) 7 years
Computer equiptaent 5 years
Computer software 3 years

Bond Interest Expense

Interest expense is capitalized on qualifying assets during the period necessary to ready the assets for its intended use.

Interest capitalized is net of interest earnings, if any, from proceeds of tax-exempt borrowings for the respective projects.

For fiscal year 2019, total interest incurred amounted to $3,232,076, of which §76,554 was capitalized. For fiscal year
2018, total interest incurred amounted to $2,612,848, of which §2,155 was capitalized.

Compensated Absences

Full-time employees receive paid time off for vacation, illness and personal reasons. Time is accrued on a monthly basis
based on a calendar year or academic calendar year based on employee job classification. The armmount of time accrued
plus the amount of unused leave that can be carried over into the next calendar year or academic year is dependent on the
employee’s job classification. Compensated absences, including unpaid vacation and sjick leave, are accrued to conform
to GASB Statement No. 16, dccounting for Compensated Absences, using the vesting method. In accordance with
Allegheny Federation of Teachers (AFT) collective bargaining agreement Article XXV, A9, a tenured full-time teaching
employee may accumulate a maximum of 24 unpaid credit teaching overage hours. (See Note 8 for more information.)

Net Position Classifications

Net position is required to be classified for accounting and reporting purposes into the following categories:

Net Investment in Capital Assets

This category includes all of the College’s capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by ouistanding
debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets,

Restricted

The College classifies the net position resulting from transactions with purpose restrictions as restricted net position

until the specific resources are used for the required purpose or for as long as the provider requires the resources to
remain intact.
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NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Centinued)

» Resiricted expendable - may be spent by the College, but only for the purpose specified by the donor,
grantor or other external entity. (See Note 2 for further explanation for what is included in this category.)

» Restricted nonexpendable - funds held in perpetuity as designated by the donor; however, interest and
dividends from these funds are used for scholarships of students and other needs, as directed by the donor.

Unrestricted

The net position that is neither reserved, restricted, nor invested in capital assets, net of related debt, is classified as

vnrestricted net position. The College’s unrestricted net position may be designated by actions of the College’s Board
of Trustees (Board).

Use of Restricted Net Position

The College is not required to adopt, nor has it adopted, a formal policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or
unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are
available. Generally, the College utilizes restricted net position first when practicable.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

All revenues from tuition, auxiliary enterprises and grant sources are considered to be operating revenues. Operating
expenses include educational costs, auxiliary enterprises, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition, including State appropriations, investment income and interest on
capital asset-related debt, are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Scholarship Allowances

Scholarship allowances represent the difference beiween the stated charge for services provided by the College and the
amount that is paid by the student or third parties making payments on behalf of the student. Accordingly, some types of
student financial aid, such as Federal Pell grants and scholarships awarded by the College, are considered to be
scholarship allowances. These allowances are netted against tuition and fees revenues in the statements of revenues,
expenses and changes in net position.

Bond Premiums and Discounts

Bond premiums and discounts are amortized over the term of the bonds. Bond premiums are presented as an increase in
the face amount of the applicable debt payable, while discounts are presented as a decrease in the face amount of the debt
payable. The College refinances bonds when the market conditions ate appropriate for refinancing.

Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statements of net position report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies
to future periods, so it will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure} until then. The College’s
deferred outflows of resources are related fo the net pension liability of $3.4 million, deferred charges of $0.08 million
related to the net liability for other post-retirement benefits, and deferred charges of $0.97 million arising from the
refinancing of debt. The College recorded total deferred outflows of resources of $4.4 million and $3.3 million at June
30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. More detailed information related to the net pension liability and net other post-
retirement benefit liability can be found in Note 10 and Note 11.
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COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY
Notes to Basic Financial Statemerits
For the years ended Yune 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continned)

Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the statements of net position report a separale section for deferred inflows of resources. This
separate {inancial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to
a future period, so it will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The College’s deferred
inflows of resources are related to the net pension lability of $0.2 million and deferred charges of $0.008 million related
to the net Hability for other post-retirement benefits. The College recorded total deferred inflows of resources of $0.2
million and $0.3 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. More detailed information related to the net pension
liability and net other post-retirement benefit liability can be found in Note 10 and Note 11.

Pensions

GASB Statements No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27
and No. 71 Pension Transition for Confributions Made Subsequent to the Measvrement Date-an amendment of GASR
Statement No. 68 require governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their unfunded pension benefit
obligation as a liability for the first time and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the annual costs of
pension benefits and alse require a government to recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its pension
contributions, if any, made subsequent to the measarement date of the beginning net pension liability, The statements also
enhance accountability and transparency through revised note disclosures and required supplementary information (RSI).

The College has reported a net pension liability in the amount of $8.8 million, deferred cutflows of $3.4 million and
deferred inflows of $0.2 million as of June 30, 2019. The College has reported a net pension liability in the amount of
$6.8 million, deferred outflows of $2.2 million and deferred inflows of $0.3 million as of June 30, 2018.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resowrces and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions and pension expense information about fiduciary net position of the Pennsylvania State Employees’
Retirement System (SERS) and the Public School Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS) and additions to/deductions
from SERS’s and PSERS’s fiduciary net position have been dstermined on the same basis as they are reported by SERS
and PSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms, Investments are reported at fair value.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions,
establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements for Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) plans and
replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial reporting by Employers for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions. As a result, as of July 1, 2017, the College recorded an adjustment to reduce net position
by $157,000 to record the beginning balance of the net OPEB liability.

The College has reported a net OPEB liability in the amount of $0.2 million, deferred outflows of $0.08 mitlion and
deferred inflows of $0.008 million as of June 30, 2019. The College has reported a net OPEB liability in the amownt of
$0.2 miltion, deferred outflows of $0.04 million and deferred inflows of $0.008 million as of June 30, 2018.

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions and pension expense information about fiduciary net position of the PSERS and additions
to/deductions from PSERS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
PSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refonds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Newly Adopted and Issued Acconnting Pronouncements

The GASB has issued the following statements, which were evaluated and adopted by the College:
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NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certamn Asset Retirement Obligations, which addresses accounting and financial
reporting for certain asset retirement obligations (AROs). This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after
Tune 15, 2018. Implementation of Statement 83 had no effect on the College’s financial statements.

GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, which provides guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary
activities for accounting and financial reporiing purposes and how those activities should be reported. This statement is

effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Implementation of Statement 84 had no effect on the
Collepe’s financial statements.

GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, which provides guidance regarding improving
information that is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements related to debt by governments. This statement is

effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018. Implementation of Statement 88 had no effect on the
College’s financial statements.

GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Inferests, which provides guidance regarding improving reporting of
majority equity interests in separate organizations by governments. This statement is effective for reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018. Implementation of Statement 90 had no effect on the College’s financial statements.

The GASB has issued the following statements not yet implemented by the College. The College’s management is

currently evaluating these standards to determine the effect, if any, these statements will have on the College’s {inancial
statements and related disclosures:

GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases, which provides guidance regarding improving accounting and financial reporting
for leases by governments. This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.

GASB issued Statement No. 89, decounting for Interest Costs, which provides guidance regarding improving information

about capital assets and the cost of borrowing by governments. This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2019,

GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, which provides guidance for a single method of reporting
conduit debt obligations by issuers. This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020.

Subsequent Lvents

The College has evaluated subsequent events through December 9, 2019, the date on which the financial statements were
available to be issued.

NOTE 2 - NET POSITION

Of the total net position as of June 30, the following constraints upon their use have been imposed, either externally or
internally by action of the Board:

2019 2018
Restricted expendable net position:
Scholarship and tuition funds $ 152,550 % 127,731
Student development funds 1,220,705 900,542
Capital outlay 2,399,015 5,346,399
Total restricted expendable net position 3 3772270 § 6,380,672
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NOTE 2 - NET POSITION (Continued)

2019 2018
Unrestricted net position:
Board-designated:
Campus building projects $ 2,633,205 % 4,474,912
Reserve for facilities emergency
and other compelling needs 2,311,138 4,178,591
915 Ridge property 491,509 498,564
Allegheny County Schools Health Consortinm 2,877,407 3,208,193
Visual Arts Center 326,939 50,893
Total Board-designated: 3 8,643,198 % 12,411,155
Undesignated:
Axxiliary services 8,207,329 7,763,155
Future operations 2,978,072 6,630,843
Future capital projects 2,932,567 2,465,670
Total Undesignated 14,117,968 16,859,668
Total unrestricted net position $ 22,761,166 § 29,270,823

Scholarships and Student Development

Scholarship and tuition and student development funds include funds that have been generated from student-related
sources, the principal source of which is student fees. As such, the funds must be used specifically for the benefitl of
students. The allocation of scholarships and development is determined by the Board.

Capital Qutlay Reserve

Capital outlay funds may be reserved or restricted by the Board or debt-related restrictions, Restrictions on current capital
outlay include the terms of appropriations, interest earned on bond proceeds and vnspent bond proceeds, which are
restricted for the use of capital purchases under terms of the debt agreements. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, funds
restricted amounted to $2,399,015 and $5,346,399, respectively.
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NOTE 2 - NET POSITION (Continued)
Board-Designated Net Position

Campus Building Projects Reserve

At the October 1997 meeting, the Board authorized an increase in the Campus Building Projects Reserve from a balance
of $1,470,613 to $5,000,000 to provide the College share of funds for renovation and construction of science labs at the
campuses. The science labs project total was estimated at that time at $10,000,000 and consisted of a new science
building at the Allegheny Campus, major improvements to the South Campus labs and less-extensive updating costs to the
Boyce and North Campuses. In 1998, after discussions with the architect, the estimate was increased to $12,000,000.
Accordingly, at the October 1998 meeting, the Board allocated an additional $1,000,000 to the reserve from that fiscal
year’s interest income. The reserve then amounted to $6,000,000. In May 2006, the Board approved the 2006-2008
Capital Qutlay Plan, which included the transfer of this $6,000,000 to a new reserve called the “West Hills Renovation
Project Reserve.” The College completed major renovation of the center during fiscal 2007 and 2008. At its November
2007 meeting, the Board authorized an addition of $1,000,000 to the Campus Building Projects Reserve from unrestricted
net position as of June 30, 2007, bringing the total in this reserve as of Tune 30, 2007 to $3,000,000. During fiscal year
2008, $569,435 was spent from that reserve for the College’s one-half share of the fiscal 2008 debt service on the portion
of the new 2008 bond issue attributable to the Science Center construction project. At its November 2008 meeting, the
Board authorized an addition of $3,000,000 from unrestricted net position as of June 30, 2008, bringing the total of the
Campus Building Projects Reserve as of June 30, 2008 to $5,430,565. Payments during 2008-2009 for the College’s one-
half share amounted to $567,386, further reducing the reserve to $4,863,179. Payments made during fiscal 2010 for the
College’s one-half share were $567,586. The Board designated an additional $1,704,407, bringing the reserve total to
$6,000,000. Payments made during fiscal 2011 for the College’s one-half share were $565,661, reducing the reserve to
$5,434,339. For the fiscal year 2011, an additional $3,565,661 was added, bringing the reserve total to $9,000,000, which
is the projected amount required to complete the Science Center project as of June 30, 2011. For the fiscal year 2012,
expenses of $1,172,984 were incurred for the Science Center, reducing the reserve to $7,827,016 as of June 30, 2012. For
the fiscal year 2013, expenses of $5,708,963 were incurred for the Science Center, reducing the reserve to $2,118,053 as
of June 30, 2013. For the fiscal year 2014, expenses of $506,852 were incurred for the Science Center, reducing the
reserve to $1,611,200 as of June 30, 2014. For the fiscal year 2015, board-designated operating transfers-in and revenues
exceeded expenses by $683,020, increasing the reserve 10 $2,294,220 as of June 30, 2015. For the fiscat year 2016, board-
designated operating transfers-in and revenues exceeded expenses by $967,104, increasing the reserve to $3,261,324 as of
June 30, 2016. For the fiscal year 2017, board-designated operating transfers-in, the receipt of a legal settlement of
$550,000 related to the construction of the Science Center, and revenues exceeded expenses by $1,068,038, increasing the
reserve to $4,879,361 as of June 30, 2017. For the fiscal year 2018, board-designated operating transfers and revenues
exceeded expenses by $851,438. Due to the Science Center project nearing completion, the Board removed $1,255,887 of
thé designation for the project. This amount was transferred to the Reserve for Future Capital Projects.

Based on the activity during fiscal year 2018, the reserve decreased to $4,474,912 as of June 30, 2018. The reserves will
be utilized to complete various campus building projects.

For the fiscal year 2019, expenses for the Science Center and Technology Infrastructure Upgrade projects exceeded
board-designated operating transfers and revenues by $1,841,707, reducing the reserve to $2,633,205 as of June 30, 2019.

Facilities Emergency and Other Compelling Needs

During fiscal year 2008, a $4,000,000 reserve was established. In fiscal year 2009, the reserve was increased by an
additional $2,000,000. For fiscal 2010, the reserve was increased by another $295,593, resulting in a total of $6,295,593.
For fiscal 2011, the reserve was decreased by $368,690 for maintenance projects, resulting in a total of $5,926,903. The
reserve was further reduced by $2,776,903, which was transferred to Campus Building Projects Reserve for the
completion of the Science Center building, leaving a balance of $3,150,000 as of June 30, 2011.
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NOTE 2 - NET POSITION (Continued)

For fiscal 2012, expenses of $25,314 were incurred for maintenance projects, and $968,000 was transferred to the reserve
for future operations, reducing the reserve to $2,156,686 as of June 30, 2012. For fiscal 2013, there were no expenses
incurred that were charged to the reserve, For fiscal 2014, expenses of $192,590 were incuired for maintenance projects,
reducing the teserve to $1,964,096 as of Tune 30, 2014. For fiscal 2015, revenues and board-desipnated operating
trapsfers-in to fund maintenance projects and ITS infrastructure improvements exceeded expenses by $573,101,
increasing the reserve to $2,537,197 as of June 30, 2015. For fiscal 2016, transfers-in plus miscellaneous revenues exceed
expenses by $655,604. Tn addition, the Board designated $1,000,000 from the reserve for future operations to the reserve
for facilities, emergency and other compelling needs reserve, thereby increasing the reserve to $3,192,801 as of June 30,
2016. For fiscal 2017, expenses and board-designated transfers-out to fund deferred maintenance projects and the State
match required for the electrical power upgrades loan exceeded revemves by $318,590. In addition, the College
transferred $281,069 from this reserve to the reserve for Future Capital Projects, thereby reducing the reserve to
$2,593,142 as of June 30, 2017. For fiscal 2018, board-designated transfers-in from Future Capital Projects and
miscellaneous revenues to fund network infrastructure upgrades and the State match required for the pew HVAC vpgrades
loan and hot site project totaled $2,722,800. In addition, board-designated transfers-out and expenses to fund deferred
maintenance and the State match required for the HVAC loans and hot site project totaled $1,137,351, resulting in
revenues exceeding expenses by $1,585,449, thereby increasing the reserve fo $4,178,591 as of June 30, 2018, For fiscal
2019, board-designated transfers-out and expenses to fund network infrastructure upgrades, deferred maintenance, and the
State match required for the electrical power and HVAC upgrade project loans exceeded miscellaneous revenues by
$1,867,453, thereby reducing the reserve to $2,311,138 as of June 30, 2019. The reserve has been designated for the
following capital projects:

Electrical Upgrade Project Match b 923,961
HVAC Upgrade Project Match 861,243
Allegheny Parking Lots 39,445
Network Infrastructure 1,805
Miscellaneous Deferred Maintenance Projects - College-wide 484,684
Total designated projects $ 2,311,138
915 Ridge Property

Rental income in excess of rental expenses is designated for future improvements or renovations to the 915 Ridge
property. During fiscal year 2019, expenses exceeded revenues by $7,055, thereby reducing the designated net position to
$491,509 as of June 30, 2019

Allesheny County Schools Health Insurance Consortiuin

CCAC is a member of the Allegheny County Schools Health Insurance Consortium (Consortium). The Consortium was
formed to purchase health benefits on behalf of Allegheny County Schools, CCAC’s portion of the Consortium’s total
net assets available for benefits as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $2,877,407 and $3,208,195, respectively.

Visual Arts Center (900 Lincoln Avenue Property)

In August 2016, the College entered info a three-year lease agreement with the City of Pittsburgh (City) for the space that
formerly served as the College’s Visual Arts Center located at 900 Lincoln Avenue.

The City utilizes the space as a training center for its police force. The income in excess of rental expenses is
designated for future improvements or renovations to the 900 Lincoln Avenue property. During fiscal year 2019,
revenues exceeded expenses by $279,046, thereby increasing the designated net position to $329,939 as of June 30,
2019.
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NOTE 2 - NET POSITION (Continued)

Reserve for Auxiliary Services

The reserve for anxiliary services is the excess of revenues over expenses from auxiliary enterprise operations.

Reserve for Future Operation

Reserve for future operations is composed of funds that have not been currently designated by the Board for future
operations.

Ungrestricted Reserve Fund

At the Janvary 2019 meeting of the College’s Board, the annual operating budget policy was revised to call for an
administrative process that annually sets aside a portion of actual current- fund operating revenues and existing
unrestricted net position to maintain an Unrestricted Reserve Fund for future years for either Undesignated reserves or for
Designated reserves for ongoing facilities maintenance, renovations, construction and other emergencies or compelling
needs, including, but not limited to legal, technological, safety/risk management, academic or other financial imperatives.
After actual current fund operating revenues used to fund current operating needs and strategic goals for the current fiscat
vear have been identified, it is the College’s poal to generate excess revenues to provide for an ongoing unrestricted
reserve balance at a level equal to at least 15% of the annual actual current fund operating revenues.

Reserve for Future Capital Projects

This reserve was established by the College in 2017 to fund future capital projects. For fiscal 2017, the College
transferred $3,500,000 from the reserve for future operations to the reserve for future capital projects. In addition, the
College transferred $281,069 from the reserve for facilities, emergency and other compelling needs reserve to the reserve
for future capital projects, thereby increasing the reserve to $3,781,069 as of June 30, 2017. For fiscal 2018, board-
designated transfers-out fo the reserve for board-designated facilities, emergency and other compelling needs to fund
network infrastructure upgrades and required State match for the new HVAC upgrades loan and hot site project exceeded
revenues by $2,571,286. The Board removed $1,255,887 of the designation related to the Science Center project due to
project completion, which was transferred in from the Campus Building Projects Reserve. As a result, the reserve
decreased to $2,465,670 as of June 30, 2018. For fiscal 2019, board designated transfers in exceeded expenses by
$385,978 and Capital Outlay revenues increased by $80,919 from a gain on the sale of assets, thereby increasing the
reserve to $2,932,567 as of June 30, 2019.

NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

By policy of the Board, the College is permitted to invest funds consistent with sound business practices in the following
types of investments: U.S. Treasury Bills; obligations of the United States of America and related agencies and the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania; A-1, P-l-rated commercial paper, or equivalent instruments; fully collateralized, per
Act 72, time deposits, certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements of financial institutions that have a short-term
rafing by Moody’s (or equivalent) of “P-1” or better and whose long-term senior debt rating is “A2” or better and which
have a combined capital surplus and undivided profits of not less than $1,000,000; money market mutual
funds/investment companies that are AAA-rated by Moody’s (or equivalent), managed to a $1.00 net asset value and are
in compliance with Section 2A-7 of Secwrities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules and which restrict their
investments to instruments described above. No more than $5,000,000 of the College’s cash reserves may be invested in
instruments with maturities of more than one year, and in no event may any investment have a maturity of more than five

years. Pursuant to Act 72 of the Pennsylvania State Legislature, a depository must pledge assets to secure state and
municipal deposits.
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NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The pledged assets must at Jeast be equal to the total amount of such assets required to secure all of the public deposits at
the depository and may be on a pooled basis. Additionally, all such pledged assets must be delivered to a legal custodian.

The following information classifies deposits and investments by categories of risk as defined in GASB Statement No. 40,

Deposit and Investiment Risk Disclosures.
Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution or counterparty fo a
transaction, the College will be unable to recover the value of deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of
an outside party. The College’s policy for deposits requires any balance not covered by depository insurance to be
collateralized by the financial institution with eligible pledged securities. The June 30, 2019 and 2018 bank balances for
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents were $28,470,194 and $37,109,031, and $20,231,311
and $24,712,223, respeciively; the balances covered by federal depository insurance were $815,759 and $1,084,086,
respectively; the balances covered by pledged securities held by the financial institution’s trust depatrtment or in the name
of the College were $37,500,584 and $50,566,536, respectively. The remaining bank balances as of June 30, 2019 and
2018 of $10,385,161 and $10,170,632, respectively, were not covered by depository insurance or collateralized by the
financial institution with eligible pledged securities.

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows:

July 1, June 30,
2018 Additions Retirements * 2019
Cost
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Construction-in-progress 5,967,544 § 8,781,327 (3,608,354) § 11,140,517
Land 4,028,747 - - 4,028,747
9,996,291 8,781,327 (3,608,354) 15,169,264
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 225,960,219 2,233,387 - 228,193,606
Land improvements 7,448,150 83,038 - 7,531,188
Infrastructure 9,056,925 1,527,487 - 10,584,412
Leaseheld improvements 403,476 23,863 - 427,339
Equipment and A.V. equipment 16,042,731 792,941 (208,801) 16,626,871
Grant-related equipment 6,768,614 424,784 (15,508) 7,177,890
Furniture and fixtures 2,715,199 183,508 - 2,898,707
Computer equipment 20,134,595 3,050,002 (1,514,952) 21,669,645
Computer software 4,761,626 751,245 - 5,512,871
Library books 5,687,233 167,162 - 5,854,393
298,978,768 9,237.417 {1,739,261) 306,476,924

308,975,059 18,018,744 {5,347,615) 321,646,188
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Countinued}

July 1, June 30,
2018 Additions Retirements * 2019
Accumulated depreciation and
ameortization

Buildings 3 100,668,597 § 3,879,029 - $ 104,547,626
Land improvement 6,167,035 243,623 - 6,410,658
Infrastructure 2,338,305 405,735 - 2,744,040
Leasehold improvements 38,119 16,139 - 74,258
Lguipment and A.V. equipment 10,481,787 1,399,065 § (208,801) 11,672,051
Grant-related equipment 5,164,522 511,434 (15,508) 5,660,448
Furniture and fixtures 2,165,771 121,867 - 2,287,638
Computer equipment 14,987,006 1,840,713 {1,507,709) 15,320,010
Computer software 4,303,587 322,637 - 4,626,224
Library books 4,568,834 192,799 - 4,761,633
150,903,563 8,933,041 (1,732,018) 158,104,586

Net investment in capital assets $ 158,071,496 $ _ 163,541,602

* Included within retirement is the transfer of assets capitalized from within the construction-in-progress category.

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2018 was as follows:
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July 1, June 30,
2017 Additiens Retirements * 2018
Cost
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Construction-in-progress h 5,357,738 § 3,518,410 § (2,908,604) $ 5,967,544
Land 4,028,747 . - 4,028,747
9,386,485 3,518,410 (2,908,604) 9,996,291
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 219,955,755 6,004,464 - 225,960,219
Land improvements 7,403,595 44,555 - 7,448,150
Infrastructures 8,979,536 77,389 - 9,056,925
Leasehold improvements 403,476 - - 403,476
Equipment and A.V. equipment 14,536,564 2,132,611 (626,444) 16,042,731
Grant-related equipment 6,332,564 476,893 {40,843) 6,768,614
Furnitute and fixtures 2,466,032 255,253 (6,086) 2,715,199
Computer equipment 18,708,763 1,966,567 (540,735) 20,134,595
Computer software 4433369 328,257 - 4,761,626
Library books 5,447,708 239,525 - 5,687,233
288,667,362 11,525,514 (1,214,108) 298,978,768

298,053,847 15,043,924 (4,122,712) 308,975,059
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continuned)

July 1, June 30,
2017 Additions Retirements * 2018
Accumulated depreciation and
amortization

Buildings § 96,680,326 § 3,988,271 - $ 100,668,597
Land improvements 5,918,028 249,007 - 6,167,035
Infrastructure 1,996,987 341,318 - 2,338,305
Leasehold improvements 41,980 16,139 - 58,119
Equipment and A.V. equipment 9,606,088 1,280,946 § (405,247 10,481,787
Grant-related equipment 4,673,950 531,415 (40,843} 5,164,522
Furniture and fixtures 2,063,385 108,471 (6,085) 2,165,771
Computer equipmont 13,785,414 1,736,854 (535,262) 14,987,006
Computer software 4,175,049 128,538 - 4,303,587
Library books 4,383,386 185,448 - 4,568,834
143,324,593 8,566,407 (987,437) 150,903,563

Net investment in capital assets § 154729254 $ 158,071,496

* Included within retirement is the transfer of assets capitalized from within the construction-in-progress category.

NOTE 5 - STATE APPROPRIATIONS

State legislation provides for the establishment of community colleges and for the reimbursement of certain community
college expenditures from State funds appropriated for this purpose. The legislation currently in effect (Act 46) provides
that the State shall reimburse the College an amount for operating expenditures each year, consisting of a base amount niot
less than the amount received for the 2005 fiscal year. In addition, the College shall receive a pro rata share of the
Bconomic Development Stipend fund, based on its enrollments in certain categories of workforce development-related
programs and courses as compared to the other State community colleges’ enroliments in those categories.

Effective with the 2006 fiscal year, the College was no longer subject to audit by the State. All audits have been
completed and resolved with the State. There was no remaining liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018.

In addition, the State shall reimburse the College for one-half of all approved capital expenditures, including debt
service and net rental costs (gross renfals less amounts included therein for maintenance). The State pays its share of
operating expenses at the end of each quarter and has the option of paying its share of eapital expenditures either when
incurred or over a period of fime. Election of the latter method requires the State to also pay a pro rata share of the
interest expense incurred by the College. The remaining operating expenses must be provided by the sponsor of the
College or by private sources, nonstate public sources and from student tuition. The remaining capital expenditures
must be provided by the Sponsor.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Long-term obligations at June 30 are as follows:

Next
Installment Maturity Balance Due
Interest Rate Due Due 2019 2018
Bonds payable
SPSBA Series of 2011 - 2.0% to 3.8% Jul 15 2025 h) 2,530,000 $ 2,850,000
SPSBA Series A 2011 - 2.0% to 4.0% Jul 15 2025 9,265,000 10,405,000
SPSBA 2012 - 2.0% to 5.0% Jul 15 2034 35,820,000 36,720,000
SPSBA 2015 - 1.07% to 4.0% Nov 15 2035 3,405,000 3,565,000
SPSBA 2016 - 2.0% to 5.0% Dec 15 2027 7,870,000 8,665,000
SPSBA 2018 - 3.5% 10 5.0% Dec 15 2037 19,310,000 20,000,000
Total bonds payable 78,200,000 82,205,000
Net premiums 3,351,262 3,620,920
81,551,262 85,825,920
Loans payable
2.00%, $20,332 paid monthly 2020 226,870 463,734
2.00%, $317,006 paid semi-annually 2021 1,538,477 2,132,782
2.00%, $52,577 paid semi-annually 2021 255,162 353,729
2.25%, $246,069 paid semi-annually 2022 1,647,404 2,394,903
2.75%, $35,693 paid monthly 2023 1,477,953 -
Total loans payable 5,145,866 5,045,148
Capitalized lease obligations
1.54%, $35,693 paid monthly 2019 - 283,833
2.23%, $22,025 paid monthly 2021 516,525 766,283
Total capitalized lease obligations 516,325 1,050,116
Total obligations 87,213,653 91,921,184
Current portion (6,497,520} {6,185,483)
Total noncurrent long-term obligations $ 80,716,133 § 85,735,699

Bonds Payable

Unexpended bond proceeds and interest earned on proceeds of $20,231,311 and $24,712,223 at June 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, are available fo finance the completion of the projects included in the Series 2016 revenue bonds (refunded
the Series of 2008 Bonds), the Series 2011 revenne bonds, the Series 2012 revenue bonds, the Series 2015 revenue bonds,
and the Series 2018 reverue bonds and are included in noncurrent cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

The following provides a summary description of the College’s bond issnanee activity through June 30, 2019:

-

Second Series of 2004 SPSBA. Bonds (Second Series of 2004) - In July 2004, the College, through the SPSBA,
accomplished a new $20,000,000 bond issue for the funding of maintenance and critical infrastructure projects
required to upgrade the College’s physical plant. The final payment on the bonds was due in 2025, but they were
refinanced in September 2011. The refunding debt service was issued through the SPSBA to take advantage of
the low-interest-rate environment. The debt service retired totaled $15,515,000. (See Series A of 2011 SPSBA.
below.)

Series of 2005 SPSBA Bonds (Series of 2003) - In Jaly 2005, the College, through the SPSBA, accomplished a
new $5,600,000 bond issue for the funding to purchase the Siemen’s Building in Oakdale, Pennsylvania (West
Hills Center). The final payment on the bonds was due in 2025, but they were refinanced in August 2031, The
refunding debt service was issued through the SPSBA to take advantage of the low-interest-rate environment.
The debt service retired totaled $4,330,000. (See Series of 2011 SPSBA below.)

Series of 2008 SPSBA Bonds (SPSBA 2008) - In June 2008, the College, through the SPSBA, accomplished a
new $22,040,000 bond issue (Series of 2008). Bond proceeds pertaining to the construction of a Science Center
Facility on Allegheny Campus totaled $15,950,000, and the remaining $6,090,000 was for funding renovation
projects to upgrade infrastructure at all four campuses. The refonding debt service was issued through the SPSBA
to take advantage of the low-interest-rate environment, The debt service retired totaled $9,805,000. (See Series
0f 2016 SPSBA below.)

Series of 2011 SPSBA Bonds Refinancing Debt Service Bonds (SPSBA Series of 2011) - In August 2011, the
College, through the SPSBA, refunded the Series of 2005 Bonds (see above). The $4,445,000 issue became the
Series of 2011 Bonds. The issuance totaled $4,505,112 and included the $4,330,000 retirement of the 2005
bonds. The refunding resulted in $182,226 in savings to be recognized. Principal payments on the bonds are due
annually in July, while interest is due semiannually on January and July 15. Interest rates for the Series of 2011
Bonds range from 2.0% to 3.8%, compared to the 3.5% to 4.4% for the remainder of the 2005 Bonds. The final
payment on the bonds is scheduled for July 15, 2025.

Series A of 2011 SPSBA Bonds Refinancing Debt Service Bonds (SPSBA Series A 2011) - In September 2011,
the College, through the SPSBA, refunded the second Series of 2004 Bonds (see above). The $15,800,000 issue
became the Series A of 2011 Bonds. The issuance totaled $16,382,827 and included the $15,515,000 retirement
of the second Series of 2004 Bonds. The refunding resulted in $936,014 in savings to be recognized. Principal
payments on the bonds are due annually in July, while interest is due semiannually on January and July 15.
Interest rates for the Series A of 2011 Bonds range from 2.0% to 4.0%, compared to the 3.5% to 4.8% for the
remainder of the second Series 2004 Bonds. The final payment on the bonds is scheduled for July 15, 2025,

Series of 2012 SPSBA Bonds (SPSBA 2012) - In June 2012, the College, through the SPSBA, accomplished a
new $40,000,000 bond issue (Series 0of 2012). Bond proceeds were used to finance renovation and improvements
projects and ITS infrastructure improvements. The final payment for the bonds is scheduled for July 15, 2034.

Principal payments on the bonds are due annually in July, while interest is due semiannually in January and July
on the 15th.

Series of 2015 SPSBA Bonds (SPSBA 2015) - In June 2015, the College, through SPSBA, accomplished a new
$4,000,000 bond issue (Series of 2015). Bond proceeds were used to finance the acquisition and installation of
energy-saving facilities, equipment, retro-commissioning and other energy-related upgrades at South Campus.
The final payment for the bonds is scheduled for May 15, 2035. Principal payments en the bonds are due
annually in May, while interest is due semiannually in November and May on the 15th.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

» Series of 2016 SPSBA Bonds Refinancing Debt Service Bonds (SPSBA Series 2008) - In September 2016, the
College, through the SPSBA, refunded the second Series of 2008 Bonds (see above). The $9,250,000 issue
became the Series of 2016 Bonds. The issuance totaled $10,198,333 and included the $9,805,000 retirement of
the Series of 2008 Bonds. The refunding resulted i $1,089,779 in savings to be recognized. Principal payments
on the bonds are due annually in June, while interest is due semiannually on December and June 15, Interest rates
for the Series of 2016 Bonds range from 2.0% to 5.0%, compared to the 3.6% to 4.55% for the remainder of the
Series 2008 Bonds. The final payment on the bonds is scheduled for June 15, 2027.

» Series 2018 Bond SPSPBA Bonds (SPSBA 2018) - In May 2018, the College, through SPSBA, accomplished a
new $20,000,000 bond issue {Series of 2018) for the construction of the new Workforce Training Center-Phase 1.
The final payment for the bonds is scheduled for June 15, 2037. Principal payments on the bonds are due
anmually in December, while interest is due semiannually in December and June on the 15th.

Principal and interest payment requirements for the bonded debt for the years subsequent to June 30, 2019 are
summarized as follows:

Years Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total
2020 $ 4,185,000 § 2,941,595 § 7,126,595
2021 4,375,000 2,750,095 7,125,095
2022 4,555,000 2,559,514 7,114,514
2023 4,755,000 2,361,617 7,116,617
2024 4,955,000 2,166,389 7,121,389

2025-2029 23,400,000 8222261 31,622,261
2030-2035 23,750,000 4,266,401 28,016,401
2035-2037 8,225,000 397,669 8,622,669

$ 78,200,000 $ 25,665,541 $ 103,863,541

Loans Payable

In 2016, the College entered into a replacement loan for microcomputer systems, laptops and workstations in the amount
of $937,851. The loan is at a 2.0% interest rate, payable in monthly installments of $20,332 through June 15, 2020. The
balance due as of June 30, 2019 was $226,870. The loans payable are collateralized by the equipment.

In 2017, the College entered into a renovation loan to wpgrade the College’s electrical infrastructure in the amount of
$3,000,000. The loan is at a 2.0% interest rate, payable in semiannual installments of $317,006 through December 15,
2021. The balance due as of June 30, 2019 was $1,538,477. The loans payable are collateralized by the renovations.

In 2017, the College entered into a renovation loan to upgrade the College’s electrical infrastructure in the amount of
$500,000. The loan is at a 2,0% interest rate, payable in semiannual instaliments of $52,577 through December 15, 2021.
The balance due as of June 30, 2019 was $255,162. The loans payable are collateralized by the renovations.

In 2018, the College entered into a renovation loan to upgrade the College’s HVAC infrastructure in the amount of
$2,315,000. The loan is at a 2.25% interest rate, payable in semiannual instaliments of $246,069 through December 15,
2022. The balance due as of June 30, 2019 was $1,047,404. The loans payable are collateralized by the renovations.

In 2019, the College entered info a replacement loan for microcomputer systems, laptops and workstations in the amount

of $1,620,726. The loan is at a 2.75% interest rate, payable in monthly installments of $35,693 through February 15,
2023. The balance due as of June 30, 2019 was $1,477,953. The loans payable are collateralized by the equipient.
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Capifal Leases

In 2015, the College entered iuto a capitalized lease obligation for desktops, monitors, laptops and tablets in the amount of
$1,660,537. The lease obligation is at 1.54% and is payable in monthly installments of $35,693 through February 2019.
The balance due as of June 30, 2019 is $0. The net book value of the equipment is $166,277 as of June 30, 2019. The
capitalized equipment leases are collateralized by the equipment.

In 2017, the College entered into a capitalized lease obligation for desktops, monitors, laptops and tablets in the amount of
$1,012,416. The lease obligation is at 2.23% and is payable in monthly installments of $22,025 through June 2021. The
balance due as of June 30, 2019 is $516,525. The net book value of the equipment is $607,475 as of June 30, 2019. The
capitalized equipment leases are collateralized by the equipment.

Operating Leases
The College leases various other facilities throughowt the County that are separate from the main campuses and involve
commitments that extend into future years. The facilities are used for educational purposes only. The following schedule

of future mininmum payments lists the obligations for these leases under the column headed “Operating Leases.”

Future mininum payments required under loans payable and lease obligations existing at June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Years Ending Capitalized Operating

June 30 Loans Leases Leases Total
2020 b 1,888,831 § 264,304 § 378,109 % 2,531,244
2021 1,659,623 264,304 151,156 2,075,083
2022 1,260,040 - 27,000 1,317,040
2023 511,753 - - 511,753
5,350,247 528,608 556,265 6,435,120
Less interest 204,381 12,083 - 216,464
$ 5,145,866  $ 516,525 § 556,265 % 6,218,656

NOTE 7 - CHANGE IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities fransactions activity for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

Beginning Ending Current
2019 Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion
Long-term obligations $ 91,921,184 § 1,620,726 $ 6,328,257 § 87,213,653 § 6,497,520
Retirement incentive plan 873,802 - 873,802 - -
Net pension liability 6,769,448 2,054,991 - 8,824,439 -
Net OPEB lability 181,000 42,000 - 223,000 -

Total long-term liabilities $ 99,745,434 $ 3,717,717 % 7,202,059 § 96,261,092
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Beginning Ending Current
2018 Balance Additions Reduactions Balance Portion
Long-term obligations $ 73,546,600 § 23,494421 § 5,119,837 § 91,921,184 § 6,185,485
Retiremerit incentive plan 1,745,725 - 871,923 873,802 $V 4_§73>802
Due to the Commonwealth ‘
of Penmsylvania 59,208 - 59,208 - -
Net pension liability 5,971,456 797,992 - 6,769,448 -
Net OPEB liability - 181,000 - 181,000 -

Total long-term liabilities $ 81322989 § 24473413 § 6,050,968 $ 99,745 434

NOTE 8 - COMPENSATED ABSENCES

The composition of the compensated absences Hability as of June 30 is as follows:

2019 2018
Accrued vacation leave $ 1,959,394 § 1,956,767
Banked credits 1,098,083 1,108,861
$ 3,057477 § 3,065,628

Banked credits occur when a tenured full-time teaching employee teaches above hisfher base course load of 15 credits,
he/she can then elect to bank the time instead of receiving overage compensation at that time. The person may later elect
to utilize the earned leave to reduce his/her work schedule at 90% of the compensable rate. At time of retirement or
separation of employment, any remaining credit will be paid at the overage rate in effect at the time of their accumulation
with no accrued interest.

NOTE 9 - PENSIONS AND BENEFIT PLANS

Substantially all full-time employees of the College ate covered under the PSERS, the SERS, the Teachers Insurance and
Annuity Assoclation-College Retiretnent and Equity Fund (TTAA-CREF) retirement plan, Fidelity Investment Retirement
Plan (Fidelity), or Lincoln Financial Retirement Plan. Prior to July 1, 2014, the College recognized annual pension

expense equal to its contractually required contributions to the plans and continues to for the TIAA-CREF, Fidelity and
Lincoln Financial Plans through lune 30, 2019.
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About 93.1% of cligible employees participate in TIAA-CREF, Fidelity or Lincoln Financial plans, which are cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined contribution plans. In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend on amounts
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings. Employer and empleyee contribution rates are established by collective
bargaining agreements with the AFT and the Service Employees International Union (SEIU). The agreements require
contributions by active members and the College. Active members contribute at a rate of 5% of the qualifying
compensation and the College contributes at the rate of 5% on the first $6,000 and 10% on the remaining qualifying
compensation. SEIU members have an alternate option to contribute at a rate of 1% of the qualifying compensation
instead of the 5% rate and the College would contribute at the rate of 1%. The contributions to the TIAA-CREF, Fidelity
and Lincoln Financial plans for the years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $4,226,820 and $4,425,329 and
$4,352,614, respectively, from the College and $2,340,956, $2,333,442 and $2,309,196, respectively, from employees.
Employees are vested immediately in all of their contributions and the College’s contributions.

The PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan in which about 5.2% of the eligible
employees participate. It provides refirement and disability benefits, legislative mandated ad hoc cost-of-living
adjustments and health care insurance premium assistance to qualifying annuitants, PSERS issues a comprehensive
annual financial report that includes financial statements and RSI for the plan. A copy of the report may be obtained by
writing to the Office of Financial Management, Public School Employees® Retirement System, 5 N 5th Street, Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania 17101-1905. Article II of the State’s Constitution assigns the authority to establish and amend the benefit
provisions of the plan to the General Assembly. The contribution policy for PSERS is established in the Public School

Employees” Retirement Code and requires coptributions by active members, the College and the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania.

Active members coniribute at a rate of 6.5%, 7.5% or 10.3% of their qualifying compensation. The contribution rate for
the College and the Commonwealth is an actuarially determined rate. The rate for the years ended June 30 2019, 2018
and 2017 is 32.6%, 31.74% and 29.2%, respectively, of annual covered payroll for each. The College’s contributions to
PSERS for the years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $516,282 and $458,639 and $349,469, respectively, equal
to the required contractual contribution. At the time of transition to GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by
State and Local Governmental Employers, there was no pension liability or asset.

SERS is a governmental cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan in which about 1.7% of eligible employees
participate, It provides retirement, death and disability benefits and legislative mandated ad hoc cost-of-living
adjustments. Article Il of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Assembly, SERS issues a publicly available annual
financial report that includes financial statements and requires supplementary information for the plan. A copy of the
report may be obtained by writing to Pennsylvania State Employees® Retirement System, 30 North 3rd Street, Suite 150,
Harrisburg, PA 17101. The contribution policy for SERS, as established by SERS’s Board, requires contributions by
active members and the College. Active members contribute at a rate of 6.25% or 9.3% of their qualifying compensation.

The contribution rate for the College and Commonwealth is an actuarially determined rate, which varies by class of
employee for the following years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017: 34.63% or 23.94%, 34.44% or 23.8% and 23.96%
or 20.70% of annual covered payroll for each, respectively. The College’s contributions to SERS for the years ended June
30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $346,131, $279,579 and $251,165, respectively, equal to the required contractual
contribution. At the time of transition to GASB Statement No. 27, there was no pension lability or asset.

Retirement Incentive Plan

The College offered a voluntary Retirement Incentive Plan (RIP} approved by the Board for a limited time from March 6,
2014 to June 2, 2014 to realize budgetary savings in fiscal year 2015 and subsequent years by reducing salary and benefit
expenses. Through the RIP, the College offered refirement incentives to eligible employees. Eighty-six employees
elected to participate in the RIP. An employee was eligible to receive retirement incentive benefits if the employee met
each of the foliowing conditions:

¢ The employee had completed at least 20 years of service with the College as of June 30, 2014;
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The employee was at least 60 years old as of Tune 30, 2014;

The effective date of the employee’s retirement was no carlier than Jane 30, 2014 and no later than August 1,
2014; '

The employee completed, signed and retumed a retirement election and general release form to the Human
Resources office on or before the close of business June 2, 2014; and

The employee did not revoke the retirement election and general release form in writing within seven calendar
days after signing it.

Employees who retired and met the eligibility criteria above shall receive the following, in addition to their noymal
retirement benefits:

A cash severance payment equal to one week of the eligible employes’s earnings multiplied by the employee’s
total years of service. The employee chose a lump-sum payment, which was paid on September 2, 2014, or
elected to receive the severance payment in five equal annual installments according to the following schedule:

Payment Date
Installment #1 September 2, 2014
Installment #2 September 1, 2015
Installment #3 September 1, 2016
Installment #4 September 1, 2017
Installment #5 September 1, 2018

A supplemental severance payment equal to $6,500 per year for a period of five years following the effective date
of retirement. The supplemental severance benefit will be paid in instaliments, according to the schedule above.

Eligible employees may elect to remain enrolled in the College’s group health, dental and vision insurance plans,
provided that the employee pays the full monthly premiums for such coverage.

Eligible employees may enroll in the College’s credit or state-reimbursable non-credit classes, on a space-
available basis, following retirement and without payment of applicable tuition. Eligible employees who enroll
on a tuition-free basis will be required to pay appropriate fees associated with enrolled courses or programs. No

liability existed for this benefit as of June 30, 2014. The College will expense the cost of this benefit in the period
it is incurred.

Employees will not be eligible for the benefiis if any of the following apply:

*

The employee is a former employee of the College who retired or resigned effective as of a date prior to June 30,
2014;

The employee’s employment with the College is involuntarily terminated for cause, as determined in the sole
discretion of the College; or

The employee’s employment with the College is terminated as a result of the employee’s death or disability.

The final required payments were made in September 2018, and as of June 30, 2019, the College had no remaining
liability related to the RIP.
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SERS Plan Description

SERS is the administrator of a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established by the
Commonwealth to provide pension benefits for employees of state government and certain independent agencies.
SERS is a component unit of the Commonwealth and is included in the Commonwealth’s financial report as a pension
trust fund.

Membership in SERS is mandatory for most state employees. Members and employees of the Pennsylvania General
Assembly, certain elected or appointed officials in the executive branch, department heads and certain employees in the
field of education are not required, but are given the option to participate.

Section 5507 of the State Employees® Retirement Code (SERC) (71 Pa. C.S. §5507) requires the Commonwealth and
other employers whose employees are SERS members to make contributions to the fund on behaif of all active members
and annuitants necessary to fund the iabilities and provide the annmuity reserves required to pay benefits. SERS funding
policy, as set by the SERS board, provides for periodic active member contributions at statutory rates. The SERS funding
policy also provides for periodic employer contributions at actuarially determined rates based on SERS funding valuation,
expressed as a percentage of annual retirement covered payroll, such that they, along with employee contributions and an
actuariatly determined rate of investment return, are adequate to accumulate assets to pay benefits when due.

However, Act 2010-120 imposes rate increase collars (limits on annual rate increases) on employer contributions. The
collar for Commonwealth’s fiscal year 15/16 was 4.5% and was no longer applied effective July 1, 2017.

PSERS Plan Description

PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to
public school employees of the Commonwealth.

The members eligible to participate in PSERS include full-time public school employees, part-time hourly public school
employees who render at least 500 hours of service in the school year, and part-time per diem public school employees
who render at least 80 days of service in the school year in any of the reporting entities in Pennsylvania. Public School
Employees” Retirement Board is established by state law as an independent administrative board of the Commonwealth.
The Public School Employees® Retirement Board exercises conirol and management of PSERS, including the investment
of its assets. Changes in benefit and confribution provisions for the retirement plan must be made by legislation.

SERS Benefits Provided

SERS provides refirement, disability and death benefits. Axticle II of the Commonwealth’s constitution assigns the
authority to establish and amend the benefit provision of the plan to the Pennsylvania General Assembly, Member
retirement benefits are determined by taking years of credited service, multiplied by final average salaty, multiplied by
2.5% or 2.0%, depending on the membership class, multiplied by years of service multiplier. According to the SERC, all
obligations of SERS will be assumed by the Commonwealth should SERS terminate.
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Members are eligible for monthly refirement benefits upon the membership class information noted below. Membership
Class A-3 (Class A-3) includes all eligible employees hired affer December 31, 2010, except members of the judiciary.
Certain groups have effective dates after December 31, 2010 that are tied to the expiration of collective bargaining
agreements. Membership Class A-4 (Class A-4) is the same as Class A-3 except that this class is for members who elect
to pay a higher member contribution amount and receive a higher benefit. Membership Class AA includes all employees
hired after June 30, 2001 but prior to Japuary 1, 2011, except State police officers, members of the judiciary and
legislators, and exnployees hired before July 1, 2001, who elected Class AA by December 31, 2001. To qualify for normal
retirement, Class A-3 and Class A-4 members must work until age 65 with a mininmum of three years of sexvice or attain a
total combination of age and service that is equal to or greater than 92 with a minimum of 35 years of service. Benefits
for Class AA and Class A-4 are equal 10 2,5% of the high three-year final average salary (FAS) of the member multiplied
by the number of years and fractions of credited service. To qualify for nommal retirement, Class AA and Class A
members must work until age 60 with a minimum of three years of service or atiain a total combination of age and service
that is equal to or greater than 92 with a minimum of 35 years of service. Benefits for Class A and Class A-3 are equal to
2% of the high three-year FAS of the member multiplied by the years and fractions of credited service. Members who
have 41 or more years of combined Class A-3, A-4, A and AA service are entitled to a supplemental benefit ranging from
2% of the applicable single life annuity for members with 41 years of service to 10% of the applicable single life annuity
for members with 45 or more years of service. The benefit for 2 member who works past age 70 is at least equal to a
benefit that is the actuarial equivalent of the prior year’s benefit. All Class A-3 and A-4 members have a vested
entiflement after 10 years of eredited service. All other classes are vested afier five years of credited service.

The disability benefit is equal to the benefit calculated as of normal retirement age, based on years of credited service at

disability, if the result is greater than or equal to 33 1/3% of FAS at time of disability. If the benefit so calculated is less
than 33 1/3% of FAS, the disability benefit is equal to the smaller of:

a. The benefit calculated as of normal retirement age based on service projected to retirement date; or

b. 33 1/3% of FAS at time of disability.

For service-connected disabilities, the disability benefit payable will be increased, as needed, so that the sum of the plan
benefit and the benefits paid or payable under the Workers” Compensation Act, The Pennsylvania Occupational Disease
Act and the Social Security Act equals 70% of FAS.

A member is eligible for death benefits prior to retirement if the member is under the age of 60 and has 5 years of credited
service for those in Class A and AA and under the age of 65 and has 10 years of credited service for those in Class A-3
and A-4 or has reached the age of 60 for members in Class A and AA (or age 65 for members in Class A-3 and A-4) with
3 vyears of credited state service. A member who elects the maximum single life amnuity is entitled to a refund of the
unpaid balance of the accumulated member contributions and interest at the time of retirement. A member may elect one
of several optional reduced pensions in lieu of the maximum single life annuity fo provide additional death benefit
protection. The optional forms of benefit are actuarially equivalent fo the maximun single life annuity benefit using 4%
interest per annum, compounded annually, and several actuarial equivalence factors.

PSERS Benefits Provided

PSERS - provides retirement, disability and death benefits, Members are eligible for monthly retirement benefits upon
reaching (a) age 62 with at least 1 year of credited service; (b) age 60 with 30 or more years of credited service; or (¢) 35 or
more years of service regardless of age. Act 120 of 2010 (ACT 120) preserves the benefits of existing members and
introduced benefit reductions for individuals who become new members on or after July 1, 2011. Act 120 created two new
membership classes, Membership Class T-E (Class T-E) and Membership Class T-F (Class T-F). To qualify for normal
retirement, Class T-E and Class T-F members must work until age 65 with a minimum of 3 years of service or attain a total
combination of age and service that is equal to or greater than 92 with a minimum of 35 years of service. Benefits are
generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending vpon the membership class, of the member’s final average salary (as defined by
Code) multiplied by the number of years of credited service. For members whose membership started prior to July 1, 2011,
after completion of five years of service, a member’s right to the defined benefits is vested and early retirement benefits may
be elected. For Class T-E and Class T-F members, the right to benefits is vested afier 10 years of service.,
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Participants are eligible for disability retirement benefits after completion of five years of credited service. Such benefits
are generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending upon the membership class of the member’s final average salary (as defined
in the Code) multiplied by the number of years of credited service, but not less than one-third of such salary nor greater
than the benefit the member would have had at normal retirement age. Members over normal retirement age may apply
for disability benefits.

Death benefits are payable upon the death of an active member who has reached 62 with at least one year of credited
service (age 65 with at least three years of credited service for Class T-E and Class T-F members) or who has at least five
years of credited service (ten years for Class T-E and Class T-F members). Such benefits are actuarially equivalent to the
benefit that would have been effective if the member had retired on the day before death.

SERS Member Contributions

Regular member contributions for Class A-3 and Class AA are equal to 6.25% of total compensation, for Class A-4
contributions are equal to 9.3% of total compensation, and Class A contributions are equal to 5% of total compensation.

Any member who elects the Social Security Integration Credit pays 5% of any salary 10 excess of the amount of salary
covered by Social Security during the year for which contributions are being made. A member electing to end additional
contributions is ineligible to make future contributions or accrue future benefits, Class A and AA members may elect to
waive future contributions on an annual basis if their maximum single life annuity exceeds 110% of their highest calendar
year compensation.

PSERS Member Contributions

Active members who joined the System prior to July 22, 1983 confribute at 5.25% (Membership Class T-C) or at 6.5%
(Membership Class T-D) of the member’s qualitying compensation.

Members who joined the System on or after July 22, 1983 and who were active or inactive as of July 1, 2001 contribute at
6.25% (Membership Class T-C} or at 7.5% (Membership Class T-D) of the member’s qualifying compensation.

Members who joined the System after June 30, 2001 and before July 1, 2011 contribute at 7.5% (automatic Membership
Class T-D). For all new hires and for members who elected Class T-I) membership, the higher contribution rates began
with service rendered on or after January 1, 2002.

Members who joined the System after June 30, 2011 avtomatically contribute at the Membership Class T-E rate of 7.5%
(base rate) of the member’s qualifying compensation. All new hires after June 30, 2011 who elect Class T-F membership
contribute at 10.3% (base rate) of the member’s qualifying compensation. Membership Class T-E and Class T-F are
affected by a “shared risk” provision in Act 120 of 2010 that in future fiscal years could cause the Membership Class T-E
contribution rate to fluctuate between 7.5% and 9.5% and Membership Class T-F contribution rate to fluctuate between
10.3% and 12.3%.

SERS Employer Contributions

The employers contractually required contribution rates for SERS for fiscal years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
were as follows:

2018 Employer 2017 Employer
Class/Description Category Deseription Contribution Rate | Contribution Rate
A3/A4 Effective 1/1/2011 | All others with age 65 retirement 23.94% 23.80%
A All others with a retirement age of 60 27.711% 27.55%
AA All others with a retirement age of 60 34.63% 34.44%
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The percentages above were actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is
expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year with an additional amounnt to finance any
unfunded accrued liability. The College’s contributions to SERS for the years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were
$346,131, $279,453 and $192,720, respectively, equal to the required contractual contributions.

PSERS Employer Contributions

The employer’s contractually required coniribution rate for PSERS was 32.6% and 31.74% of covered payroll for fiscal
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. This amount was actuarially determined as an amount that, when
combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by cmployees during the year
with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liabilify. In accordance with section 8327 of the PSERS
Retirement Code, the Commoenwealth is required to contribute 50% of the above-stated contribution rate directly to
PSERS on behalf of the emplayer. The College’s contributions to PSERS for the years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and
2017 were $516,282, $458.639 and $349,367, respectively, equal to the required contractual confributions.

Combined Net Pension Liability and Proportionate Share

At June 30, the College reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of SERS and PSERS. The
amount recognized by the Coliege in the accompanying statements of net position as its proportionate share was as follows:

Measurement Net Pension Liability Proportionate Share
Plan Date 2019 2018 2019 2018
SERS December 31 $ 3687439 § 2,373,448 0.017706% 0.01373%
PSERS June 30 5,137,000 4,396,000 0.01070% 0.00890%
Net Pension Liability $ 8824439 § 6,769,448

SERS Proportionate Share

The net pension liability relative to SERS was measured as of December 31, 2018, and the total pension Hability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward the System’s total pension Hability as of
December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018. The employer’s portion of the net pension liability was calculated utilizing
the employer’s one-year reported covered payroll as it relates to the total ons-year reported covered payroll. At
December 31, 2018, the employer’s proportion share of the net pension liability was 0.01770%, which was an increase of
.00397% from the proportion measured as of December 31, 2017.

PSERS Proportionate Share

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the College reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability that
reflected a decrease for Commonwealth pension support provided to the College. The amount recognized by the College
as its proportionate share of the net pension liability, the related Commonwealth support, and the total portion of the net
pension liability that was associated with the College are in the table above.

The net pension lability relative to PSERS was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward the System’s total pension liability as of June 30,
2017 to June 30, 2018. The College’s portion of the net pension liability was calculated utilizing the College’s one-year
reported covered payroll as it relates to the total one-year reported covered payroll. As of the measurement date of
Tupe 30, 2018, the College’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was 0.01670%, which was an increase of
0.0018% from the proportion measured as of June 30, 2017, The College’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
was $5,137,000 and $4,396,000 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These amounts were recognized by the College
in its June 30, 2019 and 2018 statements of net position.
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The Commonwealth is required to contribute 50% of the College’s contribution directly to PSERS on behalf of the
College. The total of the collective net pension liability relative to PSERS that is associated with the College as of the
respective measurement date of June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

2019 2018
College $ 5,137,000 % 4,396,000
Commonwealth 5,137,000 4,396,000

N3 10,274,000 3§ 8,792,000

Combined Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the College recognized pension expense of $1,597,540 and $1,007,173,
respectively. At June 30, 2019, employer contributions payable was $55,064 payable for PSERS. At June 30, 2018,
employer contributions payable was $48,231 payable for PSERS. These amounts were for the legally required
contributions to the plans.

At June 30, the College reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from
the following sources:

2019 2018
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources
Difference between expected
and actual experience $ 119,956 $ 96,335 % 72,066 $ 86,131
Changes in assumptions - 194,242 - 237,828
Net differences between projected
and actual investment earnings - 383,766 94,368 102,000
Changes in propottions 44,726 2,004,583 141,940 1,148,183
Difference between employer
contributions and proportionate
share of total contributions 53,133 4,413 26,394 8,091
Contributions subsequent to
the measurement date - 696,763 - 608,039
$ 217,815 % 3,380,102 $ 334,768 3 2,160,272

The $696,763 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from employer contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June
30, 2020.
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SERS Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

The components of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, other than the difference between
the projected and actual investment earnings on investments, are amortized info pension expenses over a 5.3-year closed
period, which reflects the weighted average remaining service life of all SERS members, beginning the year in which the
deferred amount occurs (current year). The components of deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflows of
resources were amortized into pension expense over a 5.2-year closed period in the prior period. The annual difference

between the projected and actual earnings on SERS investments is amortized over a five-year closed period beginning the
year in which the difference occurs (current year).

PSERS Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

The components of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, other than the difference between
the projected and actual investment earnings on investments, are amortized into pension expenses over 4 four years, which
is the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive members. The components of deferred outflow of
resources and deferred inflows of resources were amortized into pension expense over five years in the prior period. The
annual difference between the projected and actual earnings on PSERS investments is amortized over a five-year period.

Combined Future Period Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

The amounts of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the above items that will be
recognized in pension expense in future periods as of June 30 are as follows:

June 30, 2019
SERS PSERS
Fiscal Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Year Inflows Qutflows Inflows Quitflows
2020 $ 150,884 § 546,093 - 5 507,000
2021 110,790 409,707 - 454,000
2022 92,811 325,936 - 299,000
2023 8,561 269971 % 20,000 -
2024 2,401 40,264 - -
June 30, 2018
SERS PSERS
Fiscal Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Year Inflows Outflows Inflows Outflows
2019 3 148,119 § 267,924 - 3 222,000
2020 121,381 252,231 - 312,000
2021 81,287 137,866 - 267,000
2022 66,572 64,041 - 131,000
2023 553 10,315 - -

SERS Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability as of December 31, 2018 was determined by rolling forward the SERS’s total pension liability
as of the December 31, 2017 actuarial vatuation to the December 31, 2018 valuation using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
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s Actuarial cost method - entry age for 2018 and 2017,

« Investment return - 7.25% net of expenses for 2018 and 2017, including inflation of 2.6% for 2018 and 2017.
o Salary increases - Average of 5.60%, with range of 3.70% to 8.90%, including inflation for 2018 and 2017.

«  Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Tables (male and female) with age set
back three ycars for both males and females. For disabled annuitants the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Tables
(male and female) with age set back seven years for males and three years for females for 2018 and 2017.

» Amortization method ~ Used straight-line amortization of investments over a five-year period, and amortized
assumption changes and noninvestient gains/losses over the average expected remaining service lives of all
employees that are provided benefits for 2018 and 2017,

«  Asset valuation method - Fair market value for 2018 and 2017.

e Cost-of-Living Adjustinents (COLA) - Provided ad hoc at the discretion of the General Assembly, none were
provided during 2017 and 2018.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 and 2017 valuation were based on the experience study that was
performed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015. The recommended assumption changes based on this
experience study were adopted by the SERS Board at its April 2017 Board meeting. The SERS Board approved the
recommendations of the actuary, and the new assumptions were first used in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation.

The long-term. expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return {expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and
by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major
asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset aliocation as of December 31, are summarized in the following table:

2019 2018
Long-Term Long-Term
Expected Expected
Target Real Rate Target Real Rate
Asset Class Allocation of Refurn Allocation of Return
Alternate investments 16% 7.25% 16% 8.00%
Global public equity 48% 5.15% 43% 5.30%
Real assets 12% 5.26% 12% 5.44%
Diversifying assets 10% 4.44% 12% 5.10%
Fixed income 11% 1.26% 14% 1.63%
Liquidity reserve 3% - 3% (0.25%)
100% 100%
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PSERS Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2018 was determined by rolling forward the PSERS’s total pension liability as of
the June 30, 2017 actvarial valuation to June 30, 2018 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

o Actuarial cost method - Eniry Age Normal - leve] percentage of pay for 2018 and 2017.
+ Investment return - 7.25% includes inflation at 2.75% for 2018 and 2017.

s Salary increases - For 2018 and 2017, effective average of 5.0%, which reflects an allowance for inflation of
2.75% and 2.25% for real wage growth and for merit or seniority increases.

« Mortality - For 2018 and 2017, mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and
Females, adjusted fo reflect PSERS’s experience and projected using a modified version of MP-2015 Mortality
{raprovement Scale. For disabled annuitants the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to
reflect PSERS’s experience and projected using a modified version of the MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale.

»  Amortization method - Level dollar, open for 2018 and 2017,
»  Asset valuation method - 10-year smoothed market for 2018 and 2017.
* COLA - provided from the anmuity reserve account, none were provided during 2017 and 2018

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the experience study that was performed for
the five-year period ended June 30, 2015. The recommended assumption changes based on this experience study were
adopted by the PSERS Board at its June 10, 2016 Board meeting, and were effective beginning with the June 30, 2016
actuarial valuation. :

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of refurn (expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and
by adding expected inflation.

The pensions plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is established and may be amended by the
PSERS Board. Plan assets are managed with a long-term objective of achieving and maintain a fully funded status for the
benefits provided through the pension.

2019 2018
Long-Term Long-Term
Target Expected Real Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return Allocation Rate of Return
Public markets global equity 20.0% 5.2% 20.0% 5.1%
Private real estate 10.0% 4.2% 10.0% 3.6%
Global fixed income 36.0% 2.2% 36.0% 2.6%
Cash 3.0% 0.4% 3.0% 0.6%
Absolute return 10.0% 3.5% 10.0% 3.4%
Risk parity 10.0% 3.9% 10.0% 3.8%
MLPs/Infrastructure 8.0% 5.2% 8.0% 4.8%
Alternative investments 15.0% 6.7% 15.0% 6.2%
Commodities 8.0% 3.2% 8.0% 3.0%
Financing (LIBOR) {20.0%) 0.9% (20.0%) 1.1%
100.0% 100.0%
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The above was the PSERS Board’s adopted asset allocation policy and best estimate of geometric real rates of retum for
each major asset class as of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017,

Combined Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for SERS and PSFERS was 7.25% for 2019 and 2018. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the rates
applicable for each member and that employer contributions will be made based on rates determined by the actuary.
Based on those assumptions, fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current active and non-active members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of refwrn on investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments fo determine the total pension liability.

Combined Sensitivity of the College’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018, caleulated using the discount rate of 7.25%, as
well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point lower (6.25%) or
1% percentage point higher (8.25%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
6.25% 7.25% 8.25%

2019 SERS College’s proportionate

share of the net pension liability $ 4,527874 § 3,687,439 § 2,967,232
2019 PSERS College’s proportionate

share of the net pension lability 6,367,000 5,137,000 4,096,000
2018 SERS College’s proportionate

share of the net pension liability 3,012,646 2,373,448 1,825,901
2018 PSERS College’s proportionate

share of the net pension Hability 5,411,000 4,396,000 3,539,000

SERS Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about SERS’s fiduciary net positon, plan’s basis of accounting and information about the substance
and magnitude of significant changes that have occurred is available in SERS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
which can be found on the System’s website at www.sers.pa.gov

PSERS Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about PSERS’s fiduciary net positon, plan’s basis of accounting and information about the substance
and magnitude of significant changes that have occurred is available in PSERS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
which can be found on the System’s website at www.psers.state.pa.us

NOTE 11 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Effective July 1, 2017, the College adopted GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. The statement establishes new accounting and financial reporting
requirements for OPEB plans and replaces the requirements of Statement No. 45, Accounting und Financial Reporting by
Employers for Pastemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. As aresult, the College recorded an adjustment to reduce
net position by $157,000 to record the beginning balance of the net OPEB liability.
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PSERS Plan Deseription

PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit plan that provides retirement benefits to public
school employees of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The members eligible to participate in PSERS include full-
time public school employees, part-time hourly public school employees who render at least 500 hours of service in the
school year, and part-time per diem public school employees who render at least 80 days of service in the school year in
any of the reporting enfities in Pennsylvania. Public School Employees” Retirement Board is established by state law as
an independent administrative board of the Commonwealth. The Public Scheel Employees’ Retirement Board exercises
control and management of PSERS, including the investment of its assets. Changes in benefit and contribution provisions
for the retirement plan must be made by legislation.

PSERS Benefits Provided

PSERS provides Health Insurance Premium Assistance, which is a governmental cost-sharing, multiple-employer OPEB
for all eligible retirees who qualify and elect to participate. Employer contribution rates for Premium Assistance are
established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance Account that are sufficient for the payment of Preminm Assistance
benefits for each succeeding year. Effective January 1, 2002 under the provisions of Act 9 of 2001, participating eligible
retirees are entitled {o receive premium assistance payments equal to the lesser of $100 per month or their out-of-pocket
monthly health insurance premium. To receive premium assistance, eligible retirees must obtain their health insurance
through either their school employer or the PSERS’s Health Options Program (HOP). As of June 30, 2018, there were no
assumed future benefit increases to participating eligible retirees.

Participants are eligible if they have retired from the system and satisfy the following etiteria:

s Have 24-1/2 or more years of service, or

* Are adisability retiree, or

e Have 15 or more years of service and retired after reaching superannuation age, and
s Participate in the HOP or employer-sponsored health insurance program

PSERS Employer Contributions

The employer’s contractually required contribution rate for PSERS was 0.83% of covered payroll for fiscal years ended
June 30, 2019 and 2018. This amount was actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year with an additional amount
to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The College’s contribution to PSERS for the years ended June 30, 2019 and
2018 was $13,145 and $11,993, respectively, equal to the required coniractual contributions.

Other Post-Employment Benefits Liability and Proportionate Share

At Jupe 30, the College reporied a liability for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The amount recognized
by the College as its proportionate share was as follows:

Measurement Net OPEB Liability Proportionate Share
Plan Date 2019 2018 2019 2018
PSERS June 30 $ 223,000 § 181,000 0.01070% 0.00890%

PSERS Proportionate Share

At June 30, 2019, the College reported a liability for its proportionate share of the OPEB liability. The amount recognized
by the College as its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, the related Commonwealth support, and the total
portion of the net OPEB liability that was associated with the College are in the table above.
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The net OPEB liability relative to PSERS was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate
the net OPEB lability was determined by rolling forward the System’s total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 to
June 30, 2018. The College’s portion of the net OPEB liability was calculated utilizing the College’s one-year reported
covered payrol as it relates to the total one-year reported covered payroll. As of the measurement date of June 30, 2018,
the College’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability was 0.01070%, which was an increase of 0.0018% from the
proportion measured as of June 30, 2017. The College’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability was $223,000 and
$181,000 at Tune 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These amounts were recognized by the College in its June 30, 2019
and 2018 statement of net position.

The Commonwealth is required to contribute 50% of the College’s contribution directly to PSERS on behalf of the
College. The total of the collective OPEB liability relative to PSERS that is associated with the College as of the
respective measurement date of June 30 is as follows;

2019 2018
College A 223,000 % 181,000
Commonwealth 223,000 181,000
$ 446,000 § 362,000

Combined Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the College recognized OPEB expense of $21,000 and $13,000,
respectively. At June 30, 2019, employer contributions payable was $1,402 payable for PSERS. At June 30, 2018,
employer contributions payable was $1,261 payable to PSERS. These amounts were for the legally required contributions
to the plans.

At June 30, the College reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEBs from
the following sources;

2019 2018
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Inflows of Quitflows of Inflows of Outflows of
Resources Resources Resonrces Resonrces
Difference between expected
and actual experience $ 1,000 - -

Changes in assurptions b 8,000 4,000 § 8,000 -
Net differences between projected ‘

and actual investiment earnings - - - -
Changes in proportions - 57,000 - b 30,000
Difference between employer

contributions and proportionate

share of total contributions - - - -
Contributions subsequent to

the measurement date - 13,145 - 11,993

$ 8,000 § 75,145 $ 8,000 $ 41,993

The $13,145 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from employer contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB Hability in the year ending
June 30, 2020.
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PSERS Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

The components of deferred outflows of resowrces and deferred inflows of resources, other than the difference between
the projected and actual investment earnings on investments, are amortized into pension expenses over seven years, which
is the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive members. The components of deferred owtflow of
resources and deferred inflows of resources were amortized into pension expense over five years in the prior period. The
annual difference between the projected and actnal earnings on PSERS investments is amortized over a five-year period,

Combined Future Period Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Infiows of Resources

The amounts of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relaled to the above items that will be
recognized in OPEB expense in future periods as of June 30 are as follows:

June 30,2019 - PSERS

Fiscal Deferred Deferred
Year Inflows Outflows
2020 - 3 10,000
2021 - 10,000
2022 - 10,000
2023 - 10,000

Thereafter - 6,000

June 30, 2018 - PSERS

Fiscal Deferred Deferred
Year Inflows " Qutflows
2019 - 3 4,000
2020 - 4,000
2021 - 4,000
2022 - 4,000

Thereafter - 5,000

PSERS Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPER liability as of June 30, 2018 was determined by rofling forward the PSERS’s total OPEB liability as of

the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation to June 30, 2018 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

s Actuarial cost method - Entry Age Normal - level percentage of pay for 2018 and 2017,

«  Investment return - 2.98% and 3.13% for 2018 and 2017, respectively, using the Standard & Poors Municipal
Bond Rate.

¢ Salary increases - effective average of 5.0%, which reflects an allowance for inflation of 2.75% and 2.25% for
real wage growth and for merit or seniority increases for 2018 and 2017,

+ Mortality - mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect
PSERS’s experience and projected using a modified version of MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale, For
disabled participants the RP-2014 Mortality Tabies for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS’s experience
and projected using a modified version of the MP-2015 Mortality Iinprovement Scale for 2018 and 2017.
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s Healthcare cost trend - was applied to retirees with less than $1,200 in premium assistance per year for 2018 and
2017.

s Participation rate - eligible retirees will elect to participate pre age 65 at 50%, and eligible retirees will elect to
participate Post Age 65 at 70% for 2018 and 2017.

The following actuarial assumptions used to determine the contribution rate for 2018 and 2017:

= Cost method - the amount necessary to assure solvency of Preminm Assistance through the third fiscal year after
the valuation date.

s  Asset valuation method - market value.
s Participation rate - 63% of eligible retirees are assumed to elect premium assistance.

e Mortality rates and retirement ages - based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Tables with age setback
three for both males and females for healthy annuitants and for dependent bepeficiaries. For disabled annuitants,
the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Tables with age setback seven years for males and three years for females for
disabled annuitants. (A unisex table based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Tables with age setback -
three years for both genders asswming the population consists of 25% males and 75% females is used to determine
actuarial equivalent benefits.)

Investments consist primarily of shori-term assets designed to protect the principal of the plan assets, The expected rate of
return on OPEB plan investments was determined using the OPEB asset allocation policy and best estimates of geometric
real rates of return for each asset class.

The OPEB plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is established and may be amended by the
Board. Under the program, as defined in the retivement code employer contribution rates for Premium Assistance are
established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance Account that are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance
benefits for each succeeding year.

2019 2018
Long-Term Long-Term
Target Expected Real Target Expected Real
OPEB Asset Class Allocation Rate of Refurn Allocation Rate of Return

Cash 5.9% 0.03% 76.4% 0.6%
Fixed income 92.8% 1.2% 23.6% 1.5%
Global fixed income 1.3% 0.4% - -

100.0% 100.0%

The above was the PSERS Board’s adopted asset allocation policy and best estimate of geometric real rates of retwrn for
each major asset class as of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017.

Combined Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for PSERS was 2.98% and 3.13% for 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Under the plan’s funding policy, contributions are structured for short-term funding of Premiuvm Assistance,
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The funding policy sets contribution rates necessary to assure solvency of Premium Assistance through the third fiscal
vear after the actuarial valuation date. The Premium Assistance account is funded to establish reserves that are sufficient
for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding year. Due to the short-term funding policy, the
OPEB plan’s fiduciary uet position was not projected to be sufficient to meet projected future benefit payments; therefore,
the plan is considered a “pay-as-you-go” plan. A discount rate of 2.98% and 3.13%, which represents the S&P 20-year
Municipal Bond Rate at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was applied to all projected benefit payments to measure
the total OPER liability.

Sensitivity of the College’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Disconnt Rate
The following presents the net OPEB liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018, calculated using the discount rate of 2.98%, and

3.13%, respectively as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1%
point lower (1.98% and 2.13%) or 1% percentage point higher (3.98% and 4.13%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
1.98% and 2.13% 2.98% and 3.13% 3.98% and 4,13%
2019 PSERS College’s proportionate
share of the net OPEB lability 5 254,000 5 223,000 $ 198,000
2018 PSERS College’s proportionate
share of the net OPEB liability 206,000 181,000 161,000

Sensitivity of the College’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost
Trend

The following presents the net OPEB liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018, calculated using the discount rate of 2.98%, and
3.13%, respectively, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1%
point lower {1.98% and 2.13% ) or 1% percentage point higher (3.98% and 4.13%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Tncrease
2019 PSERS College’s proportionate
share of the net OPEB liability 3 223,000 $ 223,000 $ 223,000
2018 PSERS College’s proportionate
share of the net OPEB liability . 181,000 181,000 181,000

PSERS OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about PSERS’s fiduciary net positon, plan’s basis of accounting and information about the substance
and magnitude of significant changes that have occurred is available in PSERS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report,
which can be found on the System’s website at www.psers.state.pa.us
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NOTE 12 - EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATION

The Foundation is a legaily separate, tax-exempt component unit of the College. The Foundation acts primarily as a fund-
raising organization to supplement the resources that are available to the College in support of its programs. It is
governed by its own Board of Directors, whose members represent the broad-based corporate and community interests of
the County. The Foundation’s Board of Directors forms policy and maintains fiscal accountability over funds
administered by the Foundation. Although the College does not control the timing or amount of receipts from the
Foundation, the majority of resources or income thereon that the Foundation holds and invests is restricted to the activities
of the College by the donors. Because these restricted resources held by the Foundation can only be used by, or for the
benefit of, the College, the Foundation is considered a component unit of the College and is therefore discretely presented
with the College’s financial statements in accordance with GASB Statement No. 39, Defermining Whether Certain
Organizations Ave Component Units - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14.

Based on the Foundation’s audited financial staterments as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Foundation’s net assets totaled
$18,244,206 and $11,595,886, respectively. Complete financial statements for the Foundation can be obtained from Mr.
James R. McMahon, Executive Director of Foundation, 808 Ridge Avenue, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15212-6097,

NOTE 13 - CONTINGENCIES

The nature of the educational industry is such that, from time to time, the College is exposed to various risks of loss
related to torts; alleged negligence; acts of discrimination; breach of contract; disagreements arising from the
interpretation of laws or regulations; theft of, damage to; and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to
employees; and natural disasters. While some of these claims may be for substantial amounts, they are not vnusual in the
ordinary course of providing educational services in a higher education system. In addition, the College’s liability
associated with some claims may be negated or substantially reduced by the governmental or sovereign immunity
afforded to it through the Tort Claims Act. The College has not reduced any of its insurance coverage from the prior year
and settled claims have not significantly exceeded the College’s coverage in any of the past three years. The College does
not participate in any public entity risk pools and does not retain risk related to any aforementioned exposure, except for
those amounts incured relative to policy deductibles that are not significant.

Litigation

During the normal course of its operaiions, the College has been named as a defendant in certain legal actions and claims.
The College’s management is of the opinion that the disposition of these legal actions and claims will not have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the College. The College purchases
commercial insurance to cover certain potential losses. The amount of settlement has not exceeded insurance coverage in
fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018,

Grants

The College received financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of grants. The expenditure of funds
received under these programs generally requires compliance with terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements
and is subject to audit by the grantor agencies.

Any disallowed claims resuiting from such audits conld become a liability of the College. However, in the opinion of

management, any such disallowed claims will not have a material adverse effect on the overall financial position, resulis
of operations or cash flows of the College at June 30, 2019 and 2018.
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NOTE 13 - CONTINGENCIES (Continued)
Pollntion Remediation

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations,
the College is required to recognize and disclose estimated costs for cleanup of pollution that the College might have an
obligation to remediate. The pollution remediation Hability is estimated by reviewing the current status of known polluted
sites and developing estimates of cleanup costs. These estimates are subject to change due to improvements in
technology, inflation, changes in the scope of work and the pursuit of reimbursement from other responsible parties.
Pursuant to this accounting pronouncement, the College does not have any known remediation obligations. Accordingly,
no recorded liabilities exist as of June 30, 2019 and 2018.
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NOTE 14 - NATURAL CLASSIFICATIONS WITH FUNCTIONATL CLASSIFICATIONS

Expenses by natural classification for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

2019
Salaries Supplies Scholarships Depreciation
and and Other and and
Wages Benefits Services Utilities Fellowships Amortization Total
Instraction $ 38,433,390 $ 8,549,492 § 4,454,612 § 3,010 - - $ 51,440,504
Academic support 6,135,388 2,036,790 627,220 8,092 B - 8,807,490
Student services and activities 8,919,711 3,241,837 3,021,721 - - - 15,183,269
Institutional support 12,819,850 5,919,449 6,986,424 - - - 25,725,723
Plant operations
and maintenance 5,638,194 2,194,864 4,699,984 4,040,633 - - 16,573,675
Student aid - - - - $ 7,904,952 - 7,904,952
Depreciation and amortization - - - - - $ 8,965,261 8,865,261
Auxiliary enterprise - - 78,452 - - - 78,452
S 71,946,533 $ 21,942,432 § 19,868,413 § 4,051,735 § 7,904,952 § 8,965,261 § 134,679,326
2018
Salaries Supplies Scholarships Depreciation
and and Other and and
Wages Benefits Services Utilities Fellowships Amortization Total
Instruction $ 37,807,572 § 8495920 $ 4369717 § 2,994 - - $ 50,676,203
Academic support 6,311,042 2,077,331 884,208 7,142 - - 9,279,813
Student services and activities 9,203,971 3,235,555 2,352,270 - - - 14,791,796
Institutional support 13,918,237 3,492,067 6,749,946 - - - 24,160,250
Plant operations
and maintenance 5,563,853 2,175,504 4,072,543 4,168,645 - - 15,980,545
Student aid - - - - 3 5,779,581 - 5,775,581
Depreciation and amortization - - - - - $ 8,598,627 8,598,627
Auxiliary enterprise - - 63,654 - - - 63,654
$ 72,804,675 $ 19476377 § 18492428 $ 4,178,781 % 5,779,581 § 8,598,627 $§ 129,330,469
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Functional Expenses
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Required Supplementary Information
For the years ended Iune 30, 2019 and 2018

Required Supplementary Information - Pension

2019 2018
Schedule of the College’s Proportionate Share of the Netf Pension Liability
Pennsylvania State Employees’ Retirement System Pension Plan
College’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.01770% 0.01373%
College’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 3,687,439 § 2,373,448
College’s covered-employee payroll - 1,226,373 918,336
College’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 300.68% 258.45%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 56.40% 63.00%
Schedule of College SERS Ceontributions
Confractually required contribution 346,131 279,453
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 346,131 279,453
Contribution deficiency - -
College’s covered-employee payroll 1,210,524 947,822
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 28.59% 29.48%
Schedule of the College’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
Public School Employees’ Retirement System
College’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.01070% 0.00890%
College’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 5,137,000 4,396,000
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability 5,317,000 4,396,000
Total proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 10,274,000 § 8,792,000
College’s covered-employee payroll 3 1,447,554 § 1,181,639
College’s proportionaie share of the net pension liability
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 367.31% 372.03%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 54.00% 51.84%
Schedule of College PSERS Contributions
Contractually required contribution $ 516,281 § 458,639
Condributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 516,281 458,639
Contribution deficiency - -
Collepe’s covered-employee payroll 1,583,781 1,421,378
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroli 32.60% 32.26%
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Changes of benefit terms
There were no changes in benefit terms affecting SERS and PSERS plans for the plan years ended December 31, 2018
and June 30, 2018, respectively.

Changes of assurnptions

There were no changes in assumptions or plan amendments affecting SERS and PSERS plans for the plan years ended
December 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018, respectively.
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Required Snpplementary Information - OPEB

Schedule of the College’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability
Public School Employees’ Retirement System

Total OPEB Liability
2019 2018
Service cost b 21,569 §$ 14,993
Interest cost 9,007 5,465
Expected return on Assets (514) (299)
Current period difference between projected and actual experience 289 -
Change in assumptions 738 (1,406)
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings 64 48
Administrative expenses 350 199
Changes in proportion 12,547 5,000
Current recognition of prior year deferred outflows 73 -
Current recognition of prior year deferred outflows (2,123) -
Net change in total OPEB liability 42,000 24,000
Total OPEB liability - beginning 181,000 157,000
Total OPEB liability - ending $ 223,000 & 181,000
College’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.01070% 0.00890%
College’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $ 223000 % 181,000
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s proportionate share of the net
OPEB liability 223,000 181,000
Total proportionate share of the net OPEB liability R 446000 % 362,000
College’s covered-employee payroll $ 1,447,554  § 1,181,639
College’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 1541% 15.32%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 5.56% 5.73%
Schedule of Coilege PSERS Contributions
2019 2018
Contractually required contribution 3 13,145 $ 11,993
Contributions in relation to the contractually 13,145 11,993
College’s covered-employee payroll 1,583,781 1,421,378
Contributions as a percentage of covered- 0.83% 0.84%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2019
GASB 75 was implemented beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

GASB 75 requires presentation of ten years of data. As of June 30, 2019, only two years of fiscal year information
was available. This schedule is being prepared prospectively until ten years of data are presented.
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Changes of benefit terms
There were no changes in benefit terms affecting PSERS plans for the plan year June 30, 2018.

Changes of assumptions

There were no changes in assumptions or plan amendments affecting PSERS plans for the plan year ended June 30,
2018 with the following exception:

s The investment return was 2.98% and 3.13% for the plan years June 30, 2018 and 2017, respactwely, using
the Standard & Poors Municipal Bond Rate.
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Community College of Allsghery County
Bond Disclosures fer Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2019

Gommunity College Funding Structure

For the Callege during the 2018-48 fiscal year, the budgeted shares of each funding source are as follows: the Commonwealth (Base Funding
22.3%, Economic Development Stipend 6.3% and Capital Contribution 3.7%) 31.3%, the Local Sponsor, 20.3%, and {uition and other revenues of
the college, 48.4%.

Source: The College.

Financial Aid

Students of the College received the following grants, aid, loans and other financial aid in 1he fiscal years set forth below:

[ FY13-14 | FY 14-15 FY 15-18 FY 16-17 FY 1718 FY 18-19
2014 2015 201§ 2017 2018 2019
Grants and Scholarships:
P=ll $ 28,302,360 § 26,568,568 5 22,731,638 $ 21,811,020 L3 22,728,38E § 21,003,830
PHEA $ 2,032,280 S 1,734,325 §  1,8955017 § 2178822 5 1,970,02¢ ¥ 2,089,251
SEQG $ 433,399 $ 281,250 $ 510,145 $ 485,817 5 455,392 $ 580,925
Institufional Grants
Private Grants, Loans & Scholarships $ 1.582635 $ 1,542,983 $ 1,690,483 5 21687,730 $ 1,968,122 s 2,181,159
Loans:
Stafford Loans/PLUS $ 20,348,720 $ 18,919,103 § 22,624,429 § 15,688,648 5 23,230,488 K 17,221,841
Employment:
College Wark Study $ 305,150 $ 384,822 $ 345,745 3 378,536 5 320,011 g 236,295
Student Employment 3 22,563 $ 24,238 3 25,809 $ 34,054 $ 25,889 $ 16,016
Total of Students Receiving
Financial Aid (estimate) * 14,430 * 14,000 * 14,388 * 12,986 12,086 10,293
Source: The College; College Director, Financial Ald.
* Undupli iving Fi ial Aid
Enroliment
The Collega’s enroliment for each of the fiscal years set forth belew is or was as follows:
| FTE 1
[ Fiscalyear | | Credt [ | NonCredit | [ _ Total
2008 30,853 3,203 34,153
2009 32,333 3,011 35,344
2010 35,721 1.871 37,682
2014 35,606 3018 38,622
2092 34,515 3,028 37,543
2013 32,066 2,519 34,585
2014 28,207 2,029 31,326
2015 28,012 1,458 29,471
2016 28,948 1,245 28,143
2017 28,873 1472 28,143
2018 27,027 1,709 28,738
2019 25,165 1,601 27,786

Source: The College.
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Cammunity College of Allegheny County
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Student Fees and Charges

The following table sels forth the fees, cosis and charges paid by studenis per semester, per credit haur, in each of the fiscal years set forth:

FY 1314 FY 1418 FY15.18 FY 16-17 FY17-18 FY 18-19
2014 2015 2018 2017 2018 2019
In County Tuition - n6 ¢ap i+ 3 99,75 ++ $ 104.75 ++ § 10475 ++ § 107.75 ++ 3 110.00 ++ § 113.00 ++
Qut of County Tuition with
Communlty College - no eap {per credit) + 8§ 189.50 ++  § 209.50 ++ § 209.50 ++ § 21550 ++ § 22000 =+ § 226.00 ++
Out of County Tuition without
Community Gollege - no cap {per credif) 3 198.50 ++ % 209.50 ++ § 209.50 ++ § 21560 ++ § 220,00 ++ S 225.00 ++
Qut-of-State - no cap ++ 0§ 28925 ++ § 31428 ++ § 314.26 ++ § 323,25 ++ § 330.00 ++ § 332.00 ++
Technolegy Fee per Credit - no cap $ 15,25 ¥ 19.25 3 22.25 3 2225 $ 22.25 3 2325
Student Services Fee $ 4.26 H 425 3 4.25 $ 4.25 5 426 $ 4.26
Out of Gounty Capital Fee
Full time {per semesten) $ 78.00 3 78.00 $ 78,00 $ 78.00 3 78.00 § 78.00
Part time {per credit hour) 5 8.50 $ 6.50 $ 650 5 6.50 § 8.50 § 6.50
Out of State Capital Fee
Full ime* (per sernester) - $ 78.00 $ 78,00 3 78.00 $ 78.00 § 78.00 § 76.00
Part time * {per c-edit hour) H 6.50 $ 650 $ 6.50 5 5.50 3 8.50 5 6.50
Activity Fea
Full time {per semester) § 50.40 3 50.40 $ 5040 § 72.00 § 72.00 $ 72.00
Part time {per credit hour) $ 4.20 $ 4.20 $ 4.20 $ 6.00 $ 6.00 $ 6,00

++ Beginning Spring semester 2012 the College adopted a flat rate tuition rate
policy. Biudents are assessed uition on a per credit hour basis fo- the first eleven
credit haurs. Tuition is assessed at a flat rate (based on 15 credit howrs) for students

* For FY08 through FY 10, out of state students are assessed both an out of county
capltal fee and oul of state eapital fee for a total of $6.50/credit. For FY11, beth out of

The College considers a student full time at 12 credits when assessing fees.

Source: The College.
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Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC U.S. Bank National Association
Philadelphia, PA Pittsburgh, PA

State Public School Building Authority
Wormleysburg, PA

Re: $18,920,000 College Revenue Bonds (Community College of Allegheny
County Project), Series of 2020

We have served as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the State Public School
Building Authority (the “Authority™), a body corporate and politic created by and existing under
the State Public School Building Authority Act, approved by the General Assembly of the
Commonwealth on July 5, 1947, P.L. 1217, as amended (the “Act™), in connection with the
issuance and sale of its College Revenue Bonds (Community College of Allegheny County
Project), Series of 2020, in the aggregate principal amount of $18,920,000 (the “Bonds”), being
issued under and secured by a Trust Indenture, dated as of the date hereof (the “Indenture™), between
the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania.

The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds for: (1) the planning, design,
and construction of Phase Two of a Workforce Training Center facility on the campus of the
Community College of Allegheny County (the “College”); and (2) paying related costs and
expenses, including the costs of issuance of the Bonds and the related General Obligation Note,
Series of 2020 (the “Note™) of the College.

The proceeds of the Bonds are being loaned by the Authority to the College pursuant to a
Loan Agreement, dated as of date hereof, between the Authority and the College (the “Loan
Agreement”), pursuant to which the College is delivering to the Authority the Note under which the
College is required to make payments in the amounts and on the dates required for the payment of
principal of and interest on the Bonds. Under the Indenture, the Authority has pledged and assigned
to the Trustee as security for the payment of the Bonds all revenues of the Authority derived from,
and all right, title, and interest of the Authority in and to, the Loan Agreement and the Note (except
certain rights to indemnification and to the payment of the Authority’s fees and expenses thereunder).

As the basis for this opinion we have examined such matters of law and such documents,
certifications, instruments, and records as we deemed necessary to enable us to render the opinion
set forth below, including the Act, applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder or made applicable with respect thereto
(collectively, the “Code™), and original counterparts or certified copies of the resolution of the
Authority adopted on March 11, 2020 (the “Resolution”) authorizing issuance of the Bonds, the
Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the certificates of certain Authority officials having responsibility
for issuing the Bonds given pursuant to the Code, certifications by the College as to certain matters
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under the Code, opinions as to various matters delivered by the Authority’s counsel and counsel
to the College, and the other documents, certifications, instruments, and records listed in a closing
document index with respect to the Bonds. We have also examined the fully executed and
authenticated Bonds or a true copy thereof. In rendering this opinion, we have relied on the
opinions referred to above as to all matters of fact and law set forth therein, and on the genuineness,
truthfulness, and completeness of all documentation examined as referred to above.

Based on the foregoing and the other qualifications and limitations set forth herein, we are
of the opinion that:

1. The Authority is validly existing under the Act, and at all relevant times had and
has full power and authority thereunder to adopt the Resolution, to execute the Indenture and the
Loan Agreement, to perform its obligations thereunder, and to issue the Bonds.

2. The Indenture and the Loan Agreement have been duly authorized, executed, and
delivered by the Authority, and the obligations of the Authority thereunder are valid and binding
and enforceable in accordance with the respective terms thereof, except as enforcement may be
affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws or legal or
equitable principles affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights (“Creditors’ Rights
Limitations”).

3. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed, and issued by the Authority, and
are valid and binding special, limited obligations of the Authority, payable solely from the sources
described in the Indenture and the Loan Agreement, and enforceable in accordance with their
terms, except as enforcement may be affected by Creditors’ Rights Limitations, and the Bonds are
entitled to the benefit and security of the Indenture and the Loan Agreement to the extent provided
therein.

4. Under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as enacted and construed on
the date hereof, interest on the Bonds is exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and
Pennsylvania corporate net income tax and the Bonds are exempt from personal property taxes in
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania; however, under the laws of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania as enacted and construed on the date hereof, any profits, gains or income derived
from the sale, exchange or other disposition of the Bonds will be subject to Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania taxes and local taxes within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

5. Under existing statutes, regulations, rulings, and court decisions, interest on the
Bonds will not be includible in the gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax
purposes, assuming continuing compliance by the Authority and the College, respectively, with
the requirements of the Code. Interest on the Bonds will not be a specific preference item for
purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax on individuals.

In rendering this opinion, we have assumed compliance by the Authority and the College,
respectively, with the covenants and representations contained in the Tax Certificate, dated as of
the date hereof, between the Authority and the College, the Indenture and the Loan Agreement,
respectively, relating to actions to be taken by the Authority and the College, respectively, after
the issuance of the Bonds necessary to effect or maintain the exclusion from gross income of the
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interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. These covenants and representations relate
to, inter alia, the use of and investment of proceeds of the Bonds and rebate to the United States
Department of Treasury of specified arbitrage earnings, if required. Failure to comply with such
covenants could result in the interest on the Bonds becoming includible in gross income for federal
income tax purposes from the date of issuance of the Bonds.

We call your attention to the fact that the Bonds are special, limited obligations of the
Authority, and neither the faith nor credit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or of any political
subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on
the Bonds. The Authority has no taxing power.

We express no opinion as to any matter not set forth in the numbered paragraphs herein.
This opinion is rendered on the basis of federal law and the laws of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania as enacted and construed on the date hereof. This opinion is given as of the date
hereof and we assume no obligation to supplement this opinion to reflect changes in the law that
may hereafter occur or changes in facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention.

Very truly yours,

ECKERT SEAMANS CHERIN & MELLOTT, LLC
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MUNICIPAL BOND
INSURANCE POLICY

ISSUER: [NAME OF ISSUER] Policy No:

MEMBER: [NAME OF MEMBER]

BONDS: $ In aggregate principal
amount of [NAME OF TRANSACTION]
[and maturing on|

;gived hereby UNCONDITIONALLY

t”) for the Bonds named above (as set
hed :eneﬂg‘of the Owners or, at the election of BAM,
<ement hereto), that portion of the principal of and
onpayment by the Issuer.

claims for the same Nonpayment) to or for the benef}ft,,of each Owner of the ongs, the face amount of principal of and interest on the Bonds
that is then Due for Payment but is then unpaid by %ﬁfason of Nonpayment by Issuer but only upon receipt by BAM, in a form reasonably
satisfactory to it, of (a) evidence of the Owner’s rlghw: f to receive paymenf of & ch principal or interest then Due for Payment and (b) evidence,

including any appropriate instruments of assignmen it that all of the Ow er’s rights with respect to payment of such principal or interest that is
Due for Payment shall thereupon vest in BAM. ice of Nonpayment will be deemed received on a given Business Day if it is received
prior to 1:00 p.m. (New York time) on g1 ﬁﬁsinesé other\jxgglge/lt will be deemed received on the next Business Day. If any Notice of
Nonpayment received by BAM is incgiplete, <t shall beid: fot to have been received by BAM for purposes of the preceding sentence,

and BAM shall promptly so advisg ﬁe Trustee ,Paymg Agent or Owner, as appropriate, any of whom may submit an amended Notice of
Nonpayment. Upon disbursemeyit m); };SthISA‘ ohcy in re,spect of a Bond and to the extent of such payment, BAM shall become the owner of
such Bond, any appurtenant coupon to<gi cﬁd Bond andpght to receipt of payment of principal of or interest on such Bond and shall be fully
subrogated to the rights of tHEOwner, mg dmg theﬁ Jwier’s tight to receive payments under such Bond. Payment by BAM either to the
Trustee or Paying Agenj or theibenefit & o a7 ners, or directly to the Owners, on account of any Nonpayment shall discharge the
obligation of BAM 9}1 2 th1s Policy with reqpec“%to said Nonpayment.

same shall haye“ gg,,d j(;j}.alle U for mandatory sinking fund redemptlon and does not refer to any earlier date on which payment is due by
reason of caﬁ*f@r”’?edemptléj? (other than by mandatory sinking fund redemption), acceleration or other advancement of maturity (unless BAM
shall elect, in its sole dij e’retlon to pay such principal due upon such acceleration together with any accrued interest to the date of
acceleration) andy(h 9 t‘? referring to interest on a Bond, payable on the stated date for payment of interest. “Nonpayment” means, in respect
of a Bond, the failire’of the Issuer to have provided sufficient funds to the Trustee or, if there is no Trustee, to the Paying Agent for payment
in full of all prmc1pal‘ and interest that is Due for Payment on such Bond. “Nonpayment” shall also include, in respect of a Bond, any payment
made to an Owner by or on behalf of the Issuer of principal or interest that is Due for Payment, which payment has been recovered from such
Owner pursuant to the United States Bankruptey Code in accordance with a final, nonappealable order of a court having competent jurisdiction.
“Notice” means delivery to BAM of a notice of claim and certificate, by certified mail, email or telecopy as set forth on the attached Schedule or
other acceptable electronic delivery, in a form satisfactory to BAM, from and signed by an Owner, the Trustee or the Paying Agent, which notice
shall specify (a) the person or entity making the claim, (b) the Policy Number, (c) the claimed amount, (d) payment instructions and (e) the date such
claimed amount becomes or became Due for Payment. “Owner” means, in respect of a Bond, the person or entity who, at the time of Nonpayment, is
entitled under the terms of such Bond to payment thereof, except that “Owner” shall not include the Issuer, the Member or any other persen or entity
whose direct or indirect obligation constitutes the underlying security for the Bonds.




BAM may appoint a fiscal agent (the “Insurer’s Fiscal Agent”) for purposes of this Policy by giving written notice to the Trustee, the
Paying Agent, the Member and the Issuer specifying the name and notice address of the Insurer’s Fiscal Agent. From and after the date of receipt of
such notice by the Trustee, the Paying Agent, the Member or the Issuer (a) copies of all notices required to be delivered to BAM pursuant to this
Policy shall be simultaneously delivered to the Insurer’s Fiscal Agent and to BAM and shall not be deemed received until received by both and (b) all
payments required to be made by BAM under this Policy may be made directly by BAM or by the Insurer’s Fiscal Agent on behalf of BAM. The
Insurer’s Fiscal Agent is the agent of BAM only, and the Insurer’s Fiscal Agent shall in no event be liable to the Trustee, Paying Agent or any Owner
for any act of the Insurer’s Fiscal Agent or any failure of BAM to deposit or cause to be deposited sufficient funds to make payments due under this
Policy.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, BAM agrees not to assert, and hereby waives, only for the benefit of each Owner, all
rights (whether by counterclaim, setoff or otherwise) and defenses (including, without limitation, the defense of frau/) whether acquired by
subrogation, assignment or otherwise, to the extent that such rights and defenses may be available to BAM to avoid paymeiit of 1ts obhgatlons under
this Policy in accordance with the express provisions of this Policy. This Policy may not be canceled or revoked. .

This Policy sets forth in full the undertaking of BAM and shall not be modified, altered or affected by any othér agreement-or mstrument,
including any modification or amendment thereto. Except to the extent expressly modified by an endorsement héréio, any premium paid-in réspect of
this Policy is nonrefundable for any reason whatsoever, including payment, or provision being made for payment, of the Bonds prior to maturity.
THIS POLICY IS NOT COVERED BY THE PROPERTY/CASUALTY INSURANCE SECURITY FUND SPECIFIED IN. ARTICLE 76 OF THE
NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW. THIS POLICY IS ISSUED WITHOUT CONTINGENT MUTUAL LIABILITY FOR L\SSESSM]:NT

/

In witness whereof, BUILD AMERICA MUTUAL ASSURANCE COMPANY has caused thls P/ohcy to ‘be executed on its behalf by its

Authorized Officer. - < Ey
» . B /'/(, :

i

BUILD AMERICA MUTUAL ASSURANCE COMPANY




Notices (Unless Otherwise Specified by BAM)

Email:

claims(@buildamerica.com
Address:

1 World Financial Center, 27" floor

200 Liberty Street

New York, New York 10281
Telecopy:

212-962-1524 (attention: Claims)
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